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TRINITY INDUSTRIES, INC. manufactures a variety of capital goods serving

the industrial, construction, transportation, and energy industries, including:

* railcars  concrete and aggregates
* barges , * propane tanks
* highway guardrails * bridge beams

crash cushions pipe fittings

Trinity’s products and leasing services play a key role in supporting a country’s infrastructure.
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RAIL GROUP

Trinity’s Rail Group provides a complete atray of railcar solutions for its customers in North America
and Europe. Trinity Rail North America manufactures a full line of railcars, including tank cars,
hoppers, boxcars, gondolas, flat cars, and auto racks, as well as railcar components for the
North American market from plants in the US and Mexico. Irinity Rail GmbH provides a variety

of tank and freight cars to the Furopean market from its plant in Romania.

Trinity Rail Group and Trinity Industries Leasing Company coordinate their sales and marketing
activities under the trade name Trinity Rail, thereby providing a single point of contact for railroads

and shippers seeking solutions to their needs for rail equipment and services.

OPPOSITE PAGE: Top) A tank car produced by Trinity for GATX Rail. Bottom Left) A jumbo covered hopper being loaded with livestock feed
in South Dakota. Middle Right) A line of newly manufactured double stack well cars carrying containers. Bottom Right) Trinity workers
put the finishing touches on the new 64 ft. TrinCool Refrigerated Box Car for Union Pacific Railroad.




RAILCAR LEASING AND
MANAGEMENT SERVICES GROUP

Trinity has provided leasing services to its railcar customers since the late 1970%. Trinity’s Railcar
Leasing and Management Services Group provides a broad array of creative leasing, financing
and fleet management services to meet our customers’ rail transportation operating needs. This
group offers a variety of railcar leasing structures including full service, net and per diem leases
on new, Trinity built railcars or from its growing fleet of over 18,000 railcars. Trinity’s fleet man-
agement services leverage Trinity’ railcar expertise and allow customers to focus their resources
on managing their core businesses, while Trinity assists in managing their railcar fleet. Comprehen-
sive fleet management services to other railcar owners range from administration, regulatory

compliance and tax preparation to maintenance management programs and repair services.
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Kathy Muhienpoh (left) and Gayle TenBrink discuss leasing and fleet
management solutions with customers Willie Yager and Jor Kelly of TUCQ INC.






INLAND BARGE GROUP

Trinity’s Inland Barge Group manufactures a variety of dry-cargo barges, including flat-deck and
hopper barges, which carry cargo such as grain, coal and aggregates. This segment also produces
tank barges used to transport petroleum, petroleum products and other liquid cargo. Trinity re-
mains the largest producer of inland barges and fiberglass barge covers in the United States.

Barges manufactured by Trinity transport products throughout the U.S. inland waterways.

OPPOSITE PAGE: Top Photos) River hopper barges. Bottom Photo) Trinity launches a new tank barge.
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CONSTRUCTION PRODUCTS GROUP

This group is comprised of the highway safety products group, the concrete and aggregates group,
weld pipe fittings group and structural bridge group. Trinity is one of the largest producers of
highway safety products in the world, with a complete line of standard and proprietary products.
Trinity is also a strong regional producer of concrete, aggregates and structural bridge beams in
the state of Texas. This segment includes the fittings business, which has one of the largest and

most complete offerings of weld pipe fittings in the U.S.

OPPOSITE PAGE: Top Left) Trinity’s aggregate production in process. Top Right) A view of pipe fittings. Top Middle Right) One of Trinity’s
many concrete facilities. Bottom Middle Left) The TRACC™ (Trinity Attenuating Crash Cushion) is an example of Trinity’s proprietary

highway safety products. Bottom Left) Trinity’s new Cable Safety System (CASS™). Bottom Right) An installation of highway bridge beams.
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INDUSTRIAL PRODUCTS GROUP

Trinity is a leading producer of tank containers and tank heads for pressure vessels. Trinity’s
tanks are manufactured in the United States, Mexico and Brazil and include LPG tanks, storage
tanks, chlorine containers and a variety of cylinders. A portion of Trinity’s industrial products

are marketed in Mexico under the brand name of TATSA.

OPPOSITE PAGE: Top) The installation of an underground propane tank. Middle Left) The loading of Trinity's LPG tanks. Bottom Left) LPG
cylinders. Bottom Right) Large propane storage tanks being loaded for export.
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Timothy R. Wallace
Chairman, President & Chief Executive Officer

S rinity had a very active year in 2003. Our quarterly

L' revenues bottomed out during the first quarter and then
hit a 2-year high point during the fourth quarter. As we entered
into 2003 we were continuing to encounter a business climate
very similar to 2002. The effects of the economic downturn and
the global tension surrounding the war in Irag placed a level
of uncertainty in several of our markets. During the economic
downturn most of our major customers placed their expansion
plans on hold and delayed capital expenditures, which reduced
the demand for capital goods. As a result, our sales and market-
ing objectives were oriented toward obtaining orders for prod-
ucts, which would allow us to keep our factories operating at a

base load level until the market conditions improved.

In addition, during the first quarter of 2003 the severity of the
winter weather continued for an extended period of time and
decreased the short-term demand for our construction-related
businesses. As a result, our revenues during the first quarter
hit a low point of $289 million and we reported & loss of $.32
per share. Fortunately, as we progressed through the balance of
the year and the economic environment improved, we started

to see some positive signs surface in our business. During the
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second and third quarters our revenues improved 25% to the
$360 million range. During the fourth quarter we increased our
railcar shipments and our revenue reached a two-year quarterly
high point at $414.5 million. On an annual basis our revenues
decreased 3.7% to $1,432.8 million, while our operating profit
improved 25% to $13.4 million.

As our businesses began to benefit from the improvements in
the economy, we started to receive price increases for steel.
Since steel is a key raw material component in several of our
products, I will provide you with some background infor-
mation on this subject and describe how it is affecting our
business. During the past several years, the steel market and
industry situations have become fairly complex, with many
steel mills filing for bankruptey followed by numerous indus-
try consolidations and government actions related to import
tariffs. To add complexity to this situation, China has emerged
in the global steel market as a major purchaser of steel as well
as scrap steel. Their influence is impacting the pricing levels
and availability of these products. In the past, when the mar-
ket was more structured, we could reasonably project price

movements, and estimate the prices we could expect to pay for




steel, and we usually had enough lead time 10 adjust our prices
accordingly. During the past year it has become more complex

and difficult to reliably predict the price of steel.

As I mentioned earlier, during 2002 and 2003 we negotiated
some crucial base load sales agreements with our customers,
During this process we negotiated firm prices for a portion of
the steel we planned to use in these base load agreements. Un-
fortunately, a few of our steel suppliers have elected to pass
along price increases in the form of “scrap surcharges,” claim-
ing that these are exceptions to the firm price agreements. Scrap
surcharges reflect the increase in prices that steel mills are pay-
ing for the scrap steel and other items they purchase as key raw
material components in the steelmaking process. Needless to
say, this has placed us in a very difficult position and we are

evaluating our commercial and legal positions.

Scrap steel surcharges first appeared on our steel invoices during
the first quarter of 2004 as we were closing our financial books for
2003. These increases in steel costs caused some of our fixed price
sales agreements to be in a loss position, and under the accounting
rules we were required to record these losses in our financial state-
ments for the fourth quarter of 2003. In situations where we have
contracts that are projected to generate a loss, we must record the
estimated loss during the quarter in which this information be-
comes apparent to us. Since we had not reported our earnings for
the fourth quarter of 2003, we recorded an estimated loss of $6.4
million. These fourth quarter charges were for fixed priced barge

and railcar contracts that will be delivered during 2004.

Recently, several of the steel mills have implemented a
monthly notification program for identifying the amount of
scrap surcharge that they will charge for steel delivered during
the following month. In effect, we now have the equivalent of
monthly steel prices. During 2004 we will continue to adjust
our material costs based on the price of steel at the time of
deliveries. We will report any additional adjustments we incur
on a quarterly basis. During the first quarter of 2004 we at-
tempted to modify our new sales quotes in order to account
for potential increases in the price of steel. We have taken extra
steps to communicate this situation to our customers. In some
cases our customers have responded by accelerating orders in

order to avoid future price increases.

As our railcar and barge businesses were challenged with cycli-

cal issues, our other businesses were able to provide earnings.

We have strived to build a portfolio of diversified businesses in
order to stabilize a portion of our earnings stream. Our Railcar
Leasing and Management Services Group provided a relatively
consistent operating profit during 2003. This group was the
leading operating profit provider during the first and fourth
quarters. Our Construction Products Group was the leading
operating profit provider during the second and third quarters,
which are the peak periods of the construction season. During
the third quarter, our Rail Group became profitable, and it in-

creased its profitability during the fourth quarter.

During 2003 and into the first quarter of 2004, we have suc-
cessfully improved the financial flexibility of the Company
from a balance sheet point of view. It has been our goal to be-
gin to segregate our railcar leasing financing activities from our
corporate and manufacturing-related financing. We believe it is
important for our Leasing Company to have a capital structure
that is leveraged around a more typical 4-to-1 debt-te-equity
ratio and for our corporate and manufacturing business capi-
tal structure to have a debt-to-total equity structure consistent

with industry standards.

In the summer of 2003 we enhanced our capital structure by
issuing $60 million of Convertible Preferred Stock. Shortly
thereafter, we worked with Credit Suisse First Boston to in-
crease our Railcar Leasing Warehouse agreement to $300 mil-
lion from $200 million and to extend its maturity for another
year. This facility provides our Leasing Company with a great
deal of flexibility and plays an important role in reinforcing
our objective of segregating our Leasing Company’ financing
activities. During 2003 when the Leasing Company’s ware-

house financing reached a sufficient size to be funded in the
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Trinity Attenuating Crash Cushions (TRACC™) ¢n a toll road.
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long-term market, we successfully completed another railcar
leveraged lease financing transaction. This transaction con-
sisted of a $235 million asset-backed leveraged lease and was
rated AAA. Further details of this leveraged lease are provided

in our financial statements.

Our bankers, led by JPMorgan, continued to show their sup-
port of Trinity by extending our existing credit facility to pro-
vide for a three-year, $250 million senior secured revolving
credit facility and to eliminate our existing term loan facility. In
doing so, we were able to achieve better pricing, obtain more
flexible covenants, and free up the Company’s property, plant,
and equipment that was previously pledged in this facility. IT'm
also very pleased with our recent success in obtaining funding
from the long-term capital markets. In early March 2004 we is-
sued $300 million aggregate principal amount of 6.50% senior
notes due 2014 in a private offering. This, along with the other
financings I have mentioned, positions us extremely well as we

plan for our future.

Our North American railcar business began to see a sustain-
able recovery developing in the demand for new railcars dur-
ing 2003. This appears to be the start of a rebound for this
business group. In the middle of the year, when our backlog
reached 10,000 units, we implemented a multiphased plan to
expand our production. As part of the first phase of our ex-
pansion program, we increased our railcar shipments in the

factories we currently operate. In total, during 2003 we in-

creased our North American shipments 73% from 4,800 units
in 2002 to 8,300 units. Our North American backlog at the
end of 2003 was approximately 11,800 units. This was a 60%

A line of aluminum coal cars make a night delivery.

improvement from the end of 2002. We will enter into the
second phase of our expansion program during the first six
months of 2004 when we begin producing railcars from facili-

ties that were previously idle.

When it became apparent that the demand for railcars in
North America was sustainable, we transitioned our sales ob-
jective from a focus on obtaining primarily base load orders
to an objective of pursuing specific orders that allow us to ef-
ficiently increase our production. We have felt the timing has
not yet been right for us to focus solely on increasing market
share because we do not want to congest our production lines
with a variety of different railcar models as we expand our
production. Line changeovers at small volume levels are costly
when we are trying to train a workforce. We have strived to fll
our backlog with products that allow us to successfully reload

our facilities.

During the past year, the entire North American railcar sup-
ply chain has rebounded from the trough of the demand
cycle. This recovery is industry wide and is showing its ef-
fects on the entire supply chain. Its a fast paced day-to-day
environment at the operational level of our business. Need-
less to say, our supply issues have compounded the complex-
ity associated with our recovery. We are fortunate to have a
seasoned group of people expediting day-to-day tasks for us.
The added complexity that the supply industry is causing re-
inforces our need to have a structured program for expanding

our railcar production.

Qur Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group per-
formed well during 2003. The quality of people we have added
to this business during the past few vyears is starting to pay
off. Our year-over-year total revenues from this segment grew
approximately 34% to $154 million in 2003 compared to ap-
proximately $115 million in 2002. The increase was due to
railcar sales out of our fleet, fleet additions, and improved fleet
utilization. Our operating profit in 2003 improved to $41.0
million compared to $31.3 million in 2002. As I stated earlier,
this is a nice form of earnings diversification for Trinity. Our
fleet utilization improved to 98.1% at the end of 2003 com-
pared to 94.5% at the end of 2002. The average age of our
fleet is 5.20 years with an average remaining lease term of 6.37
years. As our production backlog has grown during the last few
quarters, our Leasing Company’ orders as a percentage of total

orders for our rail group have declined.




We see our North American rail recovery driven primarily by
improvements in the economy as well as replacement needs for
equipment. The North American railcar fleet continues to grow
old. According to Global Insight, Inc., a provider of analytic
and forecasting services for the rail industry, the average age of
the railcars in the fleet is 19.3 years. It is interesting to note, in
round numbers, that approximately 1.2 million railcars were
built during the 20-year period between 1964 and 1983. This
equates to an average annual build rate for the 20-year period
of 60,000 units. This group of railcars is driving the replace-
ment demand now. In 2002 the North American railcar manu-
facturing industry hit its low point for the past decade when
it shipped close to 18,000 railcars. During 2003, the industry
shipments improved to 32,000 units. 1 do not expect the in-
dustry demand to match the replacement cycle that it did dur-
ing the 20-year period I mentioned above, but I'm convinced
the industry will return to more normal historical levels during

the next decade.

In our European rail business we are in the final phase of a
multiyear internal consolidation program. During the past few
years we have reduced our administrative staffing and con-
solidated manufacturing operations in an effort to reduce our
costs. We have an experienced and capable group of people
running our European rail business. We should begin to see
the fruits of our efforts surface during 2004. The demand for
railcars in Europe continues to be in the lower end of the cycle.
Long-term, I believe the European rail demand should increase
for replacement reasons and we will be in a position to respond
as a low cost producer. The European railcar fleet is old, and
newer designs tend to make older models obsolete. Currently,
the market is highly competitive and our primary focus is on

lowering our costs and improving our performance.

During 2003 we consolidated our group management oversight
responsibilities for all of our non-rail manufacturing businesses.
This streamlines our management structure and provides us with
consistency of oversight for these businesses. We refer internally
to this grouping of businesses as our Construction, Energy, and
Marine business (CEM). From a financial reporting point of view,
we separate these businesses into our Construction Products
Group, Industrial Products Group, and Inland Barge Group. [ will

briefly touch on a few highlights from a few of these businesses.

In our concrete and aggregate business, we continue to see a

relatively strong consistent demand for our products. Weather

remains the most significant variable in this business. We were
fortunate during the fourth quarter of 2003 to have a relatively
calm winter in the Texas region where we produce concrete.
This helped us minimize the seasonal drop-off that we can ex-

perience in this business. During the fourth quarter we were

- pouring concrete 80% of the available workdays. This com-

pares with approximately 65% of the workdays during the
same time in 2002. 1 was honored that two of our concrete
operations won 1st place and 2nd place in the National Ready
Mixed Concrete Association (NRMCA) Environmental Excel-
lence Awards. We have an experienced and capable team of
people in our concrete and aggregate business. During 2003
we made several small, regional, geographically contiguous ac-

quisitions in this business.

In our highway construction-related business, we are focused on
cost control as we await the passage of a federal transportation-
spending bill. The winter weather over the past two years has
also had a significant effect. In this business, each day of weather
delay tends to build our backlog. Once the weather clears and the
construction crews are back to work, our highway safety business

typically has an active construction season.

Our barge business had a very difficult period during the
first quarter of 2003. At the beginning of 2003 our backlog
was below 100 units. To give you an order of magnitude, we
shipped approximately 550 barges in 2002 compared to our
peak year when we shipped approximately 900 barges. At one
point during the first quarter of 2003, we were very close to

idling our hopper barge manufacturing facilities. Fortunately,

at the last moment we were able to sell a base load of hopper

{left) One of Trinity's concrete facilities which received environmental
recognition. (right) A mixer truck rides a barge to deliver concrete
for a bridge column construction.
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barges so we could retain our workforce. Today, our barge busi-
ness shows signs of recovery and our people are challenged
to rebuild this business. We are reopening an idle facility and
rehiring employees in our other barge facilities. Our backlog
improved to 450 units by the end of 2003. Long-term, the
barge fleet owners have compelling replacement issues similar

to those in the railcar industry.

During 2003 we settled one of our barge litigation suits. The
settlement involved the purchase, by our leasing subsidiary, of
eleven barges leased to a third party under a long-term agree-
ment. The estimated fair market value of the operating leases
and residual value of the barges approximated the purchase
price. Recently, we announced that we settled the original barge
litigation suit that was filed against us in 2002. In conjunction
with this settlement we implemented a barge-monitoring pro-
gram. We believe this is a fair and equitable means for resolving
these issues. It has always been our position that the corro-
sion issues are directly related to the environmental conditions
within the void spaces and it will be most helpful for us to
be able to monitor these conditions. The other barge litigation

suits are described in detail in our financial statements.

Last year in my shareholders’ letter, [ mentioned we were in the
process of implementing a new Oracle financial system for our
U.S. operations along with the simultaneous outsourcing of a
portion of our accounting and finance processing activities. I
am pleased to report we accomplished these projects without
impacting our financial closing schedule in the second quar-

ter. Our cycle time for the financial closing process has been

reduced each quarter since installation of the new system,

Trinity's key executives featured in U.S. Business Review. (standing
feft to right} Jim lvy, Steve Menzies, Mike Flannery, Mark Stiles
and John Adams with Tim Wallace.

allowing us to meet the accelerated SEC filing deadlines one
year ahead of schedule. Our finance and accounting staff has
also made significant progress on the Sarbanes-Oxley mandat-
ed internal controls review and evaluation and we expect to

complete that project ahead of schedule in 2004.

I am pleased to report that Trinity’s Board of Directors were
actively involved this year in continuing to refine and devel-
op sound principles of corporate governance. They were very
supportive of our goal of achieving improved business perfor-
mance in conjunction with the exercise of high standards of
integrity and ethical judgment by our executives and manage-
ment. Our Board worked in concert with our key executives to
conduct a multiyear strategic review of our businesses as we
seek to enhance shareholder value. I am truly grateful for the
time and input that our Directors provided us during the past
year. Their dedication and commitment to making Trinity a

better company motivates the leaders of our Company.

In summary, 2003 was a full year for us at Trinity. Our em-
ployees worked very hard to improve our competitiveness and
we have confronted a variety of challenges. Fortunately, our
North American railcar and barge businesses appear to be in
the early stages of a rebound, and our challenges are associated
with reloading our factories rather than downsizing them. I am
pleased with the progress we made in restructuring our debt.
We have the flexibility to respond to the demands of our mar-
ket and to take advantage of strategic opportunities. During the
past several years we have weathered several storms at Trinity,
and through the adversity we have become a stronger compary.
Tam truly proud of the loyalty, the perseverance, and the strong
work ethic of our people. Our Company has a solid heritage as
a cyclical survivor and a builder of industrial businesses with
leading market positions. As we look to the future we see sev-
eral positive signs on the horizon in our businesses. I'm grateful
for the support we have received from our stakeholders, and 1
thank everyone who has helped us become the great company

we are today.

Sincerely,

e

Timothy R. Wallace

Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer
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PART I

Item 1. Business.

General Development of Business. Trinity
Industries, Inc. (“we”, “Trinity” or “the Com-
pany”’) was incorporated in 1933 and is one of the
nation’s leading diversified industrial companies
providing a variety of products and services for the
transportation, industrial, construction, and energy
sectors of the marketplace.

In September 2001, we changed our year-end
from March 31 to December 31. Unless stated
otherwise, all references to fiscal year 2001 shall
mean the full fiscal year ended March 31, 2001.
The nine months ended December 31, 2001 covers
the period from April 1, 2001 to December 31,
2001. The information for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 and the nine months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2000 are unaudited and have been included
herein for informational and comparison purposes.

Trinity became a Delaware Corporation in
1987. Our principal executive offices are located at
2525 Stemmons Freeway, Dallas, Texas 75207-
2401, and our telephone number is 214-631-4420,

Financial Information About Industry Seg-
ments. Financial information about our industry
segments for the year ended December 31, 2003
and 2002, and the nine months ended December 31,
2001 and fiscal year 2001 is presented in Part II,
Item 7 “Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations” on
pages 12 through 31.

Narrative Description of Business. We are
engaged in the manufacturing and, marketing of
railcars, inland barges, concrete, and aggregates,
highway safety products, beams and girders used in
highway construction, weld pipe fittings and tank
containers. In addition, we lease railcars to our
customers through a captive leasing business, Trin-
ity Industries Leasing Company.

We serve our customers through five business
groups:

Rail Group. Rail Group is the leading freight
railcar manufacturer in North America and one of
the leading railcar manufacturers in Europe. We
provide a full complement of railcars used for
transporting a wide variety of liquids, gases and dry
cargo. Our Rail Group consists of two primary
business units: Trinity Rail Group North America

and Trinity Rail GmbH, our European railcar
manufacturing business.

Trinity Rail Group North America provides a
complete array of railcar solutions for our custom-
ers. We manufacture a full line of railcars,
including:

° Tank Cars — Tank cars transport products such
as liquefied petroleum gas, liquid fertilizer, sul-
fur, sulfuric acids and corn syrup.

° Auto Carrier Cars — Auto carrier cars transport
automobiles and sport utility vehicles.

° Hopper Cars — Covered hopper cars carry cargo
such as grain, dry fertilizer, plastic pellets and
cement. Open-top hoppers are most often used to
haul coal.

° Box Cars — Box cars transport products such as
food goods, auto parts, wood products and paper.

o Intermodal Cars — Intermodal cars transport in-
termodal containers and trailers, which are gener-
ally interchangeable among railcar, truck and
ship, thus making it possible to move cargo
without repeated loading and unloading.

° Gondola Cars — Rotary gondolas are used for
coal service, and top-loading gondola cars trans-
port a variety of other heavy bulk commodities
such as scrap metals and steel products.

o Specialty Cars — Specialty cars are designed to
address the special needs of a particular industry
or customer, such as waste hauling gondolas,
side dump cars, and pressure differential cars
used to haul fine grain food products such as
sugar and flour.

We also provide a variety of railcar compo-
nents for the North American market from plants in
the U.S. and Mexico. We also have two repair and
coating facilities located in Texas. We produce the
widest range of railcars in the industry, which
allows us to take advantage of changing industry
trends and developing market opportunities. We also
manufacture and sell railcar parts used in manufac-
turing and repairing railcars, such as auto carrier
doors and accessories, discharge gates, yokes,
couplers, axles, and hitches.

Our customers include railroads, leasing com-
panies, and shippers, such as utilities, petrochemical
companies, grain shippers, and major construction




and industrial companies. We compete against five
major railcar manufacturers in the North American
market.

For the year ended December 31, 2003, we
shipped approximately 8,300 railcars in North
America, or approximately 26% of total North
American shipments. Qur North American order
backlog as of December 31, 2003 was approxi-
mately 11,800 railcars, or approximately 35% of
the total North American backlog as estimated by
the Railway Supply Institute, Inc.

Trinity Rail GmbH is one of the leading railcar
manufacturers in Europe with its primary operation
located in Romania. We entered the European
railcar manufacturing business in 1999 with our
acquisition of a large government-owned Romanian
railcar manufacturer. Immediately after the acquisi-
tion, we initiated a multi-step program designed to
substantially upgrade and improve the infrastructure
of the facility. In addition, we installed new
state-of-the-art railcar manufacturing tooling and
equipment and began transferring our best practices.
Following our merger with Thrall, which also had
European facilities, we initiated a consolidation
program and continued with the transferring of best
practices from the combined companies. In Europe,
we compete against a number of manufacturers in
various countries. For the year ended December 31,
2003, Trinity Rail GmbH shipped approximately
2,100 units. In the European market, there is no
formal collection of information pertaining to rail-
car shipments. However, we believe our current
European market share is approximately 30-35%.
Our European backlog as of December 31, 2003
was approximately 2,150 railcars.

We hold patents of varying duration for use in
our manufacture of railcar and component products.
We cannot quantify the importance of such patents,
but patents are believed to offer a marketing
advantage in certain circumstances. No material
revenues are received from licensing of these
patents.

Railcar Leasing and Management Services
Growp. Through our wholly owned subsidiaries,
primarily Trinity Industries Leasing Company
(“TILC™), we lease specialized types of railcars,
both tank cars and freight cars. Our Railcar Leasing
and Management Services Group is a premier
provider of leasing and management services and is
an important strategic resource that uniquely links
our Rail Group with our customers and provides us

with revenue and cash flow diversification. Trinity
Rail Group North America and Trinity Industries
Leasing Company coordinate sales and marketing
activities under the trade name Trinity Rail thereby
providing a single point of contact for railroads and
shippers seeking solutions to their rail equipment
and services needs.

We lease specialized types of railcars, includ-
ing both tank cars and freight cars. Our railcars are
leased to industrial companies in the petroleum,
chemical, agricultural, energy, and other industries
that supply their own railcars to the railroads.
Substantially all of our owned railcars are pur-
chased from and manufactured by our Rail Group
at prices comparable to the prices for railcars sold
by our Rail Group to third parties. The terms of our
railcar leases generally vary from one to twenty
years and provide for fixed monthly rentals, with an
additional mileage charge when usage exceeds a
specified maximum. In addition we have a small
percentage of our fleet leased on a per diem basis.

In addition, we manage railcar fleets on behalf
of independent third parties. We believe our railcar
fleet management services complement our leasing
business by generating stable fee income, strength-
ening customer relationships, and enhancing the
view of Trinity as a leading provider of railcar
products and services. As of December 31, 2003,
we owned or leased approximately 18,600 railcars
that were 98.1% utilized. Additionally, we manage
another approximately 67,000 railcars on behalf of
independent third parties.

The leasing business in which we are engaged
is very competitive and there are a number of well-
established companies that actively compete with us
in the business of owning and leasing railcars.
There are also a number of banks, investment
partnerships and other financial institutions that
compete with us in railcar leasing.

Construction Products Group. Qur Construc-
tion Products Group manufactures concrete and
aggregates, highway safety products, beams and
girders used in highway bridge construction and
weld pipe fittings. Many of these lines of business
are seasonal and subject to weather conditions.

We are a leader in the supply of ready mix
concrete in rural regions and smaller cities located
throughout Texas. Our customers for concrete in-
clude contractors and subcontractors in the con-
struction and foundation industry who are located




near our plant locations. We also distribute con-
struction aggregates, such as crushed stone, sand
and gravel, asphalt rock and recycled concrete in
several larger Texas cities. Qur customers for
aggregates are mostly other concrete manufacturers,
paving contractors and other consumers of aggre-
gates, We compete with ready mix concrete produc-
ers and aggregate producers located in the regions
where we operate.

In highway safety products, we are the only
full line producer of guardrails crash cushions, and
other protective barriers that absorb and dissipate
the force of impact in collisions between vehicles
and fixed roadside objects. We believe we are the
largest highway guardrail manufacturer in the
United States, based on revenues, with a compre-
hensive nationwide guardrail supply network. Our
predominantly galvanized steel product lines use the
principles of momentum transfer and kinetic energy
absorption to decelerate errant vehicles. The Federal
Highway Administration determines which products
are eligible for federal funds for highway projects
and has approved most of our products as accept-
able permanent and construction zone highway
hardware according to requirements of the National
Cooperation Highway Research Program.

Our crash cushions and other protective barri-
ers include multiple proprietary products manufac-
tured through various product license agreements
with certain public and private research organiza-
tions and inventors. We hold patents and are a
licensee for certain of our guardrail and end-
treatment products that enhance our competitive
position for these products.

We sell highway safety products in all 50
U.S. states, Canada, and Mexico. We have also
recently started to export our highway safety
proprietary products to certain other countries. We
compete against several national and regional
guardrail producers.

Weld pipe fittings, such as caps, elbows, return
bends, tees, concentric and eccentric reducers and
full and reducing outlet tees, are sold primarily to
pipeline, petrochemical, and non-petrochemical pro-
cess industries. We compete with numerous compa-
nies throughout the United States and foreign
importers. Competition for fittings has been intense
over the last several years.

We manufacture structural steel beams and
girders for the construction of new, restored and/or

replacement railroad bridges, county, municipal and
state highway bridges and power generation plants.
We sell bridge construction and support products
primarily to owners, general contractors and sub-
contractors on highway and railroad construction
projects. We also manufacture dump bodies. Our
competitors primarily include fabricators with facili-
ties located in Texas, Oklahoma, Colorado and
Arkansas.

Inland Barge Group. We are the largest
producer of inland barges in the United States and
the largest producers of fiberglass barge covers used
primarily on grain barges. In 2003, we shipped a
total of approximately 360 barges. We manufacture
a variety of dry cargo barges, such as deck barges
and, open or covered hopper barges that transport
various commodities, such as grain, coal and
aggregates. We also produce tank barges used to
transport liquid products. Our six manufacturing
facilities are located along the United States inland
river system allowing for rapid delivery to our
customers. Fiberglass reinforced lift covers are
primarily for grain and rolling covers are for other
bulk commodities.

Our primary Inland Barge customers are com-
mercial marine transportation companies. Many
companies have the capability to enter into, and
from time to time do enter into, the inland barge
manufacturing business. We strive to compete
through efficiency in operations and quality of
product.

Industrial Products Group. We are a leading
producer of tank containers and tank heads for
pressure vessels. We manufacture tanks in the
United States, Mexico and Brazil. We market a
portion of our industrial products in Mexico under
the brand name of TATSA®. The following
paragraphs describe the types of tanks and tank
heads that we produce.

We manufacture propane tanks that are used
by industrial plants, utilities and small businesses
and in suburban and rural areas. We also manufac-
ture fertilizer containers for bulk storage, farm
storage and the application and distribution of
anhydrous ammonia. Our tanks range from 13-
gallon tanks for motor fuel use to 57-gallon tanks
for residential use as well as 120,000-gallon bulk
storage containers and 600,000-gallon bulk storage
spheres. We sell our containers to experienced
propane dealers and technicians. In the U.S., we
generally deliver the containers to our customers




who install and fill the containers. Cur competitors
include large and small manufacturers.

We manufacture tank heads, which are pressed
metal components used in the manufacturing of
many of our finished products. We manufacture the
tank heads in various shapes, and we produce
pressure rated or non-pressure rated tank heads,
depending on their intended use. We use a signifi-
cant portion of the tank heads we manufacture in
the production of our tank cars and containers. We
also sell our tank heads to a broad range of other
manufacturers. Competition for tank heads in recent
years has been intense and has resulted in sharply
reduced prices for these products.

All Other. All Other includes our captive
insurance and transportation companies, structural
towers, and other peripheral businesses.

Foreign Operations. Trinity’s foreign opera-
tions are in Brazil, the Czech Republic, Mexico,
Romania, Slovakia, and the United Kingdom. Sales
to foreign customers, primarily in Europe and
Mexico, represented 12.9%, 16.8% and 7.6% of our
consolidated revenues for the years ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002 and for the nine months
ended December 31, 2001, respectively. As of
December 31, 2003, 2002, and 2001, we had
approximately 11.5%, 10.9%, and 11.0% of our
long-lived assets located outside the United States.

We manufacture railcars and propane tank
containers at our Mexico facilities for export to the
United States. Any material change in the quotas,
regulations, or duties on imports imposed by the
United States government and its agencies or on
exports by the government of Mexico or its
agencies could adversely affect our operations in
Mexico. Our foreign activities are also subject to
various other risks of doing business in foreign
countries, including currency fluctuations, political
changes, changes in laws and regulations and
economic instability. Although our operations have
not been materially affected by any of such factors
to date, any substantial disruption of business as it
is currently conducted could adversely affect our
operations at least in the short term.

Backlog. As of December 31, 2003, our
backlog for new railcars was $909.6 million and
was $159.8 million for Inland Barge products.
Included in the backlog for the railcars are
$69.1 million of railcars to be sold to our Railcar
Leasing and Management Services Group. Substan-

tially all of our backlog is expected to be delivered
in the 12 months ending December 31, 2004. The
Rail Group has a multi-year sales agreement for
1,000 new railcars per year for the next four years.
No backlog amounts for orders are included for this
agreement until the type of car and price have been
determined.

As of December 31, 2002, our backlog for
new railcars was $668.4 million and was $46.4 mil-
lion for Inland Barge products. Included in the
backlog for the railcars were $205.9 million of
railcars to be sold to our Railcar Leasing and
Management Services Group.

Marketing. We sell substantially all of our
products through our own sales personnel operating
from offices in the following states and foreign
countries: Alabama, Arkansas, Arizona, Connecti-
cut, Florida, Illinois, Kentucky, Louisiana, Michi-
gan, Minnesota, Missouri, New Hampshire, New
Jersey, New York, Chio, Pennsylvania, Tennessee,
Texas, Vermont, Utah, Washington, Brazil, Canada,
Mexico, Romania, Slovakia and Switzerland. We
also use independent sales representatives to a
limited extent. Except in the case of weld fittings,
guardrail and standard size propane tank containers,
we ordinarily fabricate our products to our cus-
tomer’s specifications contained in a purchase
order.

Raw Materials and Suppliers.

Railcar Manufaciuring. Products manufac-
tured at our railcar manufacturing facilities require
a significant supply of raw materials such as steel
as well as numerous specialty components such as
brakes, wheels and axles. Steel is available from
numerous domestic and foreign sources. Specialty
components purchased from third parties comprise
approximately 50% of the production cost of each
railcar. Although the number of alternative suppliers
of specialty components has declined in recent
years, at least three suppliers continue to produce
most components. We continually monitor supply
inventory levels and sources to ensure adequate
support for our production. We maintain good
relationships with our suppliers and have not
experienced any significant interruptions in recent
years in the supply of raw materials or specialty
components.

Aggregates. Aggregates can be found
throughout the United States, and many producers
exist nationwide. However, as a general rule,




shipments from an individual quarry are limited in
geographic scope because the cost of transporting
processed aggregates to customers is high in
relation to the value of the product itself. We
operate 12 mining facilities strategically located in
Texas and Louisiana to fulfill some of our needs for
aggregates. We have not experienced difficulty
fulfilling the rest of our needs from local suppliers.

Steel. The principal material used in our rail,
inland barge and industrial products segments is
steel. At the current time, the price of steel in the
U.S. is increasing due to several factors. Primary
causes are increased demand, the significant in-
crease in scrap prices, lack of foreign imports,
reduced capacity due to consolidation and scarcity
of other raw inputs. Raw inputs, especially scrap,
are in tight supply due to foreign demand, primarily
from China. China is absorbing not only raw inputs
but also significant amounts of global supply.

U.S. imports are expensive and are also limited
because of the weaker U.S. dollar and the signifi-
cant increase in global freight rates. Spot market
pricing for plate products and hot-rolled coil has
shown a substantial increase over the last six
months. Some of our steel suppliers have imple-
mented surcharges based on the costs of rising steel
prices.

These steel market issues are also negatively
impacting the price and availability of key railcar
and barge components, many of which are manu-
factured predominantly through the use of scrap or
steel. Many of our suppliers of subassemblies and
parts are smaller companies which may experience
higher steel prices and limited access in times of
tight supply. Also, due to consolidation and chal-
lenging industry conditions, there is only one major
and two smaller U.S. suppliers of large railroad
castings for freightcars. However, foreign sources
are helping to address U.S. market demand. In
general, we believe there is enough capacity to
meet current production levels in the industry. We
believe our existing contracts and other relation-
ships we have in place will meet our current
production forecasts. However, any unanticipated
interruption in our supply chain or further raw
material price increases would have an impact on
both our margins and production schedules as we
work to meet market demands.

Employees. The following table presents the
breakdown of employees by business group as of
December 31, 2003:

December 31,

Business Unit 2003
Rail Group . ... covvii i 8,642
Construction Products Group . ................ 2,258
Inland Barge Group . .............. ool 1,360
Industrial Products Group .................... 294
Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group 60
Corporate and All Other ..................... 490
13,104

As of December 31, 2003, approximately
7,450 employees were employed in the United
States.

Acquisitions. We made certain acquisitions
during the nine months ended December 31, 2001
and during fiscal year 2001 accounted for by the
purchase method. The acquired operations have
been included in the consolidated financial state-
ments from the effective dates of the acquisitions.
See Note 4 to the consolidated financial statements.
During 2003, we had six acquisitions primarily in
the Construction Products Group with a combined
purchase price, net of cash acquired, of
$7.6 million.

Environmental Matters. We are subject to
comprehensive federal, state, local and foreign
environmental laws and regulations relating to the
release or discharge of materials into the environ-
ment, the management, use, processing, handling,
storage, transport or disposal of hazardous materi-
als, or otherwise relating to the protection of human
health and the environment. Such laws and regula-
tions not only expose us to liability for our own
negligent acts, but also may expose us to liability
for the conduct of others or for our actions which
were in compliance with all applicable laws at the
time these actions were taken. In addition, such
laws may require significant expenditures to achieve
compliance, and are frequently modified or revised
to impose new obligations. Civil and criminal fines
and penalties may be imposed for non-compliance
with these environmental laws and regulations. Our
operations that involve hazardous materials also
raise potential risks of liability under the common
law.

Environmental operating permits are, or may
be, required for our operations under these laws and
regulations. These operating permits are subject to




modification, renewal and revocation. We regularly
monitor and review our operations, procedures and
policies for compliance with these laws and regula-
tions. Despite these compliance efforts, risk of
environmental liability is inherent in the operation
of our businesses, as it is with other companies
engaged in similar businesses. We believe that our
operations and facilities, owned, managed, or
leased, are in substantial compliance with applica-
ble laws and regulations and that any noncompli-
ance is not likely to have a material adverse effect
on our operations or financial condition.

However, future events, such as changes in or
modified interpretations of existing laws and regula-
tions or enforcement policies, or further investiga-
tion or evaluation of the potential health hazards of
products or business activities, may give rise to
additional compliance and other costs that could
have a material adverse effect on our financial
conditions and operations.

In addition to environmental laws, the trans-
portation of commodities by railcar or barge raises
potential risks in the event of a derailment, spill or
other accident. Generally, liability under existing
law in the United States for a derailment, spill or
other accident depends on the negligence of the
party, such as the railroad, the shipper or the
manufacturer of the railcar or its components.
However, for certain hazardous commodities being
shipped, strict liability concepts may apply.

Governmental Regulation
Railcar Industry

The primary regulatory and industry authorities
involved in the regulation of the railcar industry are
the Environmental Protection Agency; the Research
and Special Programs Administration, a division of
the Department of Transportation; the Federal
Railroad Administration, a division of the Depart-
ment of Transportation; and the Association of
American Railroads.

These organizations establish rules and regula-
tions for the railcar industry, including construction
specifications and standards for the design and
manufacture of railcars; mechanical, maintenance
and related standards for railcars; safety of railroad
equipment, tracks and operations; and packaging
and transportation of hazardous materials.

We believe that our operations are in substan-
tial compliance with these regulations. We cannot

predict whether future changes that affect compli-
ance costs would have a material adverse effect on
financial conditions and operations.

Inland Barge Industry

The primary regulatory and industry authorities
involved in the regulation of the barge industry are
the United States Coast Guard; the National Trans-
portation Safety Board; the United States Customs
Service; the Maritime Administration of the United
States Department of Transportation; and private
industry organizations such as the American Bureau
of Shipping.

These organizations establish safety criteria,
investigate vessel accidents and recommend im-
proved safety standards. Violations of these regula-
tions and related laws can result in substantial civil
and criminal penalties as well as injunctions cur-
tailing operations.

We believe that our operations are in substan-
tial compliance with these regulations. We cannot
predict whether future changes that affect compli-
ance costs would have a material adverse effect on
financial conditions and operations.

Occupational Safety and Health Administration and
similar regulations

Our operations are subject to regulation of
health and safety matters by the United States
Occupational Safety and Health Administration. We
believe that we employ appropriate precautions to
protect our employees and others from workplace
injuries and harmful exposure to materials handled
and managed at our facilities. However, claims may
be asserted against us for work-related illnesses or
injury, and our operations may be adversely af-
fected by the further adoption of occupational
health and safety regulations in the United States or
in foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. While
we do not anticipate having to make material
expenditures in order to remain in substantial
compliance with these health and safety laws and
regulations, we are unable to predict the ultimate
cost of compliance. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that we will not become involved in
future litigation or other proceedings or if we were
found to be responsible or liable in any litigation or
proceeding, that such costs would not be material to
us.




Other Matters. To date, we have not suf- for plant operations and diesel fuel for vehicles,

fered any material shortages with respect to ob- could have an adverse effect upon our ability to
taining sufficient energy supplies to operate our conduct our business. The likelihood of such an
various plant facilities or transportation vehicles. occurrence or its duration, and its ultimate effect on
Future limitations on the availability or consump- our operations, cannot be reasonably predicted at
tion of petroleum products, particularly natural gas this time.

Executive Officers of the Company. The following table sets forth the names and ages of all of our
executive officers, their positions and offices presently held by them, the year each person first became an
executive officer and the term of each person’s office:

Officer Term
Name(1) ég;e Office Since Expires
Timothy R. Wallace ............... 50 Chairman, President & Chief 1985 May 2004
Executive Officer
John L. Adams ................... 59  Executive Vice President 1999  May 2004
JmS. Ivy ..o 60  Senior Vice President & Chief 1998  May 2004
Financial Officer
Mark W. Stiles .......... ... ... .. 55  Senior Vice President & Group 1993  May 2004
President
Michael E. Flannery ............... 44 Chief Executive Officer of Trinity Rail 2001  May 2004
Group, LLC
AndreaF. Cowan ................. 41  Vice President, Shared Services 2001  May 2004
Michael G. Fortado................ 60  Vice President & Secretary 1997  May 2004
John M. Lee ............ ... ..... 43 Vice President, Business Development 1994  May 2004
Charles Michel ................... 50 Vice President, Controller 2001 May 2004
S.TheisRice..................... 53 Vice President, Legal Affairs 2002  May 2004
Neil O. Shoop .................... 60  Treasurer 1985  May 2004

(1) Mr. Flannery joined Trinity in 2001. Prior to that he was Chief Administrative Officer and General
Counsel of Duchossois Industries, Inc. and Vice Chairman of Thrall Car Manufacturing Company, a
railcar manufacturing company that merged with a subsidiary of our’s in October of 2001. Ms. Cowan
joined us in January 2000 as a divisional officer. Prior to that she was a consultant to Trinity for six
months having spent fifteen years with the State of Texas in a variety of positions relating to policy and
finance. Mr. Michel joined us in 2001. Prior to that he served as Vice President and Chief Financial
Officer of a national restaurant/entertainment company from 1994 to 2001. All of the other above-
mentioned executive officers have been in the full time employment of Trinity or its subsidiaries for more
than five years. Although the titles of certain such officers have changed during the past five years, all
have performed essentially the same duties during such period of time except for Mark W. Stiles and S.
Theis Rice. In addition to Group President, Mr. Stiles became Senior Vice President on June 10, 1999.
Mr. Rice served as President of our European operations before being elected to his present position on
March 14, 2002.

Item 2. Properties. Brazil, the Czech Republic, Mexico, Romania,

. . . . Slovakia, and the United Kingdom, all of which are
We principally operate in various locations

throughout the United States with other facilities in




considered to be in good condition, well maintained
and adequate for our purposes.

Approximate Square

Feet Producfive
Capacity
Owned Leased Utilized
Rail Group ........... 5,884,500 1,840,000 70%
Construction Products
Group ............. 2,368,000 — 80%
Inland Barge Group . ... 889,000 45,000 65%
Industrial Products
Group ............. 557,500 — 47%
Executive Offices . ... .. 173,000 — N/A
All Other ............ 108,000 — 0%
9,980,000 1,885,000

Item 3. Legal Proceedings.

We and our wholly owned subsidiary, Trinity
Marine Products, Inc. (“TMP’’), and certain mate-
rial suppliers and others, have been named as co-
defendants in six separate lawsuits filed by Florida
Marine Transporters, Inc. (“FMT”) on May 15,
2002, J. Russell Flowers, Inc. (“Flowers™) on
October 7, 2002, ACF Acceptance Barge I, LLC
(“ACF”) on December 4, 2002, Marquette Trans-
portation Company and Iowa Fleeting Services, Inc.
(**Marquette””) on March 7, 2003, Waxler Transpor-
tation Company, Inc. (*Waxler”’) on April 7, 2003
and LeBeouf Bros. Towing (“LeBeouf’) on July 3,
2003. The FMT, Marquette, Waxler, and LeBeouf
cases are pending in the 25th Judicial District Court
in Plaquemines Parish, Louisiana, and the Flowers
case is pending in the U.S. District Court, Northern
District of Mississippi in Greenville, Mississippi.
On October 8, 2003, ACF settled its claims against
us and TMP and assigned to us and TMP all of its
claims against the other parties in the litigation. The
settlement involved the purchase by our leasing
subsidiary of eleven barges owned by ACF and
chartered to a third party under long-term bareboat
charter agreements. The leasing subsidiary pur-
chased the barges for $19.1 million and succeeded
ACF as lessor under the charters. The estimated fair
market value of the operating leases and residual
value of the barges approximated the purchase
price. In Waxler, the plaintiff has petitioned the
court for certification of a class, which if certified
by the court could potentially increase the total
number of barges involved in this case. The other
suits involve 48 tank barges sold at an approximate
average price of $1.4 million, and 140 hopper
barges sold at an approximate average price of
$280,000. All of the cases similarly allege defects

in coating materials supplied by a co-defendant and
coatings application workmanship by TMP. The
plaintiffs seek both compensatory and punitive
damages and/or rescission of the barge purchase
contracts. Technical experts investigating the claims
have expressed the opinion that technical arguments
presented by the plaintiffs in the litigation are
without merit. As of February 15, 2004 two of five
plaintiffs owe TMP approximately $11.5 million, of
which $10.5 million is past due, related to contracts
for barges not involved in the cases listed. TMP has
filed suit for collection of the past due amounts.

In a proceeding unrelated to the foregoing
litigation, the Company and TMP filed a declara-
tory judgment action in the 22nd Judicial District
Court of St. Tammany Parish, Louisiana seeking
declaration by the Court of the Company’s and
TMP’s (i) obligations related to allegations of
certain barge owners as to defective coatings and
coatings application on 65 tank barges and
(ii) rights and remedies relative to an insurance
policy in which TMP was named as an additional
insured and which was applicable to the coatings
on the 65 barges. On December 9, 2003, the barge
owners filed a response proceeding to the declara-
tory judgment (i.e. a Re-conventional Demand
under Louisiana jurisprudence) claiming actual
damages of $6.5 million and punitive damages of
$10 million.

A subsidiary of Trinity, Transit Mix Concrete
and Materials Company, was named as a defendant
in a case involving the death of an employee of an
independent contractor who died following an
accident that occurred while the decedent was
working at a company owned facility. Following a
jury verdict in the favor of the plaintiff, the
presiding judge entered a final judgment in the
amount of $33.9 million (inclusive of fees, costs,
and judgment interest). This case has been ap-
pealed. Management believes liability in this case,
if any, exceeding $3.0 million, will be covered by
insurance.

We are also involved in other claims and
lawsuits incidental to our current and former
subsidiaries’ businesses. Based on information cur-
rently available to us, it is management’s opinion
that our ultimate liability, if any, for such claims
and lawsuits, including those matters associated
with our use of products manufactured by others
and alleged to contain asbestos,




in the aggregate will not have a material adverse
effect on our business, operations or overall finan-
cial condition. However, resolutions of claims or
lawsuits by settlement or otherwise could have a
significant impact on our operating results for the
reporting period in which any such resolution
occurs.

Item 4. Submission of Matters to a Vote of
Security Holders.

None.




PART II

Item 5. Market for the Registrant’s Common

Eguity and Related Stockholder Matters.

Our common stock is traded on the New York
Stock Exchange with the ticker symbol “TRN”.
The following table shows the price range of our
common stock for the year ended December 31,
2003 and 2002.

Prices
Year Ended December 31, 2002 ﬂlgﬂ_ _Lo_w
Quarter ended March 31,2002 ............ $26.98 $21.93
Quarter ended June 30,2002.............. 25.48 18.13
Quarter ended September 30, 2002 ......... 20.20 16.70
Quarter ended December 31, 2002 ......... 20.77 14.93
Year Ended December 31, 2003 High _lLo_w
Quarter ended March 31,2003 ............ $19.70  $15.85
Quarter ended June 30, 2003 .............. 19.32 15.23
Quarter ended September 30, 2003 ......... 29.00 18.61
Quarter ended December 31, 2003 ......... 31.76 23.83
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Our transfer agent and registrar as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003 was Wachovia Bank, N.A.

Holders

At December 31, 2003, we had approximately
1,719 record holders of common stock. The par
value of the stock is $1.

Dividends

Trinity has paid 159 consecutive quarterly
dividends. Since April 1, 2002, Trinity has paid
quarterly dividends of $0.06 per common share. See
Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial
Condition and Results of Operations.

Recent Sales of Unregistered Securities

None




Item 6. Selected Financial Data.

The following financial information for the two years ended December 31, 2003, the nine months ended
December 31, 2001 and for the two years ended March 31, 2001 has been derived from our audited
consolidated financial statements. The information as of and for the year ended December 31, 2001 and the
nine months ended December 31, 2000 have been derived from unaudited financial statements and have been
included herein for informational and comparison purposes. This information should be read in conjunction
with Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations and the
consolidated financial statements and notes thereto included elsewhere herein.

Nine Months Ended
Year Ended December 31, December 31, Year Ended March 31,
2003 2002 2001 2001 2009 2601 2060

(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in millions except percent and per share data)

Statement of Operations Data:

Revenues ................... $1,4328 $1,4873 $1,766.5 $1,347.8 $1,4856 $1,904.3  $2,740.6
Operating profit (loss)(1) ...... i3.4 10.7 (74.6) (16.4) (1.9) 66.1) 279.0
Net income (loss)(2).......... (10.0) (19.6) (74.4) (34.7) (34.7) (74.4) 165.5
Net income (loss) applicable to

common shareholders....... (11.6) (19.6) (74.4) (34.7) (34.7) (74.4) 165.5
Basic net income (loss) per

common share(2) .......... (0.25) (0.43) (1.94) (0.90) (0.92) (1.98) 4,17
Diluted net income (loss) per

common share(2) .......... $ (025) § (043) $§ (194) $ (090) § (©92) § (198) § 4.15

Weighted average common
shares outstanding:

Basic .................. 45.6 453 38.3 38.7 37.6 375 39.7

Diluted. ................ 45.6 453 38.3 38.7 37.6 37.5 399
Dividend per common share ... $§ 024 $§ 024 $ 072 § 054 $ 054 §$ 072 § 072
Balance Sheet Data:
Total assets ................. $2,007.9 $1,9565 $1,952.0 $1952.0 $1,7555 $1,8259 §1,73835
Debt —recourse .. ........... 298.5 375.1 476.3 476.3 450.1 537.8 265.5
Debt — non-recourse ......... 96.7 113.8 — — — — —
Series B Preferred Stock ...... 57.8 — — — — _— —
Stockholders’ equity . ......... $1,003.8 $1,001.6 $1,009.4 $1,0094 $ 9260 $ 879.0 $1,015.1
Ratio of total debt to total

capital ................... 27.1% 32.8% 32.1% 32.1% 32.7% 38.0% 20.7%

Book value per share ......... $ 2154 $ 2182 §$ 2279 $ 2279 $ 2516 $§ 2389 § 2650

(1) Includes charges of:
o $120.1 million for unusual charges for the year ended December 31, 2001,
° $64.3 million for unusual charges for the nine months ended December 31, 2001,
o $85.1 million for unusual charges for the nine months ended December 31, 2000, and
° $140.9 million for unusual charges for fiscal year 2001.

(2) Includes after tax charges or credit of:
o $86.1 million ($2.25 per share) for unusual charges for the year ended December 31, 2001,
° $50.4 million ($1.30 per share) for unusual charges for the nine months ended December 31, 2001,
© $75.2 million ($2.00 per share) for unusual charges for the nine months ended December 31, 2000,
and
e $110.9 million ($2.96 per share) for unusual charges for fiscal year 2001.

See Unusual Charges in Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and
Results of Operation.
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Item 7. Management’s Discussion and Analysis
of Financial Condition and Results of
Operations.

Executive Summary

Trinity Industries, Inc. is a diversified indus-
trial company providing a variety of products and
services for the transportation, industrial and con-
struction sectors of the marketplace. We operate in
five distinct business groups which we report on a
segment basis: the Rail Group, Construction Prod-
ucts Group, Inland Barge Group, Industrial Products
Group and Railcar Leasing and Management Ser-
vices Group. We also report All Other which
includes our smaller peripheral businesses.

We operate in cyclical industries. In 2003 we
began to witness an increase in industrial activity
and signs of improvement in the manufacturing
sector, which has experienced difficult market
conditions over the past several years. Downturns in
overall economic conditions usually have a signifi-
cant adverse effect on cyclical industries due to
decreased demand for new and replacement progd-
ucts. During the downturn, we implemented com-
pany-wide cyclicality management processes in
order to identify future demand for our products
and new market opportunities. We also assessed our
manufacturing capacity and took steps to rationalize
our production facilities in line with the nature and
location of the demand that we perceived. In that
regard, we continued our investment in production
capacity in Mexico to take advantage of the lower
cost manufacturing environment. We intend to
increase our investment in Mexico in coming years.

The improvement in industrial and manufactur-
ing activity that we see is reflected in an increase in
new car orders for us and industry wide throughout
2003, after several years of decline. We ended 2003
with a significantly higher backlog in our Rail
Group with an approximate 5,400 car increase year
over year. In addition, improvement in the rail
industry was seen in our Railcar Leasing and
Management Services Group, where leasing reve-
nues in 2003 increased by 34.1%, fueled by sales
from the lease fleet, growth in the size of the lease
fleet, and improvement in fleet utilization. Global
Insight, an independent industry research firm, has
estimated that U.S. carload traffic will grow 3.1%
in 2004, 2.2% in 2005, 1.6% in each of 2006 and
2007 and 0.9% in 2008. Increasing rail traffic
should spark another key driver of new car de-
mand — the need to improve productivity and

12

efficiency through the replacement of older, smaller,
inefficient units. The average age of the U.S. freight
car fleet is approximately 18.8 years, with 32.8%
older than 25 years. The average age of the
Canadian car fleet is 22.3 years, with 45.5% in
service for over 25 years. The average age of the
Mexican car fleet is 26.0 years, with 21.1% of the
fleet over 20 years and 67.4% over 25 years. We
believe each of these factors will be key drivers of
increased railcar sales over the next few years.
Global Insight has estimated railcar deliveries for
the industry to increase by approximately

15,200 units in 2004 to approximately 47,400 units
and has estimated deliveries for 2005-2008 of:
53,200 units in 2005; 53,500 units in 2006;

50,700 units in 2007 and 49,000 units in 2008.

To help finance and manage our production
and delivery of railcars, we use a captive financing
subsidiary, Trinity Industries Leasing Company
(“TILC”). TILC purchases a portion of our railcar
production, financing the costs through a non-
recourse warehouse lending facility and refinancing
those borrowings through sale/leaseback and other
leveraged lease or equipment trust financing trans-
actions. In 2003, TILC purchases represented ap-
proximately 49.5% of our North American railcar
production. However, as external demand for our
railcars increases, we expect that intersegment
railcar production as a percentage of our total sales
will decline. On a segment basis, our Rail Group
recognizes revenue at the time of the intersegment
sale to TILC and this revenue and the related profit
is eliminated in consolidation.

The principal material used in our rail, inland
barge and industrial products segments is steel. At
the current time, the price of steel in the U.S. is
increasing due to several factors. Primary causes are
increased demand, the significant increase in scrap
prices, lack of foreign imports, reduced capacity
due to consolidation and scarcity of other raw
inputs. Raw inputs, especially scrap, are in tight
supply due to foreign demand, primarily from
China. China is absorbing not only raw inputs but
also significant amounts of global supply.

U.S. imports are also limited because of the weaker
U.S. dollar and the significant increase in global
freight rates. Spot market pricing for plate products
and hot-rolled coil has shown a substantial increase
over the last six months. Some of our steel
suppliers have implemented surcharges based on
rising steel prices.




These steel market issues are also negatively is seeking class certification, which if certified by

impacting the price and availability of key railcar the Court, could potentially increase the total

and barge components, many of which are manu- number of barges involved in the case. The other
factured predominantly through the use of scrap or five suits involve 48 tank barges sold at an average
steel. Many of our suppliers of subassemblies and price of approximately $1.4 million, and 140

parts are smaller companies which may experience hopper barges sold at an average price of approxi-
higher steel prices and limited access in times of mately $280,000. In all of these cases, the plaintiffs
tight supply. Also, due to consolidation and chal- seek both compensatory and punitive damages
lenging industry conditions, there are only one and/or rescission of the barge purchase contracts.
major and two smaller U.S. suppliers of large Technical experts investigating the claims have
railroad castings for freightcars. However, foreign expressed the opinion that technical arguments
sources are helping to address U.S. market demand. presented by the plaintiffs in this litigation are

In general, we believe there is enough capacity to without merit. Specific claims in one of the cases
meet current production levels in the industry. We were settled in 2003. TMP is defending these cases
believe our existing contracts and other relation- vigorously (see Note 17 in our Consolidated

ships we have in place will meet our current Financial Statements).

production forecasts. However, any unanticipated
interruption in our supply chain or further raw
material price increases would have an impact on
both our margins and production schedules as we
work to meet market demands.

In a proceeding unrelated to the foregoing
litigation, the Company and TMP filed a declara-
tory judgment action seeking declaration by the
Court of the Company’s and TMP’s (i) obligations
related to allegations of defective coatings and
coatings application on 65 tank barges and
(i1) rights and remedies relative to an insurance
policy in which TMP was named as an additional
insured and which was applicable to the coatings
on the 65 barges. The barge owners filed a response
proceeding claiming actual damages of $6.5 million
and punitive damages of $10.0 million.

Trinity Marine Products, Inc. (“TMP”), an
entity within the Inland Barge Group, together with
Trinity, has been named as a co-defendant in six
separate lawsuits filed by multiple plaintiffs on
various dates. These suits allege similar causes of
action related to defects in coating materials manu-
factured and supplied by co-defendants and coatings
application workmanship by TMP. One of the suits

Results of Operations
Year Ended December 31, 2003 Compared with the Year Ended December 31, 2002

Our consolidated net loss for 2003 was $10.0 million as compared to a net loss of $19.6 million for
2002. Net loss applicable to common shareholders for 2003 was $11.6 million ($0.25 loss per diluted share)
as compared to $19.6 million ($0.43 per diluted share) for 2002. The difference between net loss and net loss
applicable to common shares for 2003 is the $1.6 million in accrued dividends and accreted offering costs on
the Series B preferred stock.

Revenues. Revenues decreased $54.5 million to $1,432.8 million for the year ended December 31, 2003
compared to $1,487.3 million for the year ended December 31, 2002. The decline in revenues was primarily
due to a decline in sales in our Inland Barge Group, Construction Products Group and Industrial Products
Group offset by higher revenues in our Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group.
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The following table reconciles the revenue amounts discussed under our operating segments with the
consolidated total revenues shown in the Selected Financial Data.

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Year Ended December 31, 2002

(in millions)

Revenues Revenues
Qutside Intersegment Total Qutside Intersegment Total

Rail Group .................. $ 4945 $ 240.1 $ 7346 $ 5043 $ 1251 § 6294
Construction Products Group . . .. 488.8 1.1 489.9 503.9 0.9 504.8
Inland Barge Group ........... 170.6 — 170.6 211.7 — 211.7
Industrial Products Group ...... 120.7 4.1 124.8 140.1 3.0 143.1
Railcar Leasing and Management

Services Group ............. 153.8 — 153.8 114.7 — 114.7
AllGCther.................... 44 26.5 30.9 12.6 26.9 395
Eliminations ................. — (271.8) (271.8) — (155.9) (155.9)
Consolidated Total ............ $1,432.8 $  — $1,432.8 $1,4873 $ — $1,487.3

Selling, Engineering and Administrative Ex-
penses. Selling, engineering and administrative ex-
penses decreased $3.6 million to $159.0 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to
$162.6 million for the comparable period in 2002, a
decrease of 2.2%. The decrease was a result of
continued cost reduction efforts. During 2002, we
signed a managed services contract to implement a
new financial system and to outsource certain
accounting and processing activities. While ex-
pected to produce overall savings in future years,
this project did result in incremental selling, engi-
neering and administrative costs of approximately
$8.9 million ($0.14 per common share).

Operating Profit (Loss)

Year Ended

December 31,
2603 2002

(in millions)
Rail Group . ... $ (6.2) $(41.9)
Construction Products Group .............. 375 483
Inland Barge Group .. .......... ... ... ... 4.7) 47
Industrial Products Group .. ............... 8.4 2.4

Railcar Leasing and Management Services

Group ... 41.0 313
All Other ............ ... ... .. .. .... (8.4) (G}
Corporate and Eliminations . ............... _(54.2) _(ﬁ)
Consolidated Total ... .................... $134 $107

Operating profit improved to $13.4 million for
the year ended December 31, 2003 compared to
$10.7 million for the same period in 2002. Operat-
ing margins improved in the Rail Group due to
improved efficiencies associated with an increase in
volume, offset by $2.3 million of estimated losses
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on future deliveries as a result of steel surcharges.
The increase in operating profit was also due to
improvement in margins in the U.S. propane tank
business and improved efficiencies in the tank heads
business. Operating profit for Inland Barge Group
was adversely impacted by an additional $1.5 mil-
lion in cost incurred related to litigation aggregating
approximately $4.0 million for the year as well as
$4.1 million related to estimated losses on future
deliveries as a result of steel surcharges. Operating
profit for the Industrial Products Group in 2002 was
negatively impacted by a $2.2 million reserve
established for a long-term propane tank equipment
lease receivable from a customer who began operat-
ing under bankruptcy protection.

Other Income and Expense. Other income
and expense included interest income, interest
expense and other, net. Interest expense, net of
interest income decreased $0.9 million to
$34.2 million for the year ended December 31,
2002 compared to $35.1 million for the same
period in 2002.

Other income is primarily attributable to gains
on sales of non-operating assets, primarily land,
offset by losses on equity investments and foreign
exchange transactions. The increase in 2003 was
attributable to an increase in the gain on sales of
non-operating assets.

Income Taxes. The benefit for income taxes,
as a percentage of loss before taxes, increased to
30.2% in 2003 from 19.5% in 2002 primarily due
to changes in taxes related to our foreign
operations.




Rail Group

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2002
{in millions)
Revenues:
North American Rail .................. $4945  $349.3
Europe Rail................. ... .. ... 139.6 185.8
Components .................c........ 1005 943
Total revenues . ..................... $7346 $629.4
Operating 10ss.......................... $ (6.2) $(41.5)
Operating loss margin ................... 0.8)% (6.6)%

Revenues increased 16.7% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to the same period in
2002. This increase was primarily due to North
American railcar shipments of approximately 8,300
railcars compared to the prior year of approxi-
mately 4,800 railcars. Operating results showed
improvement for 2003 based on the higher North
American volume. Shipments for North America in
2004 are expected to improve as we enter 2004
with a backlog of approximately 11,800 railcars.
Our European rail operations showed a decrease in
the number of railcars shipped due to a decline in
the market. European revenues for 2003 decreased
by 24.9% compared to the same period in 2002.
Shipments of approximately 2,100 railcars for 2003
were approximately 400 fewer railcars than 2002.
We enter 2004 with a stronger backlog in Europe
which has increased over 40% since December 31,
2002 to approximately 2,150 railcars.

In the year ended December 31, 2003, railcar
sales to our Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group included in the Rail Group results
were $238.4 million compared to $119.0 million in
the comparable period in 2002 with operating profit
of $15.8 million in 2003 compared to $5.9 million
in comparable period in 2002. Sales to Railcar
Leasing and Management Services Group and
related profits are eliminated in consolidation.

Construction Products Group

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2002
(in millions)
Revenues ............cooiiiiiiiin... $489.9  $504.8
Operating profit ........................ $ 375 %483
Operating profit margin .................. 77% 9.6%

Revenues decreased $14.9 million for the year
ended December 31, 2003 compared to the same
period in 2002. The decrease in revenues was
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primarily attributable to lower demand in Highway
Safety products, exiting certain non-core product
lines since the first quarter of 2002, reduced
production in the Structural Bridge business, and
reduced product volume and competitive pricing
pressures in the fittings business. These revenue
reductions were offset by an increase in production
in the Concrete and Aggregates business due to
good weather and strong demand. Operating profit
margin decreased as a result of reduced volume,
competitive pricing pressures, and increased fuel
and insurance costs.

Inland Barge Group

Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002
(in millions)
$170.6  $211.7
$ 47 $ 47
(2.8)% 2.2%

Revenues

Operating profit (loss)

Operating profit (loss) margin

Revenues decreased approximately $41.1 mil-
lion compared to the prior year primarily due to a
decrease in hopper barge shipments. For the year
ended December 31, 2003, approximately 300
hopper barges were delivered compared to approxi-
mately 500 for the same period in 2002. The
decrease in units was due to the severe downturn in
the hopper barge market. The composite business
also experienced a decrease in revenue of due to
the downturn of the hopper barge market. For the
tank barge business, 51 barges were delivered
compared to 48 for the same period last year.

Operating profit declined approximately
$9.4 million from the prior year due to the reduced
hopper barge and composite sales and was ad-
versely impacted by an additional $1.5 million in
costs incurred related to litigation aggregating
approximately $4.0 million for the year as well as
$4.1 million related to estimated losses on future
deliveries as a result of steel surcharges.

Industrial Products Group

Year Ended
December 31,

2003 2002
{in millions)
$1248 $143.1
$ 84 § 24
6.7% 1.7%

Revenues

Operating profit

Operating profit margin

Revenues declined 12.8% for the year ended
December 31, 2003 compared to the same period in




2002. The decline in revenues is primarily due to
the sale of the specialty tank heads product line in
the United States during 2002 and a decline in
propane tank related sales in Mexico. Overall, the
increase in operating profit was primarily due to
improvement in operating margins in the

U.S. propane tank and tank heads businesses as a
result of improved manufacturing efficiency, sales
and marketing and overall product mix. Operating
profit in 2003 was negatively impacted by a

$0.9 million write down of long-lived assets in
Brazil. The prior year was impacted by the
establishment of a $2.2 million allowance for bad
debt due to a customer declaring bankruptcy as
well as a decline in propane tank related sales in
Mexico.

Railcar Leasing and Management Services
Group

Year Ended
December 31,
2003 2002
(in millions)
Revenues
Leasing and management................. $118.6  $109.9
Lease fleet sales ........................ 35.2 4.8
Total revenues............ooiviveiinn. $153.8 $114.7
Operating Profit
Leasing and management................. $370 $ 297
Lease fleetsales ........................ 4.0 1.6
Total operating profit .................... $410 $313
Operating profit margin .................. 267%  271.3%

Revenues for this group include railcar lease
revenues and management fees as well as sales of
railcars from our lease fleet. Total revenues in 2003
increased over 2002 due to the increase of
$30.4 million in railcar sales and $8.7 million due
to an increase in the size of the lease fleet that
includes both company-owned railcars and railcars
we lease under operating leases, as well as higher
fleet utilization. We manage a lease portfolio of
approximately 67,000 railcars.

The increase in operating profit was due to the
increased size of the rental fleet, improved utiliza-
tion, as well as a decrease in rental abatement.
Operating profit from the sale of railcars was
$4.0 million in 2003 compared to $1.6 million in
2002.

All Other

Revenues in All Other decreased to $30.9 mil-
lion in the year ended December 31, 2003 from
$39.5 million for the year ended December 31,
2002. The decline in revenues is primarily due to a
decline in the structural tower business. Operating
loss was $8.4 million for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003, and $5.7 million in the same period
in 2002. The increase in the operating loss is
primarily due to costs associated with non-operating
plants.

Twelve Months Ended December 31, 2002 Compared with the Twelve Momnths Ended December 31,

2001 — Results of Operations

We changed our year-end in 2001 from March 31 to December 31 and, as a result, included in our
Statement of Operations are the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 as compared to the nine months
ended December 31, 2001. Compared to the nine-month period, revenues improved $139.5 million due to
having an additional three months of operation offset by a drop in revenues for the Rail Group caused by the
reduction in North American railcar shipments. Operating profit improved to a profit of $10.7 million
compared to a loss of $16.4 million for the nine-month period. The nine-month period included unusual
charges of $64.3 million (see “Unusual Charges™). Interest expense also increased as a result of increased
debt incurred. Our management discussion and analysis which follows is based on a comparison of the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 to the unaudited comparable twelve months ended December 31, 2001.

Cur net loss for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002 was $19.6 million ($0.43 per diluted
common share) as compared to a net loss of $74.4 million ($1.94 per diluted share) for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2001, a decrease of the net loss of $54.8 million.

Revenues. Revenues decreased $279.2 million to $1,487.3 million for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2002 compared to $1,766.5 million for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001, a
decrease of 15.8%. The decline in revenues was primarily due to the reduction in North American railcar




structural towers business.

shipments, exiting certain lines of business in the Construction Products Group, All Other groups, and the

The following table reconciles the revenue amounts discussed under each segment with the consolidated

total revenues shown in the Selected Financial Data.

Twelve months Ended
December 31, 2002

Twelve Months Ended
December 31, 2001 (Unaudited)

Revenues Revenues
QOutside  Intersegment Total Qutside  Intersegment Total
(in millions)

Rail Group ........... ... ... ... $ 5043 $ 1251 $ 6264 $ 7000 $2575 $ 9575
Construction Products Group......... 503.9 0.9 504.8 543.8 6.5 550.3
Inland Barge Group ................ 211.7 — 211.7 206.6 0.1 206.7
Industrial Products Group ........... 140.1 3.0 143.1 139.9 7.6 147.5
Railcar Leasing and Management

Services Group .................. 114.7 — 114.7 114.1 — 114.1
AllOther.......... ... ... ... .... 12.6 26.9 395 62.1 43.9 106.0
Eliminations ...................... — (155.9) (155.9) — (315.6) (315.6)
Consolidated Total ................. $1,487.3 $ —  $14873 $1,766.5 $§ — 81,7665

Selling, Engineering and Administrative Ex-
pense.  Selling, engineering and administrative
expenses decreased $18.7 million to $162.6 million
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2002
compared to $181.3 million for the twelve months
ended December, 31, 2001, a decrease of 10.3%.
The decrease was a result of lower head count, cost
reduction efforts and special charges of $9.4 million
recorded in the prior twelve months.

Operating Profit (Loss)

Year Ended
December 31,
2002 2001
(in millions)
Rail Group ..ot $(41.5) $(104.4)
Construction Products Group ............. 48.3 489
Inland Barge Group .. ................... 4.7 11.6
Industrial Products Group ................ 2.4 2.8
Railcar Leasing and Management Services
Group ... 313 38.0
All Other ........... ... ol 5.7 (35.8)
Corporate and Eliminations . . ............. _(288) (35.7)
Consolidated Total ...................... $107 § (74.6)

Operating profit (loss) improved to a
$10.7 million profit for the twelve months ended
December 31, 2002 compared to a loss of
$74.6 million for the twelve months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001. Special charges for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2001 were $120.1 million.
Reduced revenues of $328.1 million in 2002 and
unabsorbed overhead due primarily to lower North
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American railcar volumes caused operating losses
in the Rail Group. Operating profit for 2002 for the
Inland Barge Group was adversely impacted by
$3.2 million in cost incurred related to litigation
and related costs. Operations in 2002 for the
Industrial Products Group was impacted by a

$2.2 million reserve established for a long-term
propane tank equipment lease receivable from a
customer who began operating under bankruptcy
protection during the second quarter. Improved
operating margins in the Construction Products and
All Other groups were due to exiting unprofitable
product lines.

Other Income and Expense. Other income
and expense included interest income, interest
expense and other, net. Interest expense, net of
interest income increased $9.7 million to $35.1 mil-
lion for the twelve months ended December 31,
2002 compared to $25.4 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2001, an increase of
38.2%. The increase was attributed to higher debt
levels, to charging off debt issuance costs of
$1.3 million related to debt that was replaced with
other credit facilities in the current period and
lower interest income.

Other, net was $0.0 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to an
expense of $2.6 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2001. The decrease in expense
was due to gains on sale of property, plant and
equipment in the 2002 compared to the prior twelve




month period and foreign exchange losses in 2002
compared to gains in the prior twelve month period.

Income Taxes. The provision for income
taxes, as a percentage of income before taxes,
increased to 19.5% in 2002 from 14.3% in 2001
due primarily to increased state taxes and an
increase in the valuation allowance for deferred tax
assets.

Rail Group
Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2002 2001

(in millions)
North American Rail.................... $349.3 37799
Europe Rail ........................... 185.8 79.1
Components .. ........oiii _ 943 98.5
Revenues ...l $6294 $957.5
Operating loss ......................... $(41.5) $(104.4)
Operating loss margin................... 6.6)% (10.9Y%

Revenues declined 34.3% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to the
same period in 2001. This decline was due to the
current downturn in the North American railcar
market. North American railcar shipments dropped
approximately 58% compared to the prior year to
approximately 4,800 railcars. Operating profit (loss)
for the twelve months ended December 31, 2001
included restructuring charges of $97.5 million (see
“Unusual Charges”). Operating profit (loss) mar-
gins, excluding unusual charges, were impacted by
lower production levels and price pressures in the
current competitive environment.

In the twelve months ended December 31,
2002, railcar sales to Railcar Leasing and Manage-
ment Services Group included in the Rail Group
results were $119.0 million compared to
$250.3 million in the comparable period in 2001
with operating profit of $5.9 million in 2002
compared to $12.4 million for the same period in
2001. Sales to Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group and related profits are eliminated in
consolidation.
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Construction Products Group

Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2002 2001
(in millions)
Revenues ...................covvinon.. $504.8  $550.3
Operating profit ......... ..., $ 483 %489
Operating profit margin ... ............... 9.6% 8.9%

Revenues declined 8.3% for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2002 compared to the same
period in 2001. The decrease in revenues consisted
of approximately $13.5 million attributable to clos-
ing under performing concrete and aggregate loca-
tions in Louisiana in the second quarter and exiting
the sheet pile, flange and valve product lines and
approximately $27.0 million due to reduced de-
mands in several business lines. Revenue also
declined by $7.9 million due to inclement weather
in the fourth quarter. These decreases were offset
by price increases aggregating $10.7 million. Oper-
ating profit for the twelve months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 included other charges of $0.9 million
(see ““Unusual Charges”). Operating profit margins
increased as a result of cost reductions in the
Concrete and Aggregates business, elimination of
unprofitable products, and efficiency improvements
in the Bridge business partially offset by steel cost
increases in the Highway Safety business not
passed on to customers.

Inland Barge Group
Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2002 i(}gl_
(in millions)
Revermes . ... $211.7  $206.7
Operating profit .................cco.... $ 47 $116
Operating profit margin .................. 22% 5.6%

Revenues increased 2.4% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to the
same period in 2001. The increase in revenues was
attributable to increased deliveries of hopper barges
and sale of barges in Argentina. Operating profit
was lower primarily due to cost incurred related to
litigation initiated by two customers in 2002 and
related issues of $3.2 million and higher prior year
margins due to a one-time steel panel contract of
$2.7 million.




Industrial Products Group
Twelve Months

Ended
December 31,
2002 2001
(in millions)
Revenues . .........c..oooviniuienninnnn. $143.1 831475
Operating profit ..........c.o.vvuievnn.ns $§ 24 3 28
Operating profit margin .................. 1.7% 1.9%

Revenues decreased 3.0% for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002 compared to the
same period in 2001. The decrease in revenues is
primarily due to a reduction in tank heads sales
offset by an increase in Mexico propane tank
transport equipment sales. Operating income in
2002 was impacted by a $2.2 million reserve
established for a long-term propane tank equipment
lease receivable from a customer who began operat-
ing under bankruptcy protection during the second
quarter.

Railear Leasing and Management Services
Group

Twelve Months
Ended

December 31,
2002 2001
(in millions}
Revenues
Leasing and management................. $109.9 $ 916
Lease fleetsales ........................ 4.8 22.5
Total revenues .. ...........c.oovvu.... $114.7 §114.1
Operating Profit
Leasing and management................. §$297 §352
Lease fleet sales ........................ 1.6 2.8
Total operating profit .................... $ 313 §380
Operating profit margin . ................. 273% 33.3%

Revenues for this group include railcar lease
revenue and management fees as well as sales of
railcars from our lease fleet. Railcar lease revenue
and management fees increased $18.3 million over
the prior year due to the increase in the size of the
lease fleet that includes both company-owned rail-
cars and railcars we lease under operating leases.
Operating profit is down due to the increased size
of the fleet that we lease compared to the fleet we
own. This shift resulted from the fact that, in the
March quarter of 2001, we were building a
substantial portfolio of lease railcars that were
subsequently moved from owned railcars to leased
railcars later in the year in a sale/leaseback
transaction. The reason that leased railcars result in
lower operating profit margins is that operating
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lease expense on the railcars we lease includes both
a depreciation component and an interest compo-
nent that is charged to operating expense. For
owned railcars, only a depreciation component is
charged to operating expense. Selling, engineering
and administrative expense also increased due to
our strategy to grow both the lease fleet and the
managed car fleet. For the year, the operating profit
margin declined 7%, of which 2% was due to
pricing and utilization, 2.5% due to increased
maintenance expenses and 2.5% due to the growth
in the lease fleet and marketing expenses.

Revenues from the sale of railcars from the
lease fleet were $4.8 million in the twelve months
ended December 31, 2002 and $22.5 million in
2001. Operating profits on these sales were
$1.6 million for the twelve months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2002 and $2.8 million in 2001.

All Other

Revenues in All Other decreased to $39.5 mil-
lion in the twelve months ended December 31,
2002 from $106.0 million for the twelve months
ended December 31, 2001. This decrease is due to
discontinuing the concrete mixer and related prod-
ucts business of $9.5 million in 2001. A decline in
the structural tower business of $50.4 million also
contributed to lower revenues.

Operating loss was $5.7 million for the twelve
months ended December 31, 2002, and $35.8 mil-
lion in the same period in 2001. Restructuring
charges included in the twelve months ended
December 31, 2001 were $17.9 million primarily
related to exiting the concrete mixer and related
products business referred to above and environ-
mental liabilities. Excluding restructuring charges, a
larger operating loss was recorded in the same
period in 2001 due primarily to operating losses
associated with concrete mixer and related products
business.

Unusual Charges

During the twelve months ended December 31,
2001, we recorded special pretax charges of ap-
proximately $122.2 million, $86.1 million net of tax
or $2.25 per share, related primarily to restructuring
our Rail Group in connection with the Thrall
merger, additional plant closings, severance, asset
write downs and a litigation reserve for an adverse
jury verdict announced May 14, 2001. Of these
charges, $120.1 million were charged to operating




profit. These charges are reflected in the following
income statement categories and segments for the
twelve months ended December 31, 2001. (in

millions).

Railcar
Leasing &
Construction Infand Industrial Management Corporate &
Rail Products Barge Products Services Other Total

Cost of revenues............... $92.0 $0.8 $— $— $— $17.9 $110.7
Selling, engineering &

administrative ............... 5.5 0.1 — = = 3.8 9.4
Charged to operating profit ...... $97.5 $0.9 $— $— $— 217 $120.1

Il

During the nine months ended December 31,
2001, we recorded special pretax charges of ap-
proximately $66.4 million, $50.4 million net of tax
or $1.30 per share, related primarily to restructuring
our Rail Group in connection with the Thrall

merger and other matters. Of these charges,

$64.3 million were charged to operating profit.
These charges are reflected in the following income
statement categories and segments (in millions).

Railcar
Leasing &
Construction Inland Industrial Management Corporate &

Rail Products Barge Products Services Other Total

Cost of revenues................ $46.1 $0.8 $— $— $— $99 $56.8
Selling, engineering &

AQMINIStrative . . ... ........... 4.2 0.1 - = — 3.2 7.5

Charged to operating profit ....... $50.3 $0.9 $— $— $— $13.1 $64.3

|
|

Unusual charges reported in other expenses
amounted to $2.1 million primarily for the write
down of equity investments during the twelve
months and nine months ended December 31, 2001.

During the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001,
we recorded pre-tax charges of approximately
$173.3 million, $110.9 million net of tax or

$2.96 per share, primarily related to the restructur-
ing of our Rail Group, investment and asset write
downs, litigation reserves and other charges. Of
these charges, $140.9 million were charged to
operating profit. These charges are reflected in the
following income statement categories and segments
(in millions):

Railcar
Leasing &
Construction Inland Industrial Management Corporate &
Rail Preducts Barge Products Services Other Total

Cost of revenues . .............. $73.7 $13.7 $4.4 $0.7 $— $32.8 $125.3
Selling, engineering &

administrative .. ............. 6.7 — = = = 8.9 15.6
Charged to operating profit ... ... $80.4 $13.7 $4.4 $0.7 $S— 41.7 $140.9

|
|

Unusual charges reported in other expenses
amounted to $32.4 million primarily for the write
down of equity investments in fiscal year 2001.

Unusual charges of $55.8 million related to the
three months ended March 31, 2001 are included in
both the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001 and the
twelve months ended December 31, 2001 amounts.
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Liquidity and Capital Resources
2003 Financing Activity

In June 2003, we issued 600 shares of
Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock.
Each Share of Series B preferred stock has an
initial liquidation value of $100,000 per share. The
liquidation value, plus accrued but unpaid divi-
dends, is payable on June 25, 2008, the mandatory
redemption date, at our option in cash or in shares




of common stock valued at 90% of the then current
market price of our common stock. Each share of
Series B preferred stock may be converted at any
time at the option of the holder into shares of our
common stock, based on the initial conversion price
of $22.46 per share, which is the equivalent to
4,452 shares of common stock for each $100,000
initial liquidation preference. Holders of the Se-
ries B preferred stock are entitled to receive
dividends payable semi-annually, on July 1 and
January 1 of each year, beginning January 1, 2004
at an annual rate of 4.5% of the liquidation
preference. We may, at our option, pay dividends
either in cash or in shares of our common stock at
the then current market price. All dividends paid
through January 2004 have been paid in cash. The
holders of Series B preferred stock are entitled to
vote with the holders of the common stock on an
as-if converted basis on all matters brought before
the stockholders. The Series B preferred stock has
been classified outside the Stockholders’ Equity
section because there is not absolute assurance that
the number of authorized and unissued common
shares would be adequate to redeem the Series B
preferred stock. At December 31, 2003, the number
of shares authorized and unissued would be ade-
quate to redeem the Series B preferred stock as
long as the market value of our common stock was
at least $1.37 per share.

In August 2003, Trinity Industries Leasing
Company expanded its $200.0 million non-recourse
warehouse facility to finance or refinance railcars
acquired or owned by TILC to $300.0 million.
TILC also extended the term through August 2004
and unless renewed would be payable in three equal
installments in March 2005, September 2005, and
March 2006. Advances under the facility bear
interest at LIBOR plus 1.375% (2.545% at Decem-
ber 31, 2003). At December 31, 2003, $228.9 mil-
lion was available under this facility.

In September 2003, we modified the terms of
our $425.0 million secured credit agreement. We
modified the debt covenants under the agreement to
separate our leasing and manufacturing operations
for debt compliance purposes and paid off
$25.0 million of the 5-year term commitment. The
agreement calls for quarterly payments of principal
on the term debt in the amount of $375,000
beginning September 30, 2002 through June 30,
2006 and $36.0 million beginning on September 30,
2006 and ending on the maturity date. Amounts
borrowed under the revolving commitment bear
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interest at LIBOR plus 2.25% (there were no
borrowings on December 31, 2003). Amounts
borrowed under the term commitment bear interest
at LIBOR plus 3.25% (4.40% at December 31,
2003). At December 31, 2003, $122.8 million was
borrowed under this agreement. At December 31,
2003, the most restrictive of the debt covenants
based on trailing twelve month calculations as
defined by the debt agreements allows for approxi-
mately $73.9 million additional principal and ap-
proximately $8.1 million and $10.5 million
additional annual interest expense for leasing and
manufacturing operations, respectively.

During 2004, we will consider restructuring
and/or refinancing certain debt agreements if we
believe it would be in the best interests of the
Company.

Credit Ratings

On July 2, 2003, Moody’s Investors Services
lowered our corporate credit rating to Ba2 with
stable outlook. This downgrade in our credit rating
had the effect of increasing the interest rate on the
revolving commitment under our bank lines by Ya%.
We had no borrowings under our revolver as of
December 31, 2003. The change in interest rate on
the revolver, combined with the change in interest
rates on our term loans associated with the Decem-
ber 30, 2002 Standard & Poor’s rating change to
BB with stable outlook, restricted up to $12.0 mil-
lion of future cash flows from our off balance sheet
railcar financing arrangement, and in the current
environment, could impact interest rates on any new
financing arrangements but will not result in accel-
eration of any obligations. Any further downgrade
by either Standard & Poor’s or Moody Investors
Service would not result in any further increase in
interest rates or acceleration of obligations under
our existing bank lines.

Cash Flows

Operating Activities. Net cash provided by
operating activities for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 was $114.9 million compared to
$120.7 million for the same period in 2002. Net
cash provided by operating activities in 2003 was
impacted by the collection of approximately
$73.8 million in income tax refunds. Net cash
provided by operating activities in 2002 was
impacted by decreasing working capital needs,




which was reflected in the downturn of the business
in 2002.

Investing Activities. Net cash required by
investing activities for the year ended December 31,
2003 was $40.9 million compared to $151.1 million
for the comparable period of 2002.

The increase in capital spending for the
Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group
for 2003 is reflective of additions made to the lease
fleet of $264.7 million compared to $134.5 million
in 2002. Other capital expenditures by other seg-
ments in 2003 totaled $20.2 million compared to
$37.7 million in 2002. Proceeds from the sale of
property, plant and equipment for the year ended
December 31, 2003 of $251.6 million was com-
posed primarily of the sale of railcars from the
lease fleet and other assets, compared to the same
period in 2002 of $22.5 million which was com-
posed primarily of the sale of closed facilities.
During 2003, we had six acquisitions primarily in
the Construction Products Group with a combined
purchase price, net of cash acquired, of $7.6 mil-
lion, compared to $1.4 million, net of cash acquired
in 2002.

Financing Activities. Cash required for fi-
nancing activities during the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 was $47.1 million compared to cash
provided by financing activities of $27.3 million for
the comparable period of 2002. During 2003 our
financing activities included cash proceeds of
$57.6 million from the issuance of the Series B
Redeemable Convertible Preferred Stock. For the
year ended December 31, 2003, debt was reduced
by $93.7 million.

Off Balance Sheet Arrangements

The Railcar Leasing and Management Services
Group (““Leasing Group™’) has completed a series
of financing transactions. During the nine months
ended December 31, 2001, the Leasing Group
completed a lease arrangement for $199.0 million
in railcars. The Leasing Group sold the railcars to
an independent trust. The trust financed the
purchase of the railcars with $151.3 million in debt
and $47.7 million in equity provided by a large
independent financial institution. The equity partici-
pant in the trust is considered to be the primary
beneficiary of the trust. The Leasing Group’s
primary liability is its commitments on the operat-
ing leases discussed below. An independent trustee
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for the trust has authority for appointment of the
railcar fleet manager.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the
Leasing Group completed another transaction
whereby $235.0 million of railcars were sold to
three separate owner trusts. Two of the trusts
financed the purchase of the railcars with
$155.0 million in debt and $45.0 million in third
party equity. The equity participants in the two
trusts are the primary beneficiaries of the trusts.
The remaining trust equity was capitalized with a
contribution of $9.5 million from the Leasing
Group and outside debt of $25.6 million (see Notes
9 and 10 of our Consolidated Financial Statements).
Because the Leasing Group is currently the sole
equity participant of the third trust, the Leasing
Group is the primary beneficiary and therefore the
trust is currently included in the consolidated
financial statements. When an outside equity inves-
tor purchases the equity position in the third trust,
it is anticipated that the Leasing Group will no
longer be the primary beneficiary and the third trust
will no longer be consolidated.

The Leasing Group, through newly formed,
wholly owned qualified subsidiaries, leased railcars
from the trusts under operating leases with terms of
22 years, and subleased the railcars to independent
third party customers under shorter term operating
leases. These qualified subsidiaries had total assets
as of December 31, 2002 of $53.9 million and as
of December 31, 2003 $111.0 million including
cash of $31.8 million, of which $6.6 million was
collateral for the equity participant of one of the
trusts, and Leasing Group railcars of $70.7 million.
The cash (other than the $6.6 million) and railcars
are pledged to collateralize the lease obligations to
the trusts and are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. We do not
guarantee the performance of the subsidiaries’ lease
obligations. Future operating lease obligations of
the Leasing Group’s subsidiaries under the lease
agreements are as follows (in millions): 2004 —
$37.4; 2005 — $36.6; 2006 — $34.2; 2007 —
$33.5; 2008 — $33.4 and $463.0 thereafter. Future
minimum rental revenues from subleased railcars as
of December 31, 2003 are as follows (in millions);
2004 — $46.2; 2005 — $41.5; 2006 — $36.1;

2007 — $29.3; 2008 — $23.8 and $140.2 thereafter.

Under the terms of the operating lease agree-
ments, the Leasing Group has the option to
purchase at a predetermined, fixed price, certain of




the railcars from the trusts in 2017 and other
railcars in 2018. The Leasing Group also has
options to purchase the railcars at the end of the
respective lease agreements in 2023 and 2025 at the
then fair market value of the railcars as determined
by a third party, independent appraisal. At the
expiration of the operating lease agreements, we
have no further obligations thereunder.

The Leasing Group, under the terms of the
servicing and remarketing agreements, is required
to endeavor, consistent with customary commercial
practice as would be used by a prudent person, to
maintain railcars under lease for the benefit of the
trusts. The Leasing Group also receives manage-
ment fees under the terms of the agreements.
Certain ratios and cash deposits must be maintained
by the Leasing Group’s subsidiaries in order for
excess cash flow, as defined in the agreements,
from the lease to third parties, to be available to
Trinity.

The sales of the railcars by us to the trusts
were accounted for as a sale/leaseback transaction.
No revenue or profit was recorded at the time of
the transactions and all profit was deferred and is
being amortized over the terms of the operating

Contractual Obligations and Commercial Commitments

As of December 31, 2003, we had the following contractual obligations.

Contractual Obligations

Debt — Recourse, excluding interest. ................

Capital lease obligations
Operating leases
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1 Year 2-3 4-5 After
Total or Less Years Years S Years
(in millions)

... $2980 $§ 22 %1253 51049  $65.6
R 0.5 0.2 0.3 — —
A 29.9 8.9 11.4 7.0 2.6
.. 2742 273.0 1.2 — —
cen 21.3 21.3 — — —
ce 46.8 16.9 234 6.5 —
... $670.7 $3225 $161.6 $1184  $68.2

(1) Non-cancelable purchase obligations are primarily for steel purchases.

leases. Neither the assets, the liabilities, nor equity
of the trusts are reflected on our balance sheet
except for the one trust where we are currently the
primary beneficiary.

Employee Retirement Plans

As disclosed in note 13 of our Consolidated
Financial Statements, the projected benefit obliga-
tion for the employee retirement plans exceed the
plans’ assets by $64.9 million as of December 31,
2003 as compared to $74.2 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2002. Approximately $27 million of the
change was due to return on plan assets offset by
$18 million due to changing the obligation discount
rate used in the actuarial assumptions to 6.25%
from a previous rate of 6.75%. Employer contribu-
tions for the year ending December 31, 2004 are
expected to be $21.3 million compared to $9.7 mil-
lion for the year ended December 31, 2003.

Future Operating Requirements

We expect to finance future operating require-
ments with cash flows from operations, and depend-
ing on market conditions, long-term and short-term
debt and privately placed equity.

Payments Due By Period




Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

Management’s Discussion and Analysis of
Financial Condition and Results of Operations
discusses our consolidated financial statements,
which have been prepared in accordance with
accounting principles generally accepted in the
United States. The preparation of these consolidated
financial statements requires management to make
estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and the disclosure
of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the
financial statements and the reported amounts of
revenues and expenses during the reporting period.
On an on-going basis, management evaluates its
estimates and judgments, including those related to
bad debts, inventories, property, plant and equip-
ment, goodwill, income taxes, warranty obligations,
insurance, restructuring costs, and contingencies and
litigation. Management bases its estimates and
judgments on historical experience and on various
other factors that are believed to be reasonable
under the circumstances, the results of which form
the basis for making judgments about the carrying
values of assets and liabilities that are not readily
apparent from other sources. Actual results may
differ from these estimates under different assump-
tions or conditions.

We believe the following critical accounting
policies, among others, affect our more significant
judgments and estimates used in the preparation of
our consolidated financial statements.

Inventory

We are required to state our inventories at the
lower of cost or market. In assessing the ultimate
realization of inventories, we are required to make
judgments as to future demand requirements and
compare that with the current or committed inven-
tory levels. We have recorded significant changes in
inventory carrying values in recent periods due to
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As of December 31, 2003, we had the following other commercial commitments (in millions):

Amount of Commitment Expiration

Total Per Period
Amounts 1 Year 2-3 4-5 After
Other Commercial Commitments Committed or Less Years Years 5 Years
Debt — Non-recourse, excluding interest. .............. $ 96.7 $ 15 $725 $23 $204
Letters of Credit . ......... ... ... .. ... ... .. i, 116.4 106.1 7.2 — 3.1
Leasing Group — Operating leases ................... 638.1 374 70.8 66.9 463.0

$851.2 $145.0 $150.5 $69.2  $486.5

discontinuance of product lines as well as changes
in market conditions due to changes in demand
requirements. It is possible that changes in required
inventory reserves may continue to occur in the
future due to current market conditions in the
railcar business.

Long-lived Assets

We periodically evaluate the carrying value of
long-lived assets to be held and used for potential
impairment. The carrying value of a long-lived
asset to be held and used is considered impaired
when the carrying value is not recoverable and the
fair value of the asset is less than its carrying value.
Fair value is determined primarily using the antici-
pated cash flows discounted at a rate commensurate
with the risks involved. Impairment losses on long-
lived assets held for sale are determined in a similar
manner, except that fair values are reduced for the
estimated cost to dispose of the assets.

Goodwill

We are required, at least annually, to evaluate
goodwill related to acquired businesses for potential
impairment indicators that are based on legal
factors, market conditions in the United States and
Europe and operational performance of our acquired
businesses.

Future events could cause us to conclude that
impairment indicators exist and that goodwill asso-
ciated with our acquired businesses is impaired.
Any resulting impairment loss could have a mate-
rial adverse impact on our financial condition and
results of operations.

Warranties

We provide for the estimated cost of product
warranties at the time we recognize revenue. We
base our estimates on historical warranty claims.
We also provide for specifically identified warranty




obligations. Should actual claim rates differ from
our estimates, revisions to the estimated warranty
liability would be required.

Insurance

We are self-insured for workers’ compensation
claims. A third-party administrator processes all
such claims. We accrue our workers’ compensation
liability based upon independent actuarial studies.
To the extent actuarial assumptions change and
claims experience rates differ from historical rates,
our liability may change.

Contingencies and Litigation

We are currently involved in certain legal
proceedings. As discussed in Note 17 of our
consolidated financial statements, as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003, we have accrued our estimate of the
probable settlement or judgment costs for the
resolution of these claims. This estimate has been
developed in consultation with outside counsel
handling our defense in these matters and is based
upon an analysis of potential results, assuming a
combination of litigation and settlement strategies.
We do not believe these proceedings will have a
material adverse effect on our consolidated financial
position. It is possible, however, that future results
of operations for any particular quarterly or annual
period could be materially affected by changes in
our assumptions related to these proceedings.

Environmental

We are involved in various proceedings related
to environmental matters. We have provided
reserves to cover probable and estimable liabilities
with respect to such proceedings, taking into
account currently available information and our
contractual rights of indemnification. However, esti-
mates of future response costs are necessarily
imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no assurance
that we will not become involved in future litigation
or other proceedings or, if we were found to be
responsible or liable in any litigation or proceeding,
that such costs would not be material to us.

Forward-Looking Statements

Some statements in this Form 10-K (or other-
wise made by the Company or on the Company’s
behalf from time to time in other reports, filing
with the Securities and Exchange Commission,
news releases, conferences, World Wide Web post-
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ings or otherwise) which are not historical facts,
may be ‘“‘forward-looking statements” within the
meaning of Section 21E of the Securities Exchange
Act of 1934 and the Private Securities Litigation
Reform Act of 1995, Forward-looking statements
include statements about Trinity’s estimate, expecta-
tions, beliefs, intentions or strategies for the future,
and the assumptions underlying these forward-
looking statements. Trinity uses the words “‘antici-
pates,” “‘believes,” “estimates,” “expects,” “in-
tends,” ““forecasts,” “may,” “will,” “should,” and
similar expressions to identify these forward-look-
ing statements. Forward-looking statements involve
risks and uncertainties that could cause actual
results to differ materially from historical experi-
ence of our present expectations. Factors that could
cause these differences include, but are not limited
to:

LIS LAY

o market conditions and demand for our products;

o the cyclical nature of both the railcar and barge
industries;

o variations in weather in areas where construction
products are sold and used,

o the timing of introduction of new products;
o the timing of customer orders;

o price changes;

o changes in mix of products sold;

o the extent of utilization of manufacturing
capacity;

o availability and costs of component parts, sup-
plies and raw materials;

° competition and other competitive factors;
o changing technologies;
° steel prices;

o surcharges added to fixed pricing agreements for
raw materials,

° interest rates and capital costs;

o long-term funding of our leasing warehouse
facility;

° taxes;

° the stability of the governments and political and

business conditions in certain foreign countries,
particularly Mexico and Romania;




° changes in import and export quotas and
regulations;

° business conditions in emerging economies;
o results of litigation; and
o legal, regulatory and environmental issues.

Any forward-looking statement speaks only as
of the date on which such statement is made.
Trinity undertakes no obligation to update any
forward-looking statement to reflect events or cir-
cumstances after the date on which such statement
is made.

Additional Factors That May Affect Future
Results. We caution you that there are risks and
uncertainties that could cause our actual results to
be materially different from those indicated by
forward-looking statements that we make from time
to time in filings with the Securities and Exchange
Commission, news releases, reports, proxy state-
ments, registration statements and other written
communications, as well as oral forward-looking
statements made from time to time by representa-
tives of our Company. These risks and uncertainties
include, but are not limited to, those risks described
below. Additional risks and uncertainties not pres-
ently known to us or that we currently deem
immaterial also may impair our business operations.
The cautionary statements below discuss important
factors that could cause our business, financial
condition, operating results and cash flows to be
materially adversely affected.

The cyclical nature of our business results in
lower revenues during economic downturns. We
operate in cyclical industries. Downturns in overall
economic conditions usually have a significant
adverse effect on cyclical industries due to a
decreased demand for new and replacement prod-
ucts. Decreased demand could continue to result in
lower sales volumes, lower prices and/or a loss of
profits. The railcar industry recently experienced a
deep down cycle and operated with a minimal
backlog. If this down cycle were to return we could
experience increased losses and could make plant
closures, suspend production and incur related
costs.

Litigation claims could adversely affect our
operating results. We and our subsidiaries are
currently and may from time to time be involved in
various legal proceedings arising out of our opera-
tions. In one such legal proceeding, we and our
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wholly owned subsidiary, Trinity Marine Products,
or TMP, have been named co-defendants in six
separate lawsuits filed by certain purchasers of our
inland barges. These claims assert damages arising
from alleged defects in coating materials supplied by
a co-defendant and coatings application workman-
ship by TMP. The plaintiffs in these cases seek
compensatory and punitive damages and/or rescission
of the barge purchase contracts. In one of the six
cases, the plaintiff has petitioned the court for
certification of a class, which if certified by the court
could potentially increase the total number of barges
involved in the litigation. Absent class certification in
this case, the other five suits involve 48 tank barges
sold at an approximate average price of $1.4 million,
and 140 hopper barges sold at an approximate
average price of $280,000. In addition, as of
February 15, 2004, two of the plaintiffs owed TMP
approximately $11.5 million related to contracts for
barges not involved in the litigation, of which

$10.5 million was past due. In October 2003, we
entered into a settlement agreement with one of
these purchasers, pursuant to which our leasing
subsidiary purchased 11 barges leased to a barge
operator under long-term bareboat charter agree-
ments for $19.1 million and succeeded the purchaser
as lessor. The purchase price approximated the
estimated fair market value of the operating leases
and residual value of the barges. In an unrelated
claim, we filed a declaratory judgment action against
purchasers of certain of our inland barges, coating
manufacturers and these manufacturers’ insurance
carriers with respect to TMP’s rights and obligations
regarding 65 tank barges sold to such purchasers. In
December 2003, these purchasers filed a reconven-
tional demand for alleged coating defects, claiming
$6.5 million in actual damages and $10 million in
punitive damages.

The transportation of commodities by railcar or
barge raises potential risks in the event of a
derailment, spill or other accident. Generally, liabil-
ity under existing law in the United States for a
derailment, spill or other accident depends on the
negligence of the party, such as the railroad, the
shipper or the manufacturer of the railcar or its
components. However, for certain hazardous com-
modities being shipped, strict liability concepts may
apply.

We have appealed a final judgment in the
amount of $33.9 million (inclusive of fees, costs
and judgment interest) against Transit Mix Concrete
and Materials Company, Inc., our wholly owned




subsidiary, relating to an employee of an indepen-
dent contractor who died following an accident that
occurred while working at one of our manufactur-
ing facilities. We believe we are insured for liability
in this case, if any, in excess of $3.0 million.

We are also involved in other claims and
lawsuits incidental to our current and former
subsidiaries’ businesses. Based on information cur-
rently available to us, it is management’s opinion
that our ultimate liability, if any, for such claims
and lawsuits, including those matters associated
with our use of products manufactured by others
and alleged to contain asbestos, in the aggregate
will not have a material adverse effect on our
business, operations or overall financial condition.
However, resolutions of claims or lawsuits by
settlement or otherwise could have a significant
impact on our operating results for the reporting
period in which any such resolution occurs.

While we maintain reserves and liability insur-
ance at coverage levels based upon commercial
norms in our industries, we cannot assure you that
our reserves will be adequate to cover these claims
or lawsuits or any future claims or lawsuits arising
from our businesses, and that any such claims or
lawsuits will not have a material adverse effect on
our business, operations or overall financial condi-
tion. See “Business — Legal Proceedings.”

Increases in the price and demand for steel
could adversely affect our operating results. The
principal material used by us in our railcar, inland
barge and industrial products operating segments is
steel. At the current time, the price of steel in the
United States is increasing due to several factors.
Primary causes are the significant increase in scrap
prices, increased US demand, lack of foreign
imports, reduced capacity due to consolidation and
scarcity of other raw inputs. Raw inputs, especially
scrap, are in tight supply due to foreign demand,
primarily from China. China is absorbing not only
raw inputs but also significant amounts of global
supply. US imports are also limited because of the
weak US dollar and the significant increase in
global freight rates. Spot market pricing for plate
products and hot-rolied coil has shown a substantial
increase over the last six months. Some of our steel
suppliers have implemented surcharges based on
rising steel prices.

These steel market issues are also negatively
impacting the price and availability of key railcar
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and barge components, many of which are manu-
factured predominantly through the use of scrap or
steel. Many of our suppliers of subassemblies and
parts are smaller companies which may experience
higher steel prices and limited access in times of
tight supply. Also, due to consolidation and chal-
lenging industry conditions, there are only one
major and two smaller US suppliers of large
railroad castings for freightcars. While we believe
we have contracts and other relationships in place
sufficient to meet our current product forecasts, any
unanticipated interruption in our supply chain or
further raw material price increases would have an
impact on both our margins and production sched-
ules as we work to meet market demands. See

“— Business — Raw materials and suppliers.”

We have potential exposure to environmental
liabilities, which may increase costs and lower
profitability. Our operations are subject to exten-
sive and frequently changing federal, state and local
environmental laws and regulations, including those
dealing with air quality and the handling and
disposal of waste products, fuel products and
hazardous substances. In particular, we may incur
remediation costs and other related expenses
because:

o some of our manufacturing facilities were con-
structed and operated before the adoption of
current environmental laws and the institution of
compliance practices; and

o some of the products that we manufacture are
used to transport hazardous materials.

Furthermore, although we intend to conduct
appropriate due diligence with respect to environ-
mental matters in connection with future acquisi-
tions, we may be unable to identify or be
indemnified for all potential environmental liabili-
ties relating to any acquired business. Environmen-
tal liabilities incurred by us, if not covered by
adequate insurance or indemnification, will increase
our respective costs and have a negative impact on
our profitability.

We compete in highly competitive industries,
which may impact our respective financial results.
We face aggressive competition in all geographic
markets and each industry sector in which we
operate. As a result, competition on pricing is often
intense. The effect of this competition could reduce




our revenues, limit our ability to grow, increase
pricing pressure on our products, and otherwise
affect our financial results.

If our railcar leasing subsidiary’s inability to
obtain acceptable long-term financing of its railcar
lease fleet could adversely effect our operating
results. Trinity Industries Leasing Company, or
TILC, our wholly owned captive leasing subsidiary,
uses borrowings under a warehouse facility to
initially finance the railcars it purchases from us.
Borrowings under the warehouse facility are se-
cured by the specific railcars financed by such
borrowings and the underlying leases. The ware-
house facility is nonrecourse to us and to our other
subsidiaries other than Trinity Rail Leasing Trust II,
or TRL II, the special purpose subsidiary of TILC
that is the borrower under the warehouse facility.
Borrowings under the warehouse facility are availa-
ble through August 2004, and unless renewed
would be payable in three equal installments in
March 2005, September 2005, and March 2006. A
decline in the value of the railcars securing
borrowings under the warehouse facility, or in the
creditworthiness of the lessees under the associated
leases, could adversely impact TRL II's ability to
obtain long-term financing for such railcars. Addi-
tionally, fluctuations in interest rates from the time
TRL II purchases railcars with short-term borrow-
ings under the warehouse facility and the time
TRL II obtains permanent financing for such
railcars could adversely affect our profitability on
the leasing of the railcars and could have an
adverse impact on our financial results. If TRL II is
unable to obtain long-term financing to replace
borrowings under the warehouse facility, Trinity
may decide to satisfy TRL II’s indebtedness under
the warehouse facility or the lenders under the
warehouse facility may foreclose on the portion of
TRL II's lease fleet pledged to secure this facility.
As of December 31, 2003, there was $71.1 million
of indebtedness outstanding and $228.9 million of
additional borrowing capacity under the warehouse
facility.

We may be unable to remarket leased railcars
on favorable terms, which could adversely affect
our operating results. The profitability of our
railcar leasing business is dependent in part on our
ability to re-lease or sell railcars we own upon the
expiration of existing lease terms. Our ability to
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remarket leased railcars profitably is dependent
upon several factors, including, among others:

e the cost of and demand for newer models;

o the availability in the market generally of other
used or new railcars;

o the degree of obsolescence of the leased railcars;

o prevailing market and economic conditions, in-
cluding interest and inflation rates;

o the need for refurbishment;
o the cost of materials and labor; and
o volume of railcar traffic.

A downturn in the industries in which our lessees
operate and decreased demand for railcars could
also increase our exposure to remarket risk because
lessees may demand shorter lease terms, requiring
us to remarket leased railcars more frequently.
Furthermore, the resale market for previously leased
railcars has a limited number of potential buyers.
Our inability to re-lease or sell leased railcars on
favorable terms could adversely effect our operating
results.

Fluctuations in the supply of component parts
used in the production of our products could have a
material adverse effect on our ability to cost
effectively manufacture and sell our products. A
significant portion or our business depends on the
adequate supply of numerous specialty components
such as brakes, wheels, side frames and bolsters at
competitive prices. We depend on third-party sup-
pliers for a significant portion of our component
part needs. Specialty components comprise a signif-
icant portion of the production cost of each railcar
we manufacture. Due to consolidations and chal-
lenging industry conditions, the number of alterna-
tive suppliers of specialty components has declined
in recent years, though generally a minimum of
three suppliers continue to produce each type of
component we use in our products. While we
endeavor to be diligent in contractual relationships
with our suppliers, a significant decrease in the
availability of specialty components could materi-
ally increase our cost of goods sold or prevent us
from manufacturing our products on a timely basis.

Reductions in the availability of energy sup-
plies or an increase in energy costs may adversely
affect our operating results. 'We use natural gas at
our manufacturing facilities and use diesel fuel in
vehicles to transport our tank containers to custom-




ers and to operate our plant equipment. Over the
past three years, prices for natural gas have
fluctuated significantly. An outbreak or escalation
of hostilities between the United States and any
foreign power and, in particular, a prolonged armed
conflict in the Middle East, could result in a real or
perceived shortage of petroleumn and/or natural gas,
which could result in an increase in the cost of
natural gas prices or energy generally. Future
limitations on the availability or consumption of
petroleum products and/or an increase in energy
costs, particularly natural gas for plant operations
and diesel fuel for vehicles and plant equipment,
could have an adverse effect upon our ability to
conduct our business cost effectively. The likeli-
hood of such an occurrence or its duration, and its
ultimate effect on our operations, cannot be reason-
ably predicted at this time.

Our manufacturer’s warranties expose us to
potentially significant claims. We warrant the
workmanship and materials of many of our prod-
ucts under limited warranties. Accordingly, we may
be subject to significant warranty claims in the
future such as multiple claims based on one defect
repeated throughout our mass production process or
claims for which the cost of repairing the defective
part is highly disproportionate to the original cost
of the part. These types of warranty claims could
result in costly product recalls, significant repair
costs and damage to our reputation.

Increasing insurance claims and expenses
could adversely affect our operating results. The
nature of our business subjects us to product
liability, property damage and personal injury
claims, especially in connection with the repair and
manufacture of products that transport hazardous or
volatile materials. We maintain reserves and liabil-
ity insurance coverage at levels based upon com-
mercial norms in the industries in which we operate
and our historical claims experience. Over the last
several years, insurance carriers have raised premi-
ums for many companies operating in our indus-
tries. Increased premiums may further increase our
insurance expense as coverages expire or cause us
to raise our self-insured retention. If the number or
severity of claims for which we are self-insured
increases, we could suffer costs in excess of our
reserves. An unusually large liability claim or a
string of claims based on a failure repeated
throughout our mass production process may €x-
ceed our insurance coverage or result in direct
damages if we were unable or elected not to insure

29

against certain hazards because of high premiums
or other reasons. In addition, the availability of, and
our ability to collect on, insurance coverage is often
subject to factors beyond our control. Moreover,
any accident or incident involving us, even if we
are fully insured or not held to be liable, could
negatively affect our reputation among customers
and the public, thereby making it more difficult for
us to compete effectively, and could significantly
affect the cost and availability of insurance in the
future.

Risks related to our operations outside of the
United States could adversely impact our respective
operating results. Our operations outside of the
United States are subject to the risks associated
with cross-border business transactions and activi-
ties. Political, legal, trade or economic changes or
instability could limit or curtail our respective
foreign business activities and operations. Some
foreign countries where we operate have regulatory
authorities that regulate railroad safety, railcar
design and railcar component part design, perform-
ance and manufacture used on their railroad sys-
tems. If we fail to obtain and maintain certifications
of our railcars and railcar parts within the various
foreign countries where we operate, we may be
unable to market and sell our railcars in those
countries. In addition, unexpected changes in regu-
latory requirements, tariffs and other trade barriers,
more stringent rules relating to labor or the
environment, adverse tax consequences and price
exchange controls could limit operations and make
the manufacture and distribution of our products
difficult. Furthermore, any material change in the
quotas, regulations or duties on imports imposed by
the U.S. government and agencies or on exports by
the government of Mexico or its agencies could
affect our ability to export the railcars and propane
tanks that we manufacture in Mexico. Our Mexican
subsidiary currently purchases steel from a com-
pany operating under a judicial declaration of
suspension of payments. We had approximately
$23.7 million of funds on deposit, as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003, which are used along with other
funds from us to purchase steel. While our under-
standing of Mexican law is that all funds on deposit
are required to be returned to us regardless of
whether or not the supplier is able to operate under
the declaration of suspension of payments, the
uncertainty of the legal environment in these and
other areas could limit our ability to enforce our
rights effectively.




Because we do not have employment contracts
with our key management employees, we may not
be able to retain their services in the future. QOur
success depends on the continued services of our
key management employees, none of whom cur-
rently have employment agreements with us. Al-
though we have historically been successful in
retaining the services of our key management, we
may be unable to do so in the future. The loss of
the services of one or more key members of our
management team could result in increased costs
associated with attracting and retaining a replace-
ment and could disrupt our operations and result in
a loss of revenues.

Repercussions from terrorist activities or
armed conflict could harm our business. Terrorist
activities, anti-terrorist efforts and other armed
conflict involving the United States or its interests
abroad may adversely affect the United States and
global economies and could prevent us from
meeting our financial and other obligations. In
particular, the negative impacts of these events may
affect the industries in which we operate. This
could result in delays in or cancellations of the
purchase of our products or shortages in raw
materials or component parts. Any of these occur-
rences could have a significant adverse impact on
our operating results, revenues and costs.

If we fail to meet the regulatory requirements
applicable 1o the industries in which we operate,
our operations could be adversely affected. We
are subject to extensive regulation by governmental
regulatory and industry authorities. Our railcar
operations are subject to regulation by the Environ-
mental Protection Agency, the Research and Special
Programs Administration, a division of the Depart-
ment of Transportation; the Federal Railroad Ad-
ministration, a division of the Department of
Transportation, and the Association of American
Railroads. These organizations establish rules and
regulations for the railcar industry, including con-
struction specifications and standards for the design
and manufacture of railcars; mechanical, mainte-
nance and related standards for railcars; safety of
railroad equipment, tracks and operations; and
packaging and transportation of hazardous materi-
als. Future changes that affect compliance costs
may have a material adverse effect on financial
conditions and operations.

Our inland barge operations are subject to
regulation by the United States Coast Guard; the
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National Transportation Safety Board; the United
States Customs Service; the Maritime Administra-
tion of the United States Department of Transporta-
tion; and private industry organizations such as the
American Bureau of Shipping. These organizations
establish safety criteria, investigate vessel accidents
and recommend improved safety standards. Viola-
tions of these regulations and related laws can
result in substantial civil and criminal penalties as
well as injunctions curtailing operations.

Cur operations are also subject to regulation of
health and safety matters by the United States
Occupations Safety and Health Administration. We
believe that we employ appropriate precautions to
protect our employees and others from workplace
injuries and harmful exposure to materials handled
and managed at our facilities. However, claims may
be asserted against us for work-related illnesses or
injury, and our operations may be adversely af-
fected by the further adoption of occupational
health and safety regulations in the United States or
in foreign jurisdictions in which we operate. We are
unable to predict the ultimate cost of compliance
with these health and safety laws and regulations.
Accordingly, there can be no assurance that we will
not become involved in future litigation or other
proceedings or if we were found to be responsible
for liable in any litigation or proceedings, that such
costs would not be material to us.

We may be required to reduce our inventory
carrying values, which would negatively impact our
financial results. We are required to record our
inventories at the lower of cost or market. In
assessing the ultimate realization of inventories, we
are required to make judgments as to future
demand requirements and compare that with the
current or committed inventory levels. We have
recorded reductions in inventory carrying values in
recent periods due to discontinuance of product
lines as well as changes in market conditions due to
changes in demand requirements. We may be
required to reduce inventory carrying values in the
future due to a decline in market conditions in the
railcar business, which could have an adverse effect
on our financial condition and results of operations.

We may be required to reduce the value of our
long-lived assets and/or goodwill, which would
adversely impact our financial condition and results
of operations. 'We periodically evaluate the carry-
ing values of our long-lived assets to be held and
used for potential impairment. The carrying value




of a long-lived asset to be held and used is
considered impaired when the fair value of the asset
is less than the carrying value. Fair value is
determined primarily using the anticipated cash
flows discounted at a rate commensurate with the
risks involved. Impairment losses on long-lived
assets held for sale are determined in a similar
manner, except that fair values are reduced for the
estimated cost to dispose of the assets. In addition,
we are required, at least annually, to evaluate
goodwill related to acquired businesses for potential
impairment indicators that are based on legal
factors, market conditions in the United States and
Europe and operational performance of our acquired
businesses. Future events could cause us to con-
clude that impairment indicators exist and that
goodwill associated with our acquired businesses is
impaired. Any resulting impairment loss related to
reductions in the value of our long-lived assets or
our goodwill would have an adverse impact on our
financial condition and results of operations.

We may incur increased costs due to fluctua-
tions in interest rates and foreign currency ex-
change rates. We are exposed to risks associated
with fluctuations in interest rates and changes in
foreign currency exchange rates. We seek to mini-
mize these risks, when considered appropriate,
through the use of currency and interest rate hedges
and similar financial instruments and other activi-
ties, although these measures may not be imple-
mented or effective. Any material and untimely
changes in interest rates or exchange rates could
result in significant losses to us.

Additional Information. Our Internet web-
site address is www.trin.net. Information on the
website is available “‘free of charge”. We make
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available on our website our annual report on

Form 10-K, quarterly reports on Form 10-Q, current
reports on Form 8-K, and any amendments thereto,
as soon as reasonably practicable after such mate-
rial is filed with, or furnished to, the SEC.

[tem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclo-
sures About Market Risk

Our earnings are affected by changes in
interest rates due to the impact those changes have
on our variable rate debt obligations, which repre-
sented approximately 56% our total debt as of
December 31, 2003. We have hedged a portion of
this exposure with interest rate swaps leaving
approximately 18% of our total debt exposed to
fluctuations in interest rates. If interest rates average
one percentage point more in fiscal year 2004 than
they did during in 2003, our interest expense would
increase by approximately $0.7 million. In compari-
son, at December 31, 2002, we estimated that if
interest rates averaged one percentage point more in
fiscal year 2003 than they did during the year
ended December 31, 2002, interest expense would
have increased by approximately $3.1 million. The
impact of an increase in interest rates was deter-
mined based on the impact of the hypothetical
change in interest rates and scheduled principal
payments on our variable-rate debt obligations as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002.

In addition, we are subject to market risk
related to our net investments in our foreign
subsidiaries. The net investment in foreign subsidi-
aries as of December 31, 2003 is $110.9 million.
However, the impact of such market risk exposures
as a result of foreign exchange rate fluctuations has
not been material to us.
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Repert of Independent Auditors

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Trinity Industries, Inc.

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of Trinity Industries, Inc. as of
December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the related consolidated statements of operations, cash flows and
stockholders’ equity for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended
December 31, 2001. These financial statements are the responsibility of the Company’s management. Our
responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with auditing standards generally accepted in the United States.
These standards require that we plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
financial statements are free of material misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence
supporting the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements. An audit also includes assessing the
accounting principles used and significant estimates made by management, as well as the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the
consolidated financial position of Trinity Industries, Inc. at December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the
consolidated results of its operations and its cash flows for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and
the nine months ended December 31, 2001, in conformity with accounting principles generally accepted in
the United States.

ErnsT & Young LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 20, 2004
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Operations

Nine Months Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2001 2000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in millions except per share data)
Revenues...................... $1,432.8 $1,487.3 $1,766.5 $1,347.8 $1,485.6
Operating costs:
Cost of revenues. ............. 1,260.4 1,314.0 1,659.8 1,234.5 1,3314
Selling, engineering and
administrative expenses ... ... 159.0 162.6 181.3 129.7 162.1
1,419.4 1,476.6 1,841.1 1,364.2 1,493.5
Operating profit (loss) ........... 134 10.7 (74.6) (16.4) (7.9)
Other (income) expense:
Interest income . . ............. 0.7 (1.2) (3.9 (2.5) (5.5)
Interest expense .............. 349 36.3 29.3 21.7 213
Other,net ................... (6.5) — 2.6 4.9 30.5
27.7 35.1 28.0 24.1 46.3
Loss before income taxes ........ (14.3) (24.4) (102.6) (40.5) (54.2)
Provision (benefit) for income
taxes:
Current ................ ... (14.4) (60.8) (10.7) 33 17.8
Deferred .................... 10.1 56.0 (17.5) 9.1) (37.3)
(4.3) (4.8) (28.2) (5.8) (19.5)
Netloss...........ocovvnon... (10.0) (19.6) (74.4) 34.7) (34.7)
Dividends on Series B preferred
stock ... (1.6) — — — —
Net loss applicable to common
shareholders ................. $ (1L16) $ (19.6) $ (74.4) $ 347 $ (34.7)
Net loss per common share:
Basic. ..., $ (0.25) $ (0.43) $ (1.94) $ (0.90) $ (0.92)
Diluted ..................... $ (0.25) $ (043) $ (1.94) $ (0.90) $ (0.92)
Weighted average number of shares
outstanding:
Basic........ccoiiiiiiii, 45.6 45.3 38.3 38.7 37.6
Diluted ..................... 45.6 45.3 383 38.7 37.6

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Comnsolidated Balance Sheets

ASSETS
Cash and cash equivalents ......... ... ... ... ... i

Receivables (net of allowance for doubtful accounts of $7.7 at December 31,
2003 and $8.3 at December 31, 2002) .. ... .. i

Income tax receivable . ... ... .. . L
Inventories:
Raw materials and supplies . ........... ...
WOTK I PrOCESS . oo ittt et e e e e et e e e e e e
Finished goods . ... ... i

Property, plant and equipment, at COSt . ... ...ttt
Less accumulated depreciation . . ........ ...t

GoodWIll Lo
10 11413 g 111 - P

LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS® EQUITY

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities................... ... ... o
Debt:

RECOUISE . ..t e e

NN TECOUISE .\ vt vttt et e et et e e e e e

Deferred INCOME . .. oot e
Other Habilities . . . .o e e

Series B redeemable convertible preferred stock, no par value, $0.1 liquidation
VAIUE . e

Stockholders’ equity:
Preferred stock — 1.5 shares authorized and unissued . ....................

Common stock — shares issued and outstanding at December 31, 2003 —
50.9; at December 31, 2002 — 50.9 . ... ..

Capital in excess of par value ......... ... . ... ... . .. i
Retained arnings . .. ........uuntn it
Accumulated other comprehensive loss............ .. ... o i

Treasury stock (4.3 shares at December 31, 2003 and 5.0 shares at
December 31, 2002) . ... i e

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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December 31,

December 31,

2003 2002
(in millions)

$ 46.0 $ 191
198.1 168.2
— 50.0
158.4 115.9
60.0 423
39.6 55.1
258.0 213.3
1,627.1 1,565.4
(681.9) (604.4)
945.2 961.0
415.1 4113
145.5 133.6
$2,007.9 $1,956.5
$ 460.2 $ 396.0
298.5 375.1
96.7 113.8
395.2 488.9
322 16.8
58.7 53.2
946.3 954.9
57.8 —_
50.9 50.9
434.7 442.1
649.9 672.6
(27.3) (34.9)
(104.4) (129.1)
1,003.8 1,001.6
$2,007.9 $1,956.5




Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

Operating activities:
Netloss ..o i
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash
provided by operating activities:
Depreciation and amortization ..............
Deferred income taxes ....................
Gain on sale of property, plant, equipment and
otherassets ........... ...,
Unusual charges .........................
Other ....... ... . .. .. . i
Changes 1n assets and liabilities, net of effects
from acquisitions and unusual charges:
(Increase) decrease in receivables .........
Decrease (increase) in tax receivables ... ...
(Increase) decrease in inventories..........
(Increase) decrease in other assets . ........
Increase (decrease) in accounts payable and
accrued liabilities ....................
(Decrease) increase in other liabilities . . . . ..

Total adjustments. .. ..................

Net cash provided by operating activities .........

Investing activities:

Proceeds from sale of property, plant, equipment
and other assets .. ............. .. ... .....

Capital expenditures — lease subsidiary ........

Capital expenditures —other .................

Payment for purchase of acquisitions, net of cash
acquired . ... ...

Net cash required by investing activities .. ... ...

Financing activities:

Issuance of common stock ...................
Issuance of redeemable preferred stock .........
Net borrowings (repayments) of short-term debt

Payments toretire debt .. ....................
Proceeds from issuance of debt ...............
Stock repurchases ......... ... ... . ...
Dividends paid to common stockholders ........

Net cash provided (required) by financing
ACHVIEIES -« « vt oe e e e

Net increase (decrease) in cash and equivalents . . . .
Cash and equivalents at beginning of peried.......

Cash and equivalents at end of period............

Nine Months  Nine Months

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001 2001 2000
(unaudited) (unaudited)
(in millions)
$ (10.0) $ (19.6) $ (74.4) $ 347 $ (34.7)
85.6 90.7 85.5 66.2 69.8
10.1 56.0 (17.5) ©.n (37.3)
(10.0) 4.5) (2.5) (1.1) (9.8)
— — 122.2 66.4 117.5
2.6 53 1.6 2.5 1.9
(29.9) 26.3 58.1 88.7 122.9
50.0 (40.2) (9.8) 9.8) —
(44.7) 61.9 148.1 112.8 (59.6)
4.9 20.5 15.2 5.2) (53.7)
73.5 (55.9) (100.3) (80.3) (55.1)
(7.4) (19.8) 8.8 3.7 (5.9)
124.9 140.3 309.4 2348 90.7
114.9 120.7 235.0 200.1 56.0
251.6 22.5 195.2 188.2 55.8
(264.7) (134.5) (183.3) (86.9) (152.5)
(20.2) (37.7 (70.9) (46.4) (76.8)
(7.6) (1.4) (164.8) (165.0) (13.7)
(40.9) (151.1) (223.8) (110.1) (187.2)
— 31.2 — — —
57.6 — — — —
— — 524 (35.8) 235.5
(379.7) (786.1) (29.6) (25.5) (51.4)
286.0 798.7 — — —
— — _— — (34.6)
(11.0) (16.5) (26.6) (20.0) (20.4)
(47.1) 27.3 (3.8) (81.3) 129.1
26.9 (3.D 7.4 8.7 2.1
19.1 22.2 14.8 13.5 16.9
$ 46.0 $ 19.1 $ 222 $ 222 $ 148

Interest paid for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended December 31, 2001 was
$30.0, $26.9, and $22.3, respectively. Net taxes received for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the nine
months ended December 31, 2001 was $66.7, $15.5, and $3.9, respectively.

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.
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Trinity Industries, Inc. and Subsidiaries

Consolidated Statements of Stockholders’ Equity

Common  Common  Capital Accumulated
Shares Stock in Excess Other Treasury Total
(160,000,000 $1.00 Par of Par  Retained Comprehensive Treasury Steck At Stockholders’
Authorized) Value Value Earnings Loss Shares Cost Equity
(in millions except share and per share data)

Balance at March 31,2001 ........ 43,796,351 $43.8 $291.8 $759.4 $(21.1) (6,953,386) $(194.9) $ 879.0
Netloss ..............ovt.. — — — 34.7) —_ — — 347
Currency translation adjustments — — — —— 0.4) — — 0.4)
Unrealized loss on derivative

financial instruments ......... — — — — (4.5) — — 4.5)
Comprehensive net 1oss . ........ (39.6)
Cash dividends ($0.54 per

common share).............. — — — (21.3) —_ — —_— (21.3)
Stock issued for mergers and

acquisitions. ................ 7,150,000 7.2 175.8 — — 34,000 1.3 184.3
Other...............ovoviiin. — — 2.9) — — 310,864 9.9 7.0

Balance at December 31, 2001 .. ... 50,946,351 51.0 464.7 703.4 (26.0) (6,608,522) (183.7) 1,009.4
Netloss .......coooviiunnn... — — — (19.6) — — — (19.6)
Minimum pension liability

adjustment (net of tax) ....... — — — — (20.8) — — (20.8)
Currency translation adjustments

(netoftax) ................. —_ —_ —_ — 9.2 —_ —_ 9.2
Unrealized gain on derivative

financial instruments (net of

TAX) oot e — — — — 2.7 — — 2.7
Comprehensive net loss . ........ (28.5)
Cash dividends ($0.24 per

common share).............. —_ — — (11.2) — — —_ (11.2)
Stock issued .................. — — (19.9) — — 1,500,000 51.1 31.2
Other............... ..., (6,000) (0.1) (2.7) — — 67,813 3.5 0.7

Balance at December 31, 2002. . ... 50,940,351 50.9 442.1 672.6 (34.9) (5,040,709)  (129.1) 1,001.6
Netloss ..........coovnin.t. — — — (10.0) —_ — —_ (10.0)
Minimum pension liability

adjustment (net of tax) ....... _— — — — 7.0 — — 7.0
Currency translation adjustments

(netoftax) ................. —_ — — — 0.1) — — 0.1
Unrealized loss on derivative

financial instruments (net of

BAX) oo e — — —_ — 0.7 —_ — 0.7
Comprehensive net Ioss......... (2.4)
Cash dividends ($0.24 per

common share).............. — — — QLY — -— — 1.1
Dividends — Series B preferred

stock ... — — —_ (1.6) — — — (1.6)
Restricted shares issued......... — — (4.5) — — 356,685 11.2 6.7
Stock options exercised (including

tax benefit of $1.2) .......... — — 2.5) — — 401,791 12.7 10.2
Other.................co.... — — (0.4) — — 21,373 0.8 0.4

Balance at December 31, 2003 .. ... 50,940,351 $50.9 $434.7 $649.9 $(27.3) (4,260,860) $(104.4) $1,003.8

See accompanying notes to consolidated financial statements.

37




Trinity Industries, Ine. and Subsidiaries
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statememnts

Note 1. Summary of Significant Accounting
Policies

Principles of Consolidation

The financial statements of Trinity Industries,
Inc. and its consolidated subsidiaries (““Trinity” or
the “Company”’) include the accounts of all major-
ity owned subsidiaries. The equity method of
accounting is used for companies in which the
Company has significant influence and 50% or less
ownership. All significant intercompany accounts
and transactions have been eliminated.

Change in Year End

In September 2001 the Company changed its
year end from March 31 to December 31.

Revenue Recognition

The Company generally recognizes revenue
when products are shipped or services are provided.
Revenues for contracts providing for a large number
of units and few deliveries are recorded as the
individual units are produced, inspected and ac-
cepted by the customer. Revenues from construction
contracts are recorded using percentage of comple-
tion accounting, using incurred labor hours to
estimated total hours of the contract. Estimated
losses on contracts are recorded when determined.
Revenue from rentals and operating leases are
recorded monthly as the fees accrue. Fees for
shipping and handling are recorded as revenue.

Income Taxes

The liability method is used to account for
income taxes. Deferred income taxes are provided
for the temporary effects of differences in the
recognition of revenues and expenses for financial
statement and income tax reporting purposes. Valu-
ation allowances reduce deferred tax assets to an
amount that will more likely than not be realized.

Net Income (LLoss) Per Share

Basic net income (loss) per common share is
based on the weighted average number of common
shares outstanding for the period. The numerator is
net income (loss) applicable to common sharehold-
ers for the years ended December 31, 2003 and
2002 and for the nine months ended December 31,
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2001. The difference between the denominator in
the basic calculation and the denominator in the
diluted calculation is generally attributable to the
effect of employee stock options. Diluted loss per
common share for the years ended December 31,
2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended
December 31, 2001 is based only on the weighted
average number of common shares outstanding
during the period, as the inclusion of stock options
would have been antidilutive. The number of
antidilutive options for the year ended Decem-

ber 31, 2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended
December 31, 2001 were 342,545, 81,120, and
173,422, respectively. The Series B preferred stock
was antidilutive for the year ended December 31,
2003 and therefore not considered in the diluted net
income (loss) per common share calculation.

Financial Instruments

The Company considers all highly liquid debt
instruments purchased with a maturity of three
months or less to be cash equivalents.

Financial instruments which potentially subject
the Company to concentration of credit risk are
primarily cash investments and receivables. The
Company places its cash investments in investment
grade, short-term debt instruments and limits the
amount of credit exposure to any one commercial
issuer. Concentrations of credit risk with respect to
receivables are limited due to control procedures to
monitor the credit worthiness of customers, the
large number of customers in the Company’s
customer base, and their dispersion across different
industries and geographic areas. The Company
maintains an allowance for doubtful accounts based
upon the expected collectibility of all receivables.

The Company formally documents all hedging
instruments and assesses on an ongoing basis
whether hedging transactions are highly effective. It
is the Company’s policy not to speculate in
derivatives. All hedging instruments outstanding at
December 31, 2003 have been designated as cash
flow hedges and are considered highly effective.

Interest rate swap agreements are utilized to
reduce the impact of changes in interest rates on
certain debt. As of December 31, 2003, the
Company had six interest rate swap agreements
outstanding. These agreements have a total notional
amount of $150.0 million and expire from May
2005 to May 2006. The Company pays an average




fixed rate of 2.71% and receives a floating rate
based on the three-month LIBOR rates.

Inventories

Inventories are valued at the lower of cost or
market, with cost determined principally on the
specific identification method. Market is replace-
ment cost or net realizable value.

Property, Plant and Equipment

Depreciation and amortization are generally
computed by the straight-line method over the
estimated useful lives of the assets, generally 2 to
30 years. The costs of ordinary maintenance and
repair are charged to expense while renewals and
major replacements are capitalized.

The Company periodically evaluates the carry-
ing value of long-lived assets to be held and used
for potential impairment. The carrying value of a
long-lived asset to be held and used is considered
impaired when the carrying value is not recoverable
and the fair value of the asset is less than its
carrying value. Fair value is determined primarily
using the anticipated cash flows discounted at a rate
commensurate with the risks involved. Impairment
losses on long-lived assets held for sale are
determined in a similar manner, except that fair
values are reduced for the estimated cost to dispose
of the assets. In 2003, operating profit in the
Industrial Products Group was impacted by
$0.9 million related to the write down of long-lived
assets in Brazil.

Goodwill and Intangible Assets

Goodwill is tested by reporting unit at least
annually as of November for impairment by com-
paring their fair value to their book value. Intangi-
ble assets with defined useful lives, which as of
December 31, 2003 were $5.3 million, are amor-
tized over their estimated useful lives and are tested
annually for impairment.

Insurance

The Company is self-insured for workers’
compensation. A third party administrator is used to
process claims. The Company accrues the workers’
compensation liability based upon independent actu-
arial studies.
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Warranties

The Company provides for the estimated cost
of product warranties at the time revenue is
recognized and assesses the adequacy of the result-
ing reserves on a quarterly basis.

Foreign Currency Translation

Operations outside the United States prepare
financial statements in currencies other than the
United States Dollar; the income statement amounts
are translated at average exchange rates for the
year, while the assets and liabilities are translated at
year-end exchange rates. Translation adjustments
are accumulated as a separate component of stock-
holders’ equity and comprehensive loss except in
foreign countries where the functional currency is
considered highly inflationary. Total accumulated
currency adjustments (net of tax) recorded in other
comprehensive income (loss) was $12.5 million at
December 31, 2003.

Comprehensive Income (Loss)

Comprehensive income (loss) is defined as the
change in equity of a business enterprise during a
period from transactions and other events and
circumstances from non-owner sources. Comprehen-
sive income (loss) consists of net income (loss),
foreign currency translation adjustments, the effec-
tive unrealized portions of changes in fair value of
the Company’s derivative financial instruments and
the minimum pension liability adjustment. All
components are shown net of tax.

Stock-Based Compensation

The Company has elected to apply the ac-
counting provisions of Accounting Principles Board
Opinion No. 25, “Accounting for Stock Issued to
Employees,” (APB No. 25) and its interpretations
and, accordingly, no compensation cost has been
recorded for stock options. The effect of computing
compensation cost and the weighted average fair
value of options granted during the year ended
December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine months
ended December 31, 2001 using the Black-Scholes




option pricing method for stock options are shown
in the accompanying table.

Nine Months
Ended
December 31,
2001

Year Ended
December 31,
2002

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Pro forma (in millions):
Net loss applicable to

common shareholders,
asreported . ........

Add: Stock
compensation expense
related to restricted

$(11.6) $(19.6) $(34.7)

22 2.0 0.6

Deduct: Total stock-
based employee
compensation expense
determined under fair
value based method
for all awards, net of
related income tax
effects............. (6.2)

(7.9) (5.6)

Pro forma net loss
applicable to common

shareholders . ......... $(15.6) $(25.5) $(39.7)

Pro forma diluted share $(0.34) $(0.56) $(1.03)

Net loss applicable to
common shareholders
per diluted share — as
reported

............. $(0.25) $(0.43) 3$(0.90)

Black-Scholes
assumptions:

Expected option life
(years) 6.0
475%

1.1%

0.360

6.8

4.8%

3.7%
0.354

6.0

2.5%

1.4%
0.340

Risk-free interest rate ..
Dividend yield........
Common stock volatility

Estimated fair value per
share of options

granted . ........... $5.35 $ 8.36 $ 5.99

Management Estimates

The preparation of financial statements in
conformity with generally accepted accounting prin-
ciples requires management to make estimates and
assumptions that affect the reported amounts of
assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent
assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues
and expenses during the reporting period. Actual
results could differ from those estimates.

Reclassifications

Certain reclassifications have been made to
prior year statements to conform to the current
period presentation.
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Recent Accounting Proncuncements

During January 2003, the FASB issued Inter-
pretation No. 46 “Consolidation of Variable Interest
Entities” (FIN 46). The consolidation requirements
of FIN 46 apply immediately to variable interest
entities created after January 31, 2003 and apply to
existing variable interest entities in the first fiscal
year or interim periods beginning after June 15,
2003. In October 2003, the FASB agreed to a
broad-based deferral of the effective date for public
companies until the end of the periods ending after
December 15, 2003. Until now, one company
generally has included another entity in its consoli-
dated financial statements only if it controlled the
entity through voting interests. FIN 46 requires a
variable interest entity to be consolidated by a
company if that company is subject to a majority of
the risk of loss from the variable interest entity’s
activities or entitled to receive a majority of the
entity’s residual returns or both. A company that
consolidates a variable interest entity is called the
primary beneficiary of that entity. Certain of the
disclosure requirements apply in all financial state-
ments issued after January 31, 2003, regardless of
when the variable interest entity was established.
The Company has established four variable interest
entities to securitize railcars for lease to third
parties. The equity investors are the primary benefi-
ciaries of the entities and therefore three of the trust
entities are not required to be consolidated (see
Note 10). The remaining entity is consolidated as
of December 31, 2003.

In May 2003, the FASB issued Statement
No. 150, “Accounting for Certain Financial Instru-
ments with Characteristics of both Liabilities and
Equity” (SFAS 150). SFAS 150 establishes stan-
dards for how a company classifies and measures in
its statement of financial position certain financial
instruments with characteristics of both liabilities
and equity. It requires that a company classify a
financial instrument that is within its scope as a
liability (or an asset in some circumstances) be-
cause that financial instrument embodies an obliga-
tion of the issuer. SFAS 150 is effective for
financial instruments entered into or modified after
May 31, 2003, and otherwise is effective at the
beginning of the first period beginning after
June 15, 2003. The provisions of this statement did
not have an impact on the Company’s statement of
financial position.




Note 2. Segment Information

The Company reports operating results in the
following business segments: (1) the Rail Group,
which manufactures and sells railcars and compo-
nent parts; (2) the Construction Products Group
which manufactures and sells highway guardrail
and safety products, concrete and aggregates, gird-
ers and beams used in the construction of highway
and railway bridges and weld fittings used in
pressure piping systems; (3) the Inland Barge
Group which manufactures and sells barges and
related products for inland waterway services;

(4) the Industrial Products Group, which manufac-
tures and sells tank heads and pressure and non-
pressure containers for the storage and transporta-

tion of liquefied gases and other liquid and dry
products; and (5) the Railcar Leasing and Manage-
ment Services Group which provides fleet manage-
ment, maintenance and leasing services. Finally, All
Other includes the Company’s captive insurance
and transportation companies, structural towers, and
other peripheral businesses.

Sales from Rail Group to Railcar Leasing and
Management Services Group are recorded in the
Rail Group and eliminated in consolidation. Sales
of railcars from the lease fleet are included in the
Railcar Leasing and Management Services Group.
Sales between groups are recorded at prices compa-
rable to external customers.

The financial information for these segments is shown in the tables below. The Company operates
principally in the continental United States, Mexico, Romania, the United Kingdom, the Czech Republic and

Brazil.

Year Ended December 31, 2003

Operating
Revenues Profit Depreciation & Capital
Qutside  Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Rail Group....................... $ 4945 $2401 $ 7346 $(6.2) $ 8353 $18.2 $ 35
Construction Products Group ........ 488.8 1.1 489.9 37.5 2273 23.0 12.4
Inland Barge Group................ 170.6 — 170.6 4.7 66.2 28 1.5
Industrial Products Group ........... 120.7 4.1 124.8 8.4 90.4 4.4 1.5
Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group ................. 153.8 — 153.8 41.0 695.6 27.0 264.7
AllOther ........ ... ... . ...... 44 26.5 30.9 8.4) 26.9 34 0.3
Eliminations & Corporate Items...... — (271.8) (271.8)  (54.2) 66.2 6.8 1.0
Consolidated Total . . . .............. $14328 $ —  $14328 §134 $2,007.9 $85.6 $284.9
Year Ended December 31, 2002
Revenues Olif::f?tng Depreciation & Capital
QOutside  Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Raill Group ............ it $ 5043 $1251 $ 6294 $(41.5) $ 819.8 $20.7 $ 7.1
Construction Products Group . ....... 503.9 0.9 504.8 48.3 233.6 24.1 17.1
Inland Barge Group................ 2117 — 2117 4.7 71.0 3.2 1.8
Industrial Products Group . .......... 140.1 3.0 143.1 24 89.7 5.8 54
Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group ................. 114.7 — 114.7 31.3 635.3 276 139.0
AllOther ........................ 12.6 26.9 39.5 6.7 40.3 4.2 —
Eliminations & Corporate Items. .. ... — (155.9) (155.9) (28.8) 66.8 5.1 1.8
Consolidated Total . .. .............. $ — $14873 §$10.7 $19565 $90.7 $172.2
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Year Ended December 31, 2001 (Unaudited)

Operating
Revenues Profit Depreciation & Capital
QOutside  Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization = Expenditures
(in millions)
Rail Group .. ...t $ 7000 $257.5 $ 9575 $(104.4) $ 868.7 $26.6 $ 313
Construction Products Group ........ 543.8 6.5 550.3 48.9 250.0 24.7 18.6
Inland Barge Group................ 206.6 0.1 206.7 11.6 86.6 3.6 2.2
Industrial Products Group ... ........ 139.9 7.6 147.5 2.8 104.6 5.8 8.3
Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group .. ............... 114.1 —_— 114.1 38.0 482.8 144 186.9
AllOther .........c.. i, 62.1 439 106.0 (35.8) 52.5 54 4.8
Eliminations & Corporate Items. ... .. — (315.6) (315.6) (35.7) 106.8 5.0 2.1
Consolidated Total . ................ $1,7665 § —  $1,766.5 $ (74.6) $1,952.0 $85.5 $254.2
Nine Months Ended December 31, 2001
Operating
Revenues Profit Depreciation & Capital
Qutside  Intersegment Total {Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Rail Group....................... $ 5213 $1428 $ 6641 $(658) $ 8687 $21.3 $ 229
Construction Products Group ........ 427.2 5.0 432.2 45.6 250.0 18.7 11.9
Inland Barge Group................ 148.2 — 148.2 9.8 86.6 2.7 1.8
Industrial Products Group ... ........ 106.7 2.3 109.0 3.9 104.6 4.7 5.3
Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group ................. 94.0 — 94.0 30.2 482.8 114 87.6
AllOther ........................ 50.4 28.1 78.5 (21.1) 52.5 3.9 23
Eliminations & Corporate ltems. .. ... — (178.2) (178.2)  (19.0) 106.8 3.5 15
Consolidated Total . . ............... $1,347.8 $ — §$1,347.8 $(16.4) $1,952.0 $66.2 $133.3
Nine Months Ended December 31, 2000 (Unaudited)
QOperating
Revenues Profit Depreciation & Capital
Qutside Intersegment Total (Loss) Assets Amortization  Expenditures
(in millions)
Rail Group ...t $ 6393 $1669 $ 8062 $ 34 $ 5451 $19.1 $ 268
Construction Products Group ........ 4324 9.6 442.0 25.8 313.4 21.5 21.3
Inland Barge Group................ 1445 — 144.5 9.9 81.2 34 1.3
Industrial Products Group . .......... 127.1 4.5 131.6 6.5 228.3 4.1 9.4
Railcar Leasing and Management
Services Group ................. 108.6 — 108.6 342 469.1 11.0 160.5
AlOther ..................... ... 337 30.0 63.7 (44.4) 88.5 5.5 8.2
Eliminations & Corporate Items. .. ... — (211.0) (211.0) (43.3) 29.9 52 18
Consolidated Total . ................ $14856 § — 8314856 $ (7.9 $1,7555 $69.8 $229.3

Corporate assets are composed of cash and equivalents, notes receivable, certain property, plant and

equipment, and other assets. Capital expenditures do not include business acquisitions.
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Revenues and operating profit for our foreign operations for the years ended December 31, 2003, and
2002 and for the nine months ended December 31, 2001 are presented below (in millions):

Revenues Operating Profit (Loss)
2003 2002 2001 2003 2002 2001
Latin America ...................... $ 452 § 635 $ 353 $ 6.1 35108 $ (1.9
EBurope ....... ... ..o il 139.6 185.8 66.9 (12.0) (1.0 (15.0)
Total Foreign ....................... $184.8 $249.3 $102.2 $(359 $98 $(16.9)

Total assets and long-lived assets for our foreign operations as of December 31, 2003 and 2002 are
presented below (in millions):

Total Assets Long-Lived Assets
December 31,
2003 2002 2003 2002
Latin AIMETICA . ..o vttt et et et et et e $120.0 $1326 $ 909 $107.1
Burope .. ... 111.6 106.2 49.3 62.1
Total Foreign . . ... oo e $231.6  $238.8 $140.2 $169.2
Note 3. Unusua! Charges Costs included in the charges are summarized as
follows:

In December 2001, the Company recorded Total
special pretax charges of $66.4 million ($50.4 mil- ﬁ!ﬁ.’%ﬁL
lion after tax), or $1.19 per share based on , ot & e o (in millions)

: . roperty, plant & equipment — write-downs to net
weighted average shares outstanding for the three realizable value and related plant closing costs .. $46.5
months ended Dec.ember 31, 2001 and $1.30 per. Severance costs — approximately 2,100 employees 3.8
share based on weighted average shares outstanding . . -
for the nine months ended December 31, 2001, Railcar restructuring charges ............... 50.3

Asset write-downs and exit costs related to wholly

related primarily to restructuring the Company’s owned businesses - 15.5

Rail Group.m connection with the Thrall Ca? Non railcar severance — 11 employees ... ... ... .
Manufacturing Company (“Thrall”’) merger in -

. Total charges. . .......... .. ... ... ... $66.4
North America and Europe and other matters.

Classifications of the charges by segment and income statement line items are shown below:

Construction All
Rail Products Other Total
(in millions)

COSt Of TEVENUES .« .ottt ittt et $46.1 $0.8 $99 $56.8
Selling, engineering & administrative. . ......................... 42 01 32 7.5
Charged to operating profit ............. ... .. ... .. . ... 50.3 0.9 13.1 64.3
Other (income) eXpense — COTPOFALE . ........oovvriivnnnnn. s — _— 2.1 2.1
Total Charges ...t $50.3 $0.9 $15.2  $66.4

|
|
|
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Restructuring and other reserve activity for the year ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 is:

reclassifications impacted operating profit.

Note 4. Acquisitions and Divestitures

On October 26, 2001, Trinity completed a
merger transaction with privately owned Thrall. The
results of Thrall’s operations have been included in
the consolidated financial statements since that date.
The aggregate purchase price was $377.1 million
including $165.5 million of cash, a working capital
adjustment per the merger agreement of $15.2 mil-
lion, transaction fees of $13.0 million and common
stock valued at $183.4 million. The value of the
7.15 million common shares issued was determined
based on the average market price of Trinity’s
common shares over the period including two days
before and after the terms of the merger were
agreed to and announced. In addition, Trinity has
agreed under certain circumstances to make addi-
tional payments, not to exceed $45 million through
2006, based on a formula related to annual railcar
industry production levels. Currently it is antici-
pated that no additional consideration will be paid,
however, if any amounts are paid goodwill will be
increased. At December 31, 2003, the Company
had a receivable from a former owner of Thrall for
$4.9 million related to representations and warran-
ties under the merger agreement. A former officer
and indirect shareholder of Thrall is a beneficial
holder of Company shares and a director of the
Company.

44

Reserves Reserves Reserves
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2001 Charges Payments Write-Offs 2002 Payments Reclassifications 2003
Property, plant &
equipment —
shut-down costs $18.9 $0.1 $ (8.2) $(6.2) $ 4.6 $(0.3) $ (4.3) $—
Environmental
liabilities ...... 11.1 — (0.3) 0.2) 10.6 (0.5) (10.1) —
Severance costs ... 49 04 3.2) (1.5) 0.6 0.4) 0.2) —
Adverse jury
verdict ........ 14.8 — — — 14.8 (0.1) (14.7) —
Other ........... 34 0.1 (2.3) (0.8) 0.4 — 0.4) =
53.1 M $(14.0) $(8.7) $31.0 $(1.3) $(29.7) $—

|
H

In 2003, restructuring reserves were reclassified to comparable accrued liabilities. None of the

The following table summarizes the fair values
of the assets acquired and liabilities assumed at the
date of acquisition (in millions).

October 26,
2001

CUITENt @SSELS « o vt i s e e $ 82.0
Property, plant, and equipment . ................ 38.3
Intangible assets — patents .................... 29
Deferred tax asset..........ooviiiiiennnan.. 9.1
Goodwill ........ . 3333

Total assets acquired. ........... ..., 465.6
Current liabilities .............. ... ... ....... (88.5)
Net assets acquired . . . .........oovvivea... $377.1

The $333.3 million of goodwill was assigned
to the Rail Group and $317.6 million of that
amount is expected to be deductible for tax

purposes.

The following unaudited pro forma consoli-
dated results of operations are presented below as if
the merger with Thrall had been made as of
April 1, 2001. The pro forma consolidated results
of operations include adjustments to give effect to
interest expense on acquisition debt and certain
other adjustments, together with related income tax
effects. The unaudited pro forma information is not
necessarily indicative of the results of operations
that would have occurred had the merger been
made at the beginning of the periods presented or




the future results of the combined operations (in

millions).
Nine Months Ended
December 31,
2601

Revenues. . ......oov i $1,544.1
Netloss oo (50.1)
Loss per share:

Basic.....ooiiiiii e $ (1.13)

Diluted ..., $ (113

Results for the nine months ended Decem-
ber 31, 2001 included after-tax charges of
$50.4 million ($1.30 per share) related to restructur-
ing the Rail Group in connection with the Thrall
merger and the down cycle in the railcar industry
and other matters.

The Company made certain acquisitions during
the year ended December 31, 2003 accounted for
by the purchase method. The aggregate purchase
price for these acquisitions was $7.6 million. These
acquisitions were primarily in the Company’s Con-
struction Products Group and were competitive,
strategic acquisitions. Other intangibles of $3.9 mil-
lion were recorded, however, no goodwill was
recorded on the 2003 acquisitions. The acquired
operations have been included in the consolidated
financial statements from the effective dates of the
acquisitions. Pro forma results would not have been
materially different from actual results for any year
presented.

Note 5. Property, Plant and Equipment

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
(in millions)
Corporate/Manufacturing
Land........... ... $ 508 $ 531
Buildings and improvements 355.8 347.1
Machinery ................ 4504 4252
Construction in progress. . ... 11.6 32.3
868.6 857.7
Leasing Equipment ... ...... 758.5 707.7
$1,627.1 $1,565.4

The Company leases certain equipment and
facilities under operating leases. Future minimum
rent expense on these leases in each fiscal year are
(in millions): 2004 — $8.9; 2005 — $7.7; 2006 —
$3.7; 2007 — $3.6; 2008 — $3.4 and $2.6 thereaf-
ter. See Note 10 for information related to the lease
agreements, future operating lease obligations and
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future minimum rent expense associated with the
Company’s wholly owned, qualified subsidiaries.

The Company estimates the fair market value
of properties no longer in use or held for sale based
on the location and condition of the properties, the
fair market value of similar properties in the area,
and the Company’s experience of selling similar
properties in the past. As of December 31, 2003,
the Company had non-operating plants with a net
book value of $15.5 million. The Company’s
estimated fair value of these assets exceeds their
book value.

Note 6. Goodwill

Goodwill is no longer amortized but reviewed
for impairment annually or more frequently if
certain indicators arise. As of November 30, 2003,
the Company’s impairment test of goodwill was
completed at the reporting unit level and no
indication of impairment of goodwill was noted.
Goodwill by segment is as follows (in millions):

December 31, December 31,

2003 2002
Rail ..................... $404.5 $403.5
Construction Products .. ... .. 4.5 4.5
Industrial Products ......... 4.3 1.5
Railcar Leasing and
Management Services . . . .. _ 18 18
$415.1 $411.3

Note 7. Deposit Agreement

The Company has a deposit agreement with
Altos Hornos de Mexico, SA de C.V. (“AHMSA”)
which provided for funds to be deposited with
AHMSA which are then used along with other
funds from the Company to purchase steel from
AHMSA. As of December 31, 2003, total funds on
deposit including interest due amounted to approxi-
mately $23.7 million. Since May 1999 AHMSA has
been operating under a judicial declaration of
suspension of payments, which under applicable
Mexican law, allows companies in Mexico to
(1) seek a debt restructuring agreement with their
creditors in an orderly fashion; (2) continue their
operations; and (3) avoid declaration of bankruptcy
and liquidation of assets. The Company’s under-
standing of Mexican law is that all funds on deposit
are required to be returned to the Company
regardless of whether or not the supplier is able to
operate under the declaration of suspension of
payments. Trinity reduced $11.6 million of this




deposit through inventory purchases in the year
ended December 31, 2003.

Note 8. Warranties

The Company provides for the estimated cost
of product warranties at the time revenue is
recognized and assesses the adequacy of the result-
ing reserves on a quarterly basis. The change in the
accruals for warranties for the year ended Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and 2002 are as follows:

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
(in millions)
Beginning balance............ $ 20.8 $18.1
Additions . .................. 16.5 21.2
Reductions .................. (14.3) (18.5)
Ending balance .............. $ 23.0 $20.8

Note 9. Debt

December 31, December 31,
2903

(in millions)

Corporate/Manufacturing —
Recourse:
Revolving commitment . . . . .. $ — $ 48.0
Term commitment . ......... 122.8 149.3
Up to 11.3 percent notes
payable through 2015 ... .. 5.7 6.4
1285 2037
Leasing — Recourse
7.755 percent equipment trust
certificates to institutional
investors generally payable
in semi-annual installments
of varying amounts through
2009 ... oot 170.0 170.0
Other .................... — 1.4
170.0 1714
298.5 375.1
Leasing — Non-recourse
Warehouse facility.......... 711 113.8
Trust debt (see note 10) ... .. 25.6 —_
96.7 113.8
Total debt............... $395.2 $488.9

In June 2002, the Company completed a
secured credit agreement for $425 million. The
agreement includes a $275 million 3-year revolving
commitment and a $150 million 5-year term
commitment. The agreement calls for quarterly
payments of principal on the term debt in the
amount of $375 thousand beginning September 30,
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2002 through June 30, 2006 and quarterly payments
of $36.0 million beginning on September 30, 2006
through the maturity date. Amounts borrowed under
the revolving commitment bear interest at LIBOR
plus 2.25% (there were no borrowings on Decem-
ber 31, 2003). Amounts borrowed under the term
commitment bear interest at LIBOR plus 3.25%
(4.40% at December 31, 2003). The Company’s
accounts receivable and inventory and a portion of
its property, plant and equipment secure the agree-
ment. During September 2003, the Company modi-
fied the terms of the debt covenants under the
agreement to separate the Company’s leasing and
manufacturing operations for debt compliance pur-
poses and paid off $25.0 million of the 5-year term
commitment. The agreement limits the amount of
capital expenditures related to the Company’s leas-
ing business, requires maintenance of ratios related
to interest coverage for both the leasing and
manufacturing operations, leverage, asset coverage
and minimum net worth, and restricts the amount of
dividend payments based upon the current credit
rating of the Company not to exceed $15 million
annually. At December 31, 2003, $122.8 miilion
was borrowed under this agreement. At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, the most restrictive of the debt
covenants based on trailing twelve month calcula-
tions as defined by the debt agreements allows for
approximately $73.9 million additional principal
and approximately $8.1 million and $10.5 million
additional annual interest expense for leasing and
manufacturing operations, respectively.

In June 2002 Trinity Industries Leasing Com-
pany (“TILC”) through a newly formed, wholly
owned and consolidated business trust entered into
a $200 million non-recourse warehouse facility
($71.1 million outstanding as of December 31,
2003) to finance or refinance railcars acquired or
owned by TILC. Specific railcars and the underly-
ing leases secure the facility. Advances under the
facility may not exceed 75%, or if agreed to by all
of the lenders under the facility, such other
percentage not less than 75% nor more than 80%,
of the fair market value of the eligible railcars
securing the facility as defined by the agreement.
Advances under the facility bear interest at LIBOR
plus 1.375% (2.545% at December 31, 2003). In
August 2003, TILC expanded this facility to
$300 million and extended the term through August
2004 and unless renewed would be payable in three
equal installments in March 2005, September 2005




and March 2006. At December 31, 2003,
$228.9 million was available under this facility.

In February 2002 TILC sold $170,000,000 of
2002-1 Pass Through Certificates with interest at
7.755%, commencing on August 15, 2002 and due
semiannually thereafter. Equipment notes issued by
TILC for the benefit of the holders of the Pass
Through Certificates are collateralized by interest in
certain railcars owned by TILC and the leases
pursuant to which such railcars are leased to
customers. The equipment notes, including the
obligations to make payments of principal and
interest thereon are direct obligations of TILC and
are fully and unconditionally guaranteed by Trinity
Industries, Inc. as guarantor.

The non-recourse debt of $25.6 million as of
December 31, 2003 related to the Leasing Group’s

investment in a variable interest entity where,
because of its ownership of the equity investment,
the Leasing Group is deemed the primary benefici-
ary of the Trust and therefore, as of December 31,
2003 the Trust is consolidated. Currently, the
Leasing Group intends to sell its equity ownership
in the Trust. If the Leasing Group is successful in
selling the equity investment of the Trust and is no
longer the primary beneficiary of the Trust, then the
Trust will no longer be consolidated with Trinity.
Accordingly, the railcars of $34.4 million and the
debt of $25.6 million would not be included in the
consolidated financial statements. The non-recourse
debt agreement entered into by the Trust provides
for interest at 5.64%.

Principal payments due during the next five years as of December 31, 2003 are as follows (in millions):

Recourse
Corporate/Manufacturing .....................
Leasing (note 10)

Non-recourse
Leasing (note 10)

Capital leases — Corporate. .. .................

Total principal payments....................

Commitments under letters of credit, primarily
related to insurance, are $116.4 million, expiring

2004 2005 2006 2007 2008 Thereafter
$22 $20 $731 $472 $01 $ 34
— 399 103 434 142 62.2
15 466 259 1.3 1.0 204
02 02 0.1 — — —
$39 $88.7 $109.4 $91.9 $153  $86.0

$106.1 million in 2004, $7.2 million in 2005 and
$3.1 million after 2008.
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Note 10. Railcar Leasing and Managememnt
Services Group

The Railcar Leasing and Management Services
Group (“Leasing Group™) provides fleet manage-
ment, maintenance and leasing services. Selected
combined financial information for the Leasing
Group is as follows:

December 31, December 31,
2003 2002

(in millions)

Balance Sheet

Cash.........oo it $ 53 $ 28
Leasing Equipment, net
Machinery ................. 31.0 —
Equipment on lease.......... 725.8 705.4
Construction in progress. ... .. _ 17 _ 23
758.5 707.7
Accumulated Depreciation .. .. (112.9) M)
645.6 596.9
Restricted assets .............. 39.5 29.1
Debt
Recourse .................. 170.0 1714
NOM-recourse . . ............. 96.7 113.8
Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Income Statememnt

Revenues.......... $153.8 $114.7 $94.0
Operating profit . ... 410 313 30.2
Interest expense . ... 164 12.8 6.6

Equipment consists primarily of railcars leased
by third parties. The Leasing Group enters into
lease contracts with third parties with terms gener-
ally ranging between one and twenty years, wherein
equipment manufactured by Trinity is leased for a
specified type of service over the term of the lease.
The Company primarily enters into operating
leases. Future minimum rental revenues on leases in
each fiscal year are (in millions): 2004 — $97.8;
2005 — $84.9; 2006 — $71.5; 2007 — $60.7;

2008 — $49.5 and $302.0 thereafter. Leasing Group
equipment with a net book value of $418.6 million
is pledged as collateral for debt.

The Leasing Group’s debt consists of both
recourse and non-recourse debt. See note 9 for
maturities for the debt.

The Leasing Group has completed a series of
financing transactions. During the nine months
ended December 31, 2001, the Leasing Group
completed a lease arrangement for $199.0 million
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in railcars. The Leasing Group sold the railcars to
an independent trust. The trust financed the
purchase of the railcars with $151.3 million in debt
and $47.7 million in equity provided by a large
independent financial institution. The equity partici-
pant in the trust is considered to be the primary
beneficiary of the trust. The Leasing Group’s
primary liability is its commitments on the operat-
ing leases discussed below. An independent trustee
for the trust has authority for appointment of the
railcar fleet manager.

During the year ended December 31, 2003, the
Leasing Group completed another transaction
whereby $235.0 million of railcars were sold to
three separate owner trusts. Two of the trusts
financed the purchase of the railcars with
$155.0 million in debt and $45.0 million in third
party equity. The equity participants in the two
trusts are the primary beneficiaries of the trusts.
The remaining trust equity was capitalized with
$9.5 million from the Leasing Group and outside
debt of $25.6 million (see Note 9). Because the
Leasing Group is currently the sole equity partici-
pant of the third trust, the Leasing Group is the
primary beneficiary and therefore the trust is
currently included in the consolidated financial
statements. When an outside equity investor
purchases the equity position in the third trust, it is
anticipated that the Leasing Group will no longer
be the primary beneficiary and the third trust will
no longer be consolidated.

The Leasing Group, through newly formed,
wholly owned qualified subsidiaries, leased railcars
from the trusts under operating leases with terms of
22 years and subleased the railcars to independent
third party customers under shorter term operating
leases. These qualified subsidiaries had total assets
as of December 31, 2002 of $53.9 million and as
of December 31, 2003 $111.0 million including
cash of $31.8 million, of which $6.6 million was
collateral for the equity participant of one of the
trusts, and Leasing Group railcars of $70.7 million.
The cash (other than the $6.6 million) and railcars
are pledged to collateralize the lease obligations to
the trusts and are included in the consolidated
financial statements of the Company. Trinity does
not guarantee the performance of the subsidiaries’
lease obligations. Future operating lease obligations
of the Leasing Group’s subsidiaries under the lease
agreements are as follows (in millions): 2004 —
$37.4; 2005 — $36.6; 2006 — $34.2; 2007 —
$33.5; 2008 — $33.4 and $463.0 thereafter. Future




minimum rental revenues from subleased railcars as
of December 31, 2003 are as follows (in millions);
2004 — $46.2; 2005 — $41.5; 2006 — $36.1;

2007 — $29.3; 2008 — $23.8 and $140.2 thereafter.

Under the terms of the operating lease agree-
ments, the Leasing Group has the option to
purchase at a predetermined, fixed price, certain of
the railcars from the trusts in 2017 and other
railcars in 2018. The Leasing Group also has an
options to purchase the railcars at the end of the
respective lease agreements in 2023 and 2025 at the
then fair market value of the railcars as determined
by a third party, independent appraisal. At the
expiration of the operating lease agreements, Trinity
has no further obligation there under.

The Leasing Group, under the terms of the
servicing and remarketing agreements, is required
to endeavor, consistent with customary commercial
practice as would be used by a prudent person, to
maintain railcars under lease for the benefit of the
trusts. The Leasing Group also receives manage-
ment fees under the terms of the agreements.
Certain ratios and cash deposits must be maintained
by the Leasing Group’s subsidiaries in order for
excess cash flow, as defined in the agreements,
from the lease to third parties, to be available to
Trinity. Total restricted cash associated with the
above transactions is $31.8 million as of Decem-
ber 31, 2003 and is included in other assets.

The sales of the railcars by Trinity to the trusts
were accounted for as a sale/leaseback transaction.
No revenue or profit was recorded at the time of
the transactions and all profit was deferred and is
being amortized over the terms of the operating
leases. Neither the assets, the liabilities, nor equity
of the trusts are reflected on the balance sheet of
Trinity except for the one trust where Trinity is
currently the primary beneficiary.
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Note 11. Other, Net

Other (income) expense consists of the follow-
ing items (in millions):

Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Gain on sale of
property, plant and
equipment . ...... $(10.0) $(4.5) $(1.1)
Foreign exchange
transactions . . .. .. 1.5 1.7 1.5
Investment write-
downs .......... — — 1.9
Loss on equity
investments ... ... 2.1 2.2 1.8
Other ............. 0.1 0.6 0.8
Other, net ....... $ (6.5) _ $49

Note 12. Income Taxes

The components of the provision (benefit) for
income taxes are (in millions):
Nine Months

Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 02 2001
Current:
Federal ......... $(25.3) $(59.4) $4.6
State ........... 3.6 3.0 (0.5)
Foreign ......... 7.3 1.6 (0.8)
(14.4) (60.8) 33
Deferred .......... 10.1 56.0 (9.1}
Provision (benefit) .. $ (4.3) $ 4.8) $(5.8)

Deferred income taxes represent the tax effects
of temporary differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities for financial
reporting purposes and the amounts used for




income tax purposes. The components of deferred
tax liabilities and assets are (in millions):

December 31, December 31,
200,

2002
Deferred tax liabilities:
Depreciation ................. $161.5 $124.7
Deductions related to inventory of
foreign operations ........... 73 13.6
Other foreign deferred liabilities 0.4 0.5
Other ....................... 7.5 8.4
1767 472
Deferred tax assets:
Pensions and other benefits .. ... 423 432
Accounts receivable, inventory,
and other asset valuation
ACCOUNES . .. oo v e 347 56.0
Other comprehensive income . . . . 147 18.8
Federal net operating loss
carryforwards. . ............. 43.5 —
State net operating loss
carryforwards. . ............. 12.5 6.9
Foreign net operating loss
carryforwards. . ............. 6.2 11.0
Other foreign deferred assets . . .. 3. 0.9
Total deferred tax assets ........ 157.6 136.8
Valuation allowance ........... 8.7 (7.2)
Deferred tax assets net of
valuation allowance.......... _148.9 129.6
Net deferred tax liabilities . ....... $ 278 $17.6

At December 31, 2003, the Company had
$124.3 million of consolidated net operating loss
carryforwards for Federal income tax purposes. The
total net operating losses consists of $8.9 million of
pre-acquisition losses from acquired subsidiaries
which expire between 2011 and 2013 and current
net operating losses of $115.4 million which expire
in 2023. Realization of the asset is dependents on
generating sufficient taxable income in future peri-
ods. The Company believes that it is more likely
than not that the deferred tax asset will be realized.
In addition, the Company has established a valua-
tion allowance for net foreign operating loss car-
ryforwards due to the uncertainty regarding the
realizability of these foreign losses. These net
operating losses expire between 2007 and 2011.

The Company has also established valuation
allowances for certain state net operating losses
which may not be realizable. These net operating
losses expire between 2007 and 2023. The net
change in valuation allowance for the year ended
December 31, 2003 was an increase of
$1.5 million.
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The Company is routinely under audit by
federal, foreign and state tax authorities in the areas
of income and franchise taxes. These audits include

questioning the timing and amount of deductions,
the nexus of income among various tax jurisdictions
and compliance with federal, foreign and state tax
laws. In evaluating the exposure associated with
various tax filing positions, the Company often
accrues charges for probable exposures. At Decem-
ber 31, 2003, the Company believes it has appropri-
ately accrued for probable exposure. At

December 31, 2003, the tax years ending March 31,
1998 through December 31, 2002 were undergoing
examination by the Internal Revenue Service. At
December 31, 2003, the Company and/or one or
more of its subsidiaries has open audits in the states
of Texas, Pennsylvania and Chio.

The provision (benefit) for income taxes results
in effective tax rates different from the statutory
rates. The following is a reconciliation between the
statutory U.S. federal income tax rate and the
Company’s effective income tax rate:

Nine Months
Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Statutory rate ...... 35.0% 35.0% 35.0%
State taxes......... 4.5) 2.5 0.8
Valuation allowance (3.8) 4.1) (7.6)
Foreign rate
differential . . .. ... 4.8 (5.4) (5.0
Unutilized prior year
tax credits . ...... (6.9) (5.3) (3.3)
Other (net) ........ 56 32 (5.6)
Effective tax rate ... 30.2%

19.5% 14.3%
Income (loss) before income taxes for the year
ended December 31, 2003 and 2002 and the nine
months ended December 31, 2001 was ($23.7),
($27.7), and ($23.4), respectively, for
U.S. operations, and $9.4, $3.3, and ($17.1),
respectively, for foreign operations. The Company
has not provided U.S. deferred income taxes on the
undistributed earnings of its foreign subsidiaries
based on the determination that such earnings will
be indefinitely reinvested. Undistributed earnings of
the Company’s foreign subsidiaries were $26.6 mil-
lion as of December 31, 2003.

Note 13, Employee Retirement Plans

The Company sponsors defined benefit pension
and defined contribution profit sharing plans which
provide income and death benefits for eligible




employees. The annual measurement date of the
benefit obligation, fair value of plan assets and
funded status is December 31.

Actuarial Assumptions

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Year Ended
December 31,
2002

Nine Months Ended
December 31,
2001

Assumptions
used to
determine
benefit
obligations
at the
annual
measurement
date were:

Obligation

discount rate 6.25% 6.75%

Compensation

increase rate 4.00% 4.00%

Assumptions
used to
determine
net periodic
benefit costs
were:

Obligation

discount rate 6.75% 7.50% 7.75%

Long-term rate
of return on

plan assets. . 8.75% 9.00% 9.00%

Compensation

increase rate 4.00% 4.75% 4.75%

The expected long-term rate of return on plan
assets is an assumption reflecting the anticipated
weighted average rate of earnings on the portfolio
over the long-term. To arrive at this rate, the
Company developed estimates based upon the
estimated performance of the assets in its portfolio.

Components Of Net Periodic Pension Cost

Year Ended Year Ended  Nine Months Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001

(in millions)

Expense

Components
Service cost. .. $ 86 $ 9.1 $ 82
Interest ...... 14.6 14.7 10.7
Expected return

on assets . .. (12.9) (15.9) (11.4)
Amortization

and deferral 0.3 0.1
Profit sharing 3.6 33
Other........ 0.6 0.2 —
Net expense .. $15.0 $120 10.9

|
|
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Obligations and Funded Status

Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, December 31,
2003 2002
(in millions)

Projected Benefit Obligations
Beginning of year ............... $2204 $195.3
Service cost . .......... . ... ... 8.6 9.1
Interest. . ..., 14.5 14.7
Bernefits paid ................... 9.7 (9.5)
Actuarial (gain) loss . ............ 4.6 7.1
Acquired plans ................. - _ 37
Endofyear.................... $238.4 $220.4
Plans’ Assets
Beginning of year ............... $146.2 $176.4
Actual return on assets . .......... 27.3 (25.9)
Employer contributions . .......... 9.7 2.3
Benefits paid ................... ©.7 9.5)
Acquired plans ................. = 2.9
Endofyear .................... $173.5 $146.2
Consolidated Balance Sheet

Components
Funded status .................. $(64.9) $(74.2)
Unamortized transition asset ...... 0.6) (0.8)
Unrecognized prior service cost. ... 2.3 2.4
Unrecognized loss . .............. _511 _630
Net obligation ... ............... $(12.1) w)
Accrued . ....... ... $(35.3) $(46.4)
Prepaid............. .. ..., — 2.8
Intangible asset . ................ 2.0 2.0
Accumulated other comprehensive

income (loss), net of tax........ 13.8 20.8
Deferred tax asset . .............. 74 112
Netaccrued .................... $(12.1) $ (9.6)

The accumulated benefit obligation for all
defined benefit pension plans at December 31, 2003
and 2002 was $208.6 million and $190.7 million.

Information for pension plans with an accumu-
lated benefit obligation in excess of plan assets:

Year Ended
December 31,
2003

Year Ended
December 31,
002

(in millions)

Projected benefit obligation ....... $238.4 $2204
Accumulated benefit obligation . ... 208.6 190.7
Fair value of plan assets.......... 173.5 146.2




Plan Assets

The pension plan weighted-average asset allo-
cation at year-end 2003 and 2002 and the range of
target are as follows:

Percentage
of Plan
Assets at
Range of Target _Year-End
Allocation 2003 2002
Asset category:
Equity securities.............. 55-65% 62% 54%
Fixed income ................ 35-45% _38% 46%

100% 100%

The Company’s pension investment strategies
have been developed as part of a comprehensive
asset/liability management process that considers
the relationship between both the assets and liabili-
ties of the plans. These strategies consider not only
the expected risk and returns on plan assets, but
also the actuarial projections of liabilities, projected
contributions and funded status. The equity alloca-
tion is heavily weighted toward domestic large
capitalized companies. There is also a lesser expo-
sure to domestic small/mid cap companies, as well
as, international equities. The fixed income alloca-
tion is equally split between a limited duration
portfolio and a core plus portfolio that have a
duration inline with published bond indices. This
asset mix is designed to meet the longer-term
obligations of the Plan as projected by actuarial
studies.

The principal pension investment strategies
include asset allocation and active asset manage-
ment. The range of target asset allocation have been
determined after giving consideration to the ex-
pected returns of each asset category, the expected
performance, the volatility of the asset returns over
time and the complementary nature of the asset mix
within the portfolio. Each asset category is man-
aged by external money managers with the objec-
tive of generating returns that exceed market-based
benchmarks.

Cash Flows

The Company expects to contribute approxi-
mately $21.3 million to its defined benefit plans
during 2004.
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Benefit payments expected to be paid during
the next ten years are as follows:

Amounts
(in millions)

2004 e $7.7
2005 . 8.2
2006 .. e 8.8
2007 8.5
2008 .. 10.5
2009-2013 . e 69.6

Note 14. Steck Option Plan

The Company’s 1998 Stock Option and Incen-
tive Plan authorized 3,800,000 shares of common
stock plus shares covered by forfeited, expired and
canceled options granted under prior plans with a
maximum of 1,000,000 shares being available for
issuance as restricted stock or in satisfaction of
performance or other awards. At December 31,
2003, a total of 335,529 shares were available for
issuance. The plan provides for the granting of:
nonqualified and incentive stock options having
maximum ten-year terms to purchase common stock
at its market value on the award date; stock
appreciation rights based on common stock fair
market values with settlement in common stock or
cash; restricted stock; and performance awards with
settlement in common stock or cash on achievement
of specific business objectives. Under previous
plans, nonqualified and incentive stock options and
restricted shares were granted at their fair market
values. One grant provided for granting reload
options for the remaining term of the original grant
at their fair market value on the date shares already
owned by the optionee are surrendered in payment
of the option exercise price. Options become
exercisable in various percentages over periods
ranging up to eight years.



In connection with the Thrall merger certain former employees of Thrall were granted a total of 160,000
options to purchase common stock at its market price on the date of the grant. These stock options, which

were approved by the Board of Directors of the Company, were not granted under the Company’s Stock
Option and Incentive Plan. At December 31, 2003, 147,200 of such options were outstanding and are

included in the tables below.

Stock Options

Year Ended Year Ended Nine Months Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001

Weighted Weighted Weighted
Average Average Average
Exercise Exercise Exercise

Shares Price Shares Price Shares Price
QOutstanding, beginning of year ... .. 4,567,900 $26.46 3,920,822 $27.10 3,065,920 $29.26
Granted ............... ... ...... 747,986 17.12 895,232 21.72 1,043,252 20.23
Exercised ...................... (410,069) 22.45 (149,074) 17.03 (93,285) 21.85
Cancelled ...................... (544,727) 27.71 (99,080) 23.18 (95,065) 26.49
Outstanding, end of year .......... 4,361,090 $25.08 4,567,900 $26.46 3,920,822 $27.10
Exercisable ..................... 2,915278 $28.02 2,822,253 $29.24 2,265,996 $29.44

December 31, 2003
Outstanding Options

Weighted Average Exercisable Options
Remaining Weighted
Contractual  Exercise Average

Exercise Price Range Shares Life (Years) Price Shares Price
$17.00 —$23.00 ...... .. 2,722,105 7.69 $20.09 1,309,149 $21.26
$24.67 —$24.67 ... 147,200 7.82 24.67 124,341 24.67
$2511 —$31.38 ... 863,384 4.14 27.64 853,387 27.65
$33.00 —$53.00 ... ... 628,401 3.96 43.26 628,401 43.26
4,361,090 6.45 $25.08 2,915,278 $28.02

Restricted Stock Note 15. Series B Redeemable Convertible

The fair value of restricted shares and re-
stricted stock units at the date of grant is amortized
to expense ratably over the restriction period.

Nine Months

Year Ended Year Ended Ended
December 31, December 31, December 31,
2003 2002 2001
Shares awarded . . .. 356,885 150,220 284,100
Shares cancelled . . . — (6,000) (6,000)
Share restriction
removed ....... (31,800) (3,000) (10,000)
Outstanding . . ... .. 851,905 526,820 385,600
Grant date fair
value per share .. $ 18.69 $ 2171 $ 23.04

Preferred Stock

In June 2003 the Company issued 600 shares
of Series B Redeemable Convertible Preferred
Stock. Each Share of Series B preferred stock has
an initial liquidation value of $100,000 per share.
The liquidation value, plus accrued but unpaid
dividends, is payable on June 25, 2008, the
mandatory redemption date, at the Company’s
option in cash or in shares of common stock valued
at 90% of the then current market price of our
common stock. Each share of Series B preferred
stock may be converted at any time at the option of
the holder into shares of the Company’s common
stock, based on the initial conversion price of
$22.46 per share, which is the equivalent to
4,452 shares of common stock for each $100,000
initial liquidation preference. Holders of the Se-
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ries B preferred stock are entitled to receive
dividends payable semi-annually, on July 1 and
January 1 of each year, beginning January 1, 2004
at an annual rate of 4.5% of the liquidation
preference. The Company may, at its option, pay
dividends either in cash or in shares of our
common stock at the then current market price. All
dividends paid through January 2004 have been
paid in cash. The holders of Series B preferred
stock are entitled to vote with the holders of the
common stock on an as-if converted basis on all
matters brought before the stockholders. The Se-
ries B preferred stock has been classified outside
the Stockholders’ Equity section because there is
not absolute assurance that the number of autho-
rized and unissued common shares would be
adequate to redeem the Series B preferred stock. At
December 31, 2003, the number of shares autho-
rized and unissued would be adequate to redeem
the Series B preferred stock as long as the market
value of our common stock was at least $1.37 per
share.

Note 16. Stockholders’ Equity

The Company has a Stockholder’s Rights Plan.
On March 11, 1999, the Board of Directors of the
Company declared a dividend distribution of one
right for each outstanding share of the Company’s
common stock, $1.00 par value, to stockholders of
record at the close of business on April 27, 1999.
Each right entitles the registered holder to purchase
from the Company one one-hundredth (1/100) of a
share of Series A Preferred Stock at a purchase
price of $200.00 per one one-hundredth (1/100) of
a share, subject to adjustment. The rights are not
exercisable or detachable from the common stock
until ten business days after a person or group
acquires beneficial ownership of twelve percent or
more of the Company’s common stock or if a
person or group commences a tender or exchange
offer upon consummation of which that person or
group would beneficially own twelve percent or
more of the common stock. The Company will
generally be entitled to redeem the rights at
$0.01 per right at any time until the first public
announcement that a twelve-percent position has
been acquired. If any person or group becomes a
beneficial owner of twelve-percent or more of the
Company’s common stock, each right not owned by
that person or related parties enables its holder to
purchase, at the right’s purchase price, shares of the
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Company’s common stock having a calculated
value of twice the purchase price of the right.

In connection with the Thrall merger, the
Company adopted an amendment to the Rights Plan
which generally permits the former stockholders of
Thrall and its affiliates to beneficially own in excess
of twelve percent of the Company’s common stock
without triggering the Plan as described above
provided such persons hold the stock in compliance
with a stockholders’ agreement entered into in
connection with the acquisition.

On March 6, 2002, the Company privately
placed a total of 1.5 million unregistered shares of
our common stock for net proceeds of $31.2 mil-
lion. The Company subsequently registered these
shares.

Note 17. Commitments and Contingencies

The Company and its wholly owned subsidi-
ary, Trinity Marine Products, Inc. (“TMP”), and
certain material suppliers and others, have been
named as co-defendants in six separate lawsuits
filed by multiple plaintiffs on various dates. In
October 2003 ACF Acceptance Barge I, LLC
(*“ACF”) settled all of its claims in the ACF
litigation with the Company. The settlement in-
volved the purchase of eleven barges which are
leased to a barge operator under long-term bareboat
charter agreements. The Company’s Leasing Sub-
sidiary purchased the barges for $19.1 million and
succeeded ACF as lessor under the charters. The
estimated fair market value of the operating leases
and residual value of the barges approximated the
purchase price. In one of the other cases the
plaintiff has petitioned the court for certification of
a class, which, if certified by the court, could
potentially increase the total number of barges
involved in the case. The other five suits involve 48
tank barges sold at an average prices of approxi-
mately $1.4 million, and 140 hopper barges sold at
an average price of approximately $280,000. All the
cases allege similar causes of action related to
defects in coating materials supplied by a co-
defendant and coatings application workmanship by
TMP. The plaintiffs seek both compensatory and
punitive damages and/or rescission of the barge
purchase contracts. Technical experts investigating
the claims have expressed the opinion that technical
arguments presented by the plaintiffs in this litiga-
tion are without merit. The Company and TMP are




defending these cases vigorously. As of Febru-
ary 15, 2004, two of the plaintiffs owe TMP
approximately $11.5 million, of which $10.5 mil-
lion is past due, related to contracts for the
purchase of barges not involved in the litigation.
TMP has filed suit for collection of the past due
amounts.

In a proceeding unrelated to the foregoing
litigation, the Company and TMP filed a declara-
tory judgment an action seeking declaration by the
Court of the Company’s and TMP’s (i) obligations
related to allegations of certain barge owners as to
defective coatings and coatings application on 65
tank barges and (ii) rights and remedies relative to
an insurance policy in which TMP was named as
additional insureds and which was applicable to the
coatings on the 65 barges. On December 9, 2003,
the barge owners filed a response proceeding to the
declaratory judgment claiming actual damages of
$6.5 million and punitive damages of $10 million.

A subsidiary of the Company, Transit Mix
Concrete and Materials Company, was named as a
defendant in a case involving the death of an
employee of an independent contractor who died
following an accident that occurred while the
decedent was working at a Company owned facil-
ity. Following a jury verdict in the favor of the
plaintiff, the presiding judge entered a final judg-
ment in the amount of $33.9 million (inclusive of
fees, costs, and judgment interest). This case has
been appealed. Management believes liability in this
case, if any, exceeding $3.0 million, will be
covered by insurance.

The Company is also involved in other claims
and lawsuits incidental to its current and former
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subsidiaries’ businesses. Based on information cur-
rently available to the Company, it is management’s
opinion that its ultimate liability, if any, for such
claims and lawsuits, including those matters associ-
ated with its use of products manufactured by
others and alleged to contain asbestos, in the
aggregate will not have a material adverse effect on
the Company’s business, operations or overall
financial condition. However, resolutions of claims
or lawsuits by settlement or otherwise could have a
significant impact on the Company’s operating
results for the reporting period in which any such
resolution occurs.

The Company is subject to federal, state, local,
and foreign laws and regulations relating to the
environment and to the workplace. The Company
believes that it is currently in substantial compli-
ance with such laws and regulations.

The Company is involved in various proceed-
ings relating to environmental matters. The Com-
pany has provided reserves totaling $17.2 million to
cover probable and estimable labilities of the
Company with respect to such proceedings, taking
into account currently available information and the
Company’s contractual rights of indemnification.
However, estimates of future response costs are
necessarily imprecise. Accordingly, there can be no
assurance that the Company will not become
involved in future litigation or other proceedings or,
if the Company were found to be responsible or
liable in any litigation or proceeding, that such
costs would not be material to the Company.

Non-cancelable purchase obligations, primarily
for steel purchases, are $273.0 million in 2004 and
$1.2 million in 2005.




Note 18. Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unaudited)

Three Months
Ended

Three Months
Ended

Three Months
Ended

Three Months
Ended

March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2003 2003 2003 2003
(in milliens except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 2003:
Revenues...........coovviiiinninnnan .. $289.1 $365.8 $363.4 $414.5
Operating profit (10ss) .................... (11.4) 104 10.1 4.3
Net income (10SS). ... .o, (14.5) 35 1.8 (0.8)
Dividends on Series B preferred stock . . ... .. — — (0.8) (0.8)
Net income (loss) applicable to common
shareholder ........................... (14.5) 3.5 1.0 (1.6)
Net income (loss) per common share:
BasiC . . e e $£(0.32) $ 0.08 $ 002 $(0.04)
Diluted ...............c. i (0.32) 0.08 0.02 (0.04)
Three Months  Three Months  Three Menths Three Months
Ended Ended Ended Ended
March 31, June 30, September 30, December 31,
2002 2002 2002 2002
(in milliens except per share data)
Year ended December 31, 2002:
Revenues. ..., $384.3 $366.0 $387.6 $349.4
Operating profit (loss)(1}.................... 4.2) 32 13.7 (2.0)
Net income (loss)(1) .........o i, (8.6) 5.7 6.2 (11.5)
Net income (loss) per common share(1):
BasiC. ..ot $(0.19) $(0.13) $ 0.14 $(0.25)
Diluted .......... . 0. i (0.19) (0.13) 0.14 (0.25)

(1) See notes to consolidated financial statements for a discussion of unusual charges for the three months

ended December 31, 2001.

Item 9. Changes In and Disagreements with
Accountants on Accounting and Finarn-
cigl Disclosure.

None

Item QA. Controls and Procedures

Disclosure Controls and Procedures. The com-
pany maintains controls and procedures designed to
ensure that it is able to collect the information it is
required to disclose in the reports it files with the
SEC, and to process, summarize and disclose this
information within the time periods specified in the
rules of the SEC. Based on an evaluation of the
Company’s disclosure controls and procedures as of
the end of the period covered by this report
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conducted by the Company’s management, with the
participation of the Chief Executive and Chief
Financial Officers, the Chief Executive and the
Chief Financial Officers believe that these controls
and procedures are effective to ensure that the
Company is able to collect, process and disclose the
information it is required to disclose in the reports
that it files with the SEC within the required time
periods.

Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Dur-
ing the period covered by this report, there have
been no changes in the Company’s internal control
over financial reporting that have materially affected
or are reasonably likely to materially affect the
Company’s internal control over financial reporting.




PART III

Item 10. Directors and Executive Cfficers of the
Registrant.

Information regarding the directors of the
Company is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth under the caption “Nominees”
in the Company’s proxy statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10,
2004. Information regarding compliance with Sec-
tion 16(a) of the Securities and Exchange Act of
1934 is incorporated by reference to the informa-
tion set forth under the caption ““Additional Infor-
mation — Section 16(a) Beneficial Ownership
Reporting Compliance” in the Company’s proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders
to be held on May 10, 2004. Information relating to
the Board of Directors determinations concerning
whether at least one of the members of the Audit
Committee is an “audit committee financial expert”
as that term is defined under Item 401(h) of
Regulation S-K is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth under the caption “Corporate
Governance” in the Company’s proxy statement for
the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on
May 10, 2004.

Information relating to the executive officers of
the Company is set forth in Part I of this report

under the caption “Executive Officers of the
Company.”

The Company has disclosed its code of ethics
on its website at www.trin.net.

Item 11. Executive Compensation.

Information regarding compensation of execu-
tive officers and directors is incorporated by refer-
ence to the information set forth under the captions
“Compensation for Directors” and “Executive
Compensation” in the Company’s proxy statement
for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held
on May 10, 2004.

Item 12. Security Ownership of Certain Benefi-
cial Owners and Management and Re-
lated Stockholder Matters.

Information concerning security ownership of
certain beneficial owners and management is incor-
porated herein by reference from the Company’s
proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of Stock-
holders to be held on May 10, 2004, under the
caption “Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial
Owners and Management.”

The following table sets forth information about Trinity common stock that may be issued under all of
Trinity’s existing equity compensation plans as of December 31, 2003.

Equity Compensation Plan Infermation

(2)

() (c)

Number of Securities
to be Issued
Upon Exercise of
Outstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Number of Securities
Remaining Available for
Future Issuance under
Equity Compensation
Plans (Excluding Securities
Reflected in Column (a))

Weighted-Average
Exercise Price of
Qutstanding Options,
Warrants and Rights

Plan Category
Equity compensation plans approved by

security holders ................... 4,359,110(1) $24.26(1) 335,529(2)
Equity compensation plans not approved

by security holders ................ 147,200(3)(4) $24.67 -0-

Total ... oo 4,506,310 $24.27 335,529

(1) Includes 145,220 shares of common stock issuable upon the vesting and conversion of restricted stock
units. The restricted stock units do not have an exercise price.

(2) Includes 151,595 shares available for future issuance under the Company’s Stock Option and Incentive
Plan of 1998 as restricted stock, restricted stock units or other performance awards.
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Item 13. Certain Relationships and Related

Includes 68,600 shares of common stock subject to options pursuant to stock option agreements entered
into with nine former Thrall employees and 78,600 shares pursuant to a stock option agreement entered
into with Michael Flannery, an executive officer of the Company, as an inducement to their accepting
employment with the Company in connection with the Thrall merger in October of 2001. The terms of
the stock option agreements are consistent with the basic terms of the Company’s Stock Option and
Incentive Plan and provide for an exercise price based on the fair market value of the Company’s
Common Stock on the date of the award, vesting equally over a three year period, and cancellation of the
options upon early termination of employment (except the stock option agreement with Michael E.
Flannery provides the option vests 50% each year and may be exercised between October 27, 2003 and
October 26, 2005 whether he is employed or not provided he is employed by the Company or a
subsidiary on October 26, 2003 and provided further that he is not discharged for cause), adjustments for
changes in capitalization, and provide no right to continued employment.

Excludes information regarding the Trinity Deferred Plan for Director Fees. This plan permits the deferral
of the payment of the annual retainer fee and board and committee meeting fees. At the election of the
participant, the deferred fees may be converted into phantom stock units with a fair market value equal to
the value of the fees deferred, and such phantom stock units are credited to the director’s account (along
with the amount of any dividends or stock distributions). At the time a participant ceases to be a director,
cash will be distributed to the participant. At December 31, 2003, 68,939 phantom stock units were
credited to the accounts of participants. Also excludes information regarding the Trinity Industries
Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan (*‘Supplemental Plan™) for certain of its highly compensated employees.
Information about the Supplemental Plan is incorporated herein by reference from the Company’s proxy
statement for the Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10, 2004, under the caption
“Executive Compensation — Retirement Plans.” At December 31, 2003, 214,747 stock units were
credited to the accounts of participants under the Supplemental Plan.

Item 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Services

Transactions. . . o .
Information regarding principal accounting fees

Information regarding certain relationships and
related transactions with director nominees is incor-
porated by reference to the information set forth
under the captions “‘Compensation Committee In-
terlocks and Insider Participation” in the Com-
pany’s proxy statement for the Annual Meeting of
Stockholders to be held on May 10, 2004.

and service is incorporated by reference to the
information set forth under the captions “Fees to
Independent Auditors for Fiscal 2003 and 2002” in
the Company’s proxy statement for the Annual
Meeting of Stockholders to be held on May 10,
2004,




Item 15. Exhibits, Financial Statement Sched-
ules and Reports On Form 8-K.

(a) Financial Statements.
See Item 8.
(b) Financial Statement Schedules.

For the years ended December 31, 2003, and
2002 and the nine months ended December 31,
2001

IT — Allowance for Doubtful Accounts
(c) Reports on Form 8-K.

Trinity filed a Current Report on Form 8-K
dated October 9, 2003, reporting, under Item 5,
litigation settlement with ACF Barge Acceptance I,
LLC, and attaching a news release dated October 8§,
2003.

Trinity filed a Current Report on Form 8-K
dated November 7, 2003, reporting, under Item 9

PART IV

59

and Item 12, operating results for the third quarter
of 2003, and attaching a news release dated
November 5, 2003 and script of the conference call
of November 6, 2003.

Trinity filed a Current Report on Form 8-K
dated February 26, 2003, reporting, under Item 9
and Item 12, operating results for the fourth quarter
of 2003, and attaching a news release dated
February 25, 2003 and script of the conference call
dated February 26, 2003. In addition, Trinity
reported the announcement of an agreement with
The Burlington Northern and Santa Fe Railway
Company to build hopper cars, and attaching a
news release dated February 26, 2003.

(d) Exhibits.
See Index to Exhibits for a listing of Exhibits

which are filed herewith or incorporated herein by
reference to the location indicated.




EXHIBIT 23

CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

We consent to the incorporation by reference in Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 to the Registration
Statement (Form S-8, No. 2-64813), Post-Effective Amendment No. 1 to the Registration Statement
(Form S-8, No. 33-10937), Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 33-35514), Registration Statement
(Form S-8, No. 33-73026), Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-77735), Registration Statement
{(Form S-8, No. 333-91067), Registration Statement (Form S-3, No. 333-84618), Registration Statement
(Form S-8, No. 333-85588), Registration Statement (Form S-8, No. 333-85590), Registration Statement
(Form S-3, No. 333-96921), of Trinity Industries, Inc. and in the related Prospectuses of our reports dated
February 20, 2004 with respect to the consolidated financial statements and schedules of Trinity Industries,
Inc. included in this Annual Report (Form 10-K) for the year ended December 31, 2003.

ErRnST & Younc LLP

Dallas, Texas
February 26, 2004

60




REPORT OF INDEPENDENT AUDITORS

The Board of Directors and Stockholders
Trinity Industries, Inc.

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of Trinity Industries, Inc. as of December 31,
2003, and for the years ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and the nine months ended December 31, 2001
and have issued our report thereon dated February 20, 2004. Our audits also included the financial statement
schedules of Trinity Industries, Inc. listed in Item 14(a). These schedules are the responsibility of the
Company’s management. Qur responsibility is to express an opinion based on our audits.

In our opinion, the financial statement schedules referred to above, when considered in relation to the
basic financial statements taken as a whole, presents fairly in all material respects the information set forth
therein.

ERrRNST & Younc LLP
Dallas, Texas
February 20, 2004
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SCHEDULE II

Trinity Industries, Inc.

Allowance For Doubtful Accounts
Year Ended December 31, 2003 and 2002, and The Nine Months Ended December 31, 2001
(in millions)

Additions
Balance at Charged to Accounts Balance
Beginning Costs and Charged at End of

of Period Expenses Off Period
Year Ended December 31,2003 ........... ... ... ;3;8_3 g $1=9 __$L_7_
Year Ended December 31,2002 . ....... ... ... .. ... .... $9=_§ 3_9__8 $2=O 558____3
Nine Months Ended December 31, 2001 ................. $4.8 $10.1 $5.4 :JS__9_~§
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authorized.

TRINITY INDUSTRIES, INC.
Registrant

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, this report has been signed below

SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the requirements of Section 13 or 15(d) of the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, the
Company has duly caused this Annual Report to be signed on its behalf by the undersigned, thereunto duly

By/s/ Joun L. AbAMS

John L. Adams
Executive Vice President
February 27, 2004

by the following persons of the Company and in the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Directors:

/s/ DaviD W. BIEGLER

David W. Biegler
Director
February 27, 2004

/s/ CRralG J. DucHOSs0IS

Craig J. Duchossois
Director
February 27, 2004

/s/  RoONALD J. GAFFORD

Ronald J. Gafford
Director
February 27, 2004

/s/ BARRY J. GALT

Barry J. Galt
Director
February 27, 2004

/s/ CLIFFORD J. GRUM

Clifford J. Grum
Director
February 27, 2004

/s/ JeEss T. Hay

Jess T. Hay
Director
February 27, 2004

Directors (continued)

/s/ DiaNA NATALICIO

Diana Natalicio
Director
February 27, 2004

Principal Executive Officer:

/s/ TmMOTHY R. WALLACE

Timothy R. Wallace
Chairman, President,

Chief Executive Officer and Director
February 27, 2004

Principal Financial Officer:

/s/ I S, Ivy

Jim S. Ivy

Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer
February 27, 2004

Principal Accounting Officer

/s/ CHARLES MICHEL

Charles Michel
Vice President, Controller
February 27, 2004
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(4.2)
4.3)

(4.4)

@.5)

(4.6)

@7

(4.8)

(4.8.1)

(4.8.2)

(4.8.3)

(10.1)

(10.2)

(10.3.1)

Trinity Industries, Inc.

Index to Exhibits
(Item 14(a))

DESCRIPTION

Certificate of Incorporation of Trinity Industries, Inc., as amended. (Incorporated by reference to
Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002).

By-Laws of Trinity Industries, Inc. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 3.2 to our Form 10-K
filed March 20, 2002

Certificate of Incorporation of Trinity Industries, Inc., as amended (filed as Exhibit 3.1 above).
By-Laws of Trinity Industries, Inc. (filed as Exhibit 3.2 above).

Specimen Common Stock Certificate of Trinity Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 4.1 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999).

Rights Agreement dated March 11, 1999 (incorporated by reference to our Form 8-A filed
April 2, 1999).

Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement dated as of August 12, 2001, amending the Rights
Agreement dated as of March 11, 1999 by and between Trinity Industries, Inc. and the Bank of
New York, as Rights Agent (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2 to our Form 8-A/A filed
August 22, 2001).

Amendment No. 2 to the Rights Agreement dated as of October 26, 2001, amending the Rights
Agreement dated as of March 11, 1999 by and between Trinity Industries, Inc. and the Bank of
New York, as Rights Agent, as amended by Amendment No. 1 to the Rights Agreement, dated
August 13, 2001 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4 to our Form 8-A/A filed October 31,
2001).

Registration Rights Agreement dated as of October 26, 2001 by and between Trinity Industries,
Inc. and Thrall Car Management, Inc. (filed as an exhibit to Exhibit 10.19 below).

Pass Through Trust Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among Trinity Industries Leasing
Company, Trinity Industries, Inc. and Wilmington Trust Company, as Trustee. (Incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 4.1 to our Form 8-K filed February 19, 2002).

[A] Trust Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among Trinity
Industries Leasing Company, Trinity Industries, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.2 to our Form 8-K filed February 19, 2002).

[B} Trust Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among Trinity
Industries Leasing Company, Trinity Industries, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.3 to our Form 8-X filed February 19, 2002).

[C] Trust Indenture and Security Agreement dated as of February 15, 2002 among Trinity
Industries Leasing Company, Trinity Industries, Inc. and The Bank of New York, as Trustee.
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 4.4 to our Form 8-K filed February 19, 2002).

Fixed Charges Coverage Agreement dated as of January 15, 1980, between Trinity Industries,
Inc. and Trinity Industries Leasing Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 to
Registration Statement No. 2-70378 filed January 29, 1981).

Tax Allocation Agreement dated as of January 22, 1980 between Trinity Industries, Inc. and its
subsidiaries (including Trinity Industries Leasing Company) (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to Registration Statement No. 2-70378 filed January 29, 1981).

Form of Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement, dated November 7, 2000,
entered into between Trinity Industries, Inc. and Chief Executive Officer, each of the four most
highly paid executive officers other than the Chief Executive Officer who were serving as
executive officers at the end of the last completed fiscal year, one other executive officer, and
three executive officers of subsidiaries of Trinity Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31,
2000).*




NO.
(10.3.2)

(10.4)

(10.5)

(10.6)
(10.7)

(10.8.1)

(10.8.2)

(10.8.3)

(10.9)

(10.10

(10.11)

(10.11.1)
(10.11.2)
(10.12)

(10.12.1)

(10.12.2)

(10.13)

(10.14)

(10.15)

DESCRIPTION

Form of Amended and Restated Executive Severance Agreement dated November 7, 2000,
entered into between Trinity Industries, Inc. and six executive officers and certain other
subsidiary and divisional officers of Trinity Industries, Inc. (incorporated by reference to

Exhibit 10.1 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly period ended December 31,
2000).*

Trinity Industries, Inc., Stock Option Plan with Stock Appreciation Rights (incorporated by
reference to Registration Statement No. 2-64813 filed July 5, 1979, as amended by Post-Effective
Amendment No. 1 dated July 1, 1980, Post-Effective Amendment No. 2 dated August 31, 1984,
and Post-Effective Amendment No. 3 dated July 13, 1990).*

Directors” Retirement Plan adopted December 11, 1986, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated
September 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.5 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999).*

1989 Stock Option Plan with Stock Appreciation Rights (incorporated by reference to
Registration Statement No. 33-35514 filed June 20, 1990).*

1993 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to Registration Statement
No. 33-73026 filed December 15, 1993).*

Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan for Employees of Trinity Industries, Inc. and Certain Affiliates
as restated effective January 1, 2000 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8 to our Annual
Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2000).*

Amendment No. 1 dated March 8, 2001 to the Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan for Employees
of Trinity Industries, Inc. and Certain Affiliates (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.8.2 to
our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001).*

Amendment No. 2 effective January 1, 2002 to the Supplemental Profit Sharing Plan of Trinity
Industries, Inc. and Certain Affiliates (filed herewith).*

Supplemental Profit Sharing and Deferred Director Fee Trust dated March 31, 1999 (incorporated
by reference to Exhibit 10.10 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended
March 31, 1999).*

Supplemental Retirement Plan dated April 1, 1995, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated
September 14, 1995 and Amendment No. 2 dated May 6, 1997 (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.11 to our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999).*

Deferred Plan for Director Fees dated July 17, 1996, as amended by Amendment No. 1 dated
September 10, 1998 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12 to our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 1999).*

Amendment No. 2 to Deferred Plan for Director Fees, dated December 13, 2001 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11.1 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002).*

Amendment No. 3 to Deferred Plan for Director Fees, dated April 1, 2003 (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.11.2 of our Form 10-Q filed May 8, 2003).*

Trinity Industries, Inc. 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Registration Statement No. 333-77735 filed May 4, 1999).*

Amendment No. 1 to the Trinity Industries, Inc. 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan.*
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.12.1 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002)

Amendment No. 2 to the Trinity Industries, Inc. 1998 Stock Option and Incentive Plan
(incorporated by reference to 10.12.2 to our Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the quarterly
period ended June 30, 2001).*

Form of Deferred Compensation Plan and Agreement as amended and restated entered into
between Trinity Industries, Inc. and certain officers of Trinity Industries, Inc. or its subsidiaries.*
(Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.13 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002).

Trinity Industries, Inc. Short-Term Management Incentive Plan (incorporated by reference to
Exhibit A to our proxy statement dated June 19, 2000).*

Equipment Lease Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1A) dated as of May 17, 2001 between TRLI-1A
Railcar Statutory Trust, lessor, and Trinity Rail Leasing I L.P., lessee (incorporated by reference
to Exhibit 10.16 to our Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended March 31, 2001).
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(10.15.1)

(10.15.2)

(10.15.3)

(10.15.4)

(10.15.5)

(10.16)

(10.16.1)

(10.16.2)

(10.17)

(10.17.1)

(10.17.2)

(10.17.3)

(10.18)

(10.19)

2D
(23)
(31.1)
(31.2)

DESCRIPTION

Participation Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1A) dated as of May 17, 2001 among Trinity Rail
Leasing I L.P., lessee, et. al. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16.1 to our Form 10-K
filed March 20, 2002).

Equipment Lease Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1B) dated as of July 12, 2001 between TRL 1 2001-
1B Railcar Statutory Trust, lessor, and Trinity Rail Leasing I L.P., lessee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16.2 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002).

Participation Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1B) dated as of May 17, 2001 among Trinity Rail
Leasing I L.P., lessee, et. al. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16.3 to our Form 10-K
filed March 20, 2002).

Equipment Lease Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1C) dated as of December 28, 2001 between TRL 1
2001-1C Railcar Statutory Trust, lessor, and Trinity Rail Leasing 1 L.P., lessee (incorporated by
reference to Exhibit 10.16.4 to our Form 10-K filed March 20, 2002).

Participation Agreement (TRL 1 2001-1C) dated as of December 28, 2001 among Trinity Rail
Leasing I L.P., lessee, et. al. (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.16.5 to our Form 10-K
filed March 20, 2002)

Credit Agreement dated as of June 4, 2002, among Trinity Industries, Inc, as Borrower,
JPMorgan Chase Bank, individually as a Lender and Issuing Bank and as Administrative Agent,
and Dresdner Bank AG, New York and Grand Cayman Branches and The Royal Bank of
Scotland plc., each individually as a Lender and collectively as Syndication Agents, and certain
other Lenders party thereto from time to time. (Incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.1 of our
Form 10-Q filed August 12, 2002).

First Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated October 16, 2002, amending the Credit
Agreement dated June 4, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17.1 of our Form 10-Q
filed November 6, 2003).

Second Amendment to the Credit Agreement dated September 26, 2003, amending the Credit
Agreement dated June 4, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.17.2 of our Form 10-Q
filed November 6, 2003).

Warehouse Loan Agreement dated as of June 27, 2002 among Trinity Industries Leasing
Company, Trinity Rail Leasing Trust II, the Borrower, Credit Suisse First Boston, New York
Branch, as Agent, and the Lenders party thereto from time to time. (Incorporated by reference to
Exhibit 10.2 to our Form 10-Q filed August 12, 2002).

Amendment No. 1 to the Warehouse Loan Agreement dated as of June 27, 2003, amending the
Warehouse Loan Agreement dated June 27, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.1 of
our Form 10-Q filed November 6, 2003).

Amendment No. 2 to the Warehouse Loan Agreement dated as of July 29, 2003, amending the
Warehouse Loan Agreement dated June 27, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.18.2 of
our Form 10-Q filed November 6, 2003).

Amendment No. 3 to the Warehouse Loan Agreement dated as of August 29, 2003, amending
the Warehouse Loan Agreement dated June 27, 2002 (incorporated by reference to Ex-

hibit 10.18.3 of our Form 10-Q filed November 6, 2003).

Agreement and Plan of Merger dated as of August 13, 2001 by and among Trinity Industries,
Inc., TCMC Acquisition Corp., Thrall Car Manufacturing Company and Thrall Car Management
Company, Inc. together with the form of Stockholder’s Agreement and Registration Rights
Agreement attached thereto as exhibits (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 2.1 to our Form 8-K
dated August 15, 2001).

Non-qualified Stock Option Agreement dated October 26, 2001 between Michael E. Flannery and
the Company (incorporated by reference to Exhibit 10.20 to our Form 10-K for the fiscal year
2002).*

Listing of subsidiaries of Trinity Industries, Inc.

Consent of Independent Auditors. (Contained on page 60 of this document).

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Executive Officer

Rule 13a-14(a) Certification of Chief Financial Officer




NO. DESCRIPTION

(32.1) Certification of Chief Executive Officer pursuant to 18 U.X.C., Section 1350, as adopted pursuant
to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.
(32.2) Certification of Chief Financial Officer pursuant to 18 U.X.C., Section 1350, as adopted pursuant

to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002.

* Management contracts and compensatory plan arrangements.

NQTICE: A copy of Exhibits omitted from the reproduction will be furnished upon written request to Neil
Shoop, Treasurer, Trinity Industries, Inc., P.O. Box 568887, Dallas, Texas 75356-8887. We may impose a
reasonable fee for our expense in connection with providing the above-referenced Exhibits.




EXHIBIT 31.1

CERTIFICATION
I, Timothy R. Wallace, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer, certify that:
1. T have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e) for the
registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusion about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of and
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably
likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ TmMoTtHY R. WALLACE

Timothy R. Wallace
Chairman, President and
Chief Executive Officer

Date: February 27, 2004




EXHIBIT 31.2

CERTIFICATION

I, Jim S. Ivy, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this annual report on Form 10-K of Trinity Industries, Inc.;

2. Based on my knowledge, this annual report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact
or omit to state material fact necessary to make the statements made, in light of the circumstances under
which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this annual report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this
annual report, fairly present in all material respects the financial condition, results of operations and cash
flows of the registrant as of and for the periods presented in this annual report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining
disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15d-15(e)) for the
registrant and have:

(a) designed such disclosure controls and procedures, or caused such disclosure controls and
procedures to be designed under our supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the
registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us by others within those entities,
particularly during the period in which this annual report is being prepared;

(b) evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant’s disclosure controls and procedures and presented
in this report our conclusion about the effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of and
the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

(c) disclosed in this report any change in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting
that occurred during the registrant’s fourth fiscal quarter that has materially affected or is reasonably
likely to materially affect the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant’s other certifying officers and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of
internal control over financial reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and the audit committee of registrant’s
board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent function):

(a) all significant deficiencies and material weaknesses in the design or operation of internal control
over financial reporting which are reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant’s ability to record,
process, summarize and report financial information; and

(b) any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a
significant role in the registrant’s internal control over financial reporting.

/s/ Jov S, Ivy

Jim S. Ivy
Senior Vice President and
Chief Financial Officer

Date: February 27, 2004




EXHIBIT 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION 906 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”’) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report”), I, Timothy R. Wallace, Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer of the Company,
certify, pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of
2002, that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ TmMoTHY R. WALLACE

Timothy R. Wallace
Chairman, President and Chief Executive Officer

February 27, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request.




EXHIBIT 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO
18 U.S.C. SECTION 1350,
AS ADOPTED PURSUANT TO
SECTION %06 OF THE SARBANES-OXLEY ACT OF 2002

In connection with the Annual Report of Trinity Industries, Inc. (the “Company”’) on Form 10-K for the
period ended December 31, 2003 as filed with the Securities and Exchange Commission on the date hereof
(the “Report™), I, Jim S. Ivy, Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer of the Company, certify,
pursuant to 18 U.S.C. Section 1350, as adopted pursuant to Section 906 of the Sarbanes-Oxley Act of 2002,
that:

(1) The Report fully complies with the requirements of section 13(a) or 15(d) of the Securities
Exchange Act of 1934; and

(2) The information contained in the Report fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial
condition and result of operations of the Company.

/s/ Jim S. Ivy

Jim S. Ivy
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer

February 27, 2004

A signed original of this written statement required by Section 906 has been provided to the Company and
will be retained by the Company and furnished to the Securities and Exchange Commission or its staff upon
request




BOARD

David

N A i o
wlairman

Zsirella Zrevgy,

. Biegier

~

Craig |

Mlaial - b ivse T
\Jizef Zxecutive Ollicer

Zarry . Gat
Retired

n, President and
ecutive Officer
ne-gy Corporation

r° 2 -
wlarmean

O3 Enterorises, .

wadrman

KES Feunualion or

Z{i Tmer Daueation

Tae University on Texas at £l Paso

s S
) AN T
SIXXIHATE

Lnam‘mn Ples dcm and
Chiefl Zxccutive Officer

L. Adame
“xecutive Vice President

sentor Vice President and
-

Chiel Financial Officer

-
2E 0 LLOWET

Vice President
Shared Services

Vice *
HR/Tabor elations

. £~ N
Vm ’rcsidcm
Corporate Secretary

Ry

Vice President
3usiness Sevelopment

Vice President
Contreller

G. Treiz Rice
Vice President
rr

T Ty C

..... e

Vice ;’[L‘S‘L,U‘LL
Covernment Relations

Treasurer

Mariin Sraham
President
North American Rail

Trintty ndusiries ©ensing Company

Cresident
Zuropean R

Dresident
Highway Salety

President
Trinity indusirics de Viexico




R

ST < Trinity Industries, Inc.

2525 Stemmons Freeway
Dallas, Texas 75207-2401
PO. Box 568887
Dallas, Texas 75356-8887
214-631-4420

www.trin.net




